

MASTERARBEIT

Titel der Masterarbeit

"Development of human monoclonal antibodies against conserved antigens from *Streptococcus pneumoniae*"

Verfasser Lukas Stulik, BSc

angestrebter akademischer Grad

Master of Science (MSc)

Wien, 2011

Studienkennzahl It. Studienblatt:	A 066 863
Studienrichtung It. Studienblatt:	Masterstudium Biologische Chemie
Betreuerin / Betreuer:	O. UnivProf. Dr. Alexander von Gabain

"Science cannot solve the ultimate mystery of nature. And that is because, in the last analysis, we ourselves are part of nature and therefore part of the mystery that we are trying to solve."

Where Is Science Going?, Max Planck (1932)

My family and Barbara

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all who supported me during my Master's studies and in writing this thesis.

Foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Alexander von Gabain, for offering the possibility of performing my MSc thesis under his guidance and for his thoughtful advice which were essential for achieving the best of this work. Alex, thank you very much, for sharing a lot of your expertise and research insight with me.

I especially want to thank Carmen Giefing-Kröll for her co-supervision, her many great ideas and her preeminent impact on this thesis. Carmen, I want to thank you for sharing your sweeping ideas in the lab and in splendid discussions with me and for all the input you gave to my thesis and my future life in the field of immunobiology.

I would also like to thank all my great, current and past colleagues at Intercell. In particular I want to thank Barbara Maierhofer, Julia Flor, Michaela Weissgram, Kira Jelencsics, Martin Oleksiewicz, Birgit Noiges, Margarita Smidt, Christina Satke, Verena Salletmayer, Florian Bobet, Jan Sinzinger, Markus Hanner, Wolfgang Schüler, Ulrike Schirmer, Urban Lundberg, Sanja Selak, Zehra Visram, Andrea Fritzer, Petra Schlick, Zoltan Magyarics, Stefan Seidel, Oliver Stein, Michael Ehlers, Mario Aistleithner, Manuel Zerbs, Gabor Nagy, Andreas Meinke, Dieter Gelbmann, Christine Stone-Tate, Eszter Nagy and many more for making my "Intercell-adventure" so special.

I would also like to show my sincere gratitude to my dear friend Bibiana Meixner. Bibi, for years you support, encourage and chaperon me, thus you steadily exemplify the importance of things to me through your own life.

My special gratefulness to Marianne Raith shall be especially emphasized at this stage. Marianne, thank you very much for being such a great friend and mentor, whom I can certainly trust in all facets of life. I want to thank all of my friends who, from my childhood until University, have joined me in the discovery of "what life is about and how to make the best out of it". My particular thanks appertain to my fellow students Georg Michlits, Heike Gerhardt and Simon Müller – for me, studying with you was simply grand.

My heartfelt love belongs to you, Babsi, for your exhaustless and eternal love and affection! I cannot imagine a life without you, neither now nor then.

I certainly cannot finish without saying how grateful I am with my family: mum, dad, Thomas and Martin, you all have given me a loving environment where to develop. I also want to thank my grandmother, aunts and uncles, who always supported me to the best of their knowledge.

Particular thanks, of course, to the most important people in my life, my parents, Anneliese and Franz. Thank you very much for always supporting and encouraging me to give my best in all matters of life. It is you, whom I dedicate this thesis to.

Abstract

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a common human pathogen that causes a variety of lifethreatening invasive diseases such as pneumonia, bacteremia and meningitis. Despite the availability of licensed vaccines and antibiotic treatments, morbidity and mortality attributed to this bacterium remain significant in developing and developed countries. Due to increasing antibiotic resistance and limited efficacy of existing vaccines in at-risk populations, there is a need for new treatment strategies such as passive immunotherapy using human monoclonal antibiodies (mAbs).

In this study, three conserved antigens of *S. pneumoniae* – lipoteichoic acid (LTA), pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) and pneumolysin (PLY) – were characterized for their suitability as targets for a mAb-based anti-infective therapy.

Although isolation and purification procedures could be optimized for LTA from *Streptococcus pyogenes*, native LTA could not be extracted from *S. pneumoniae* in sufficient quantity and quality, thus limiting more in-depth studies of this antigen.

Recombinant full-length PspA and PLY as well as domains thereof were expressed, purified and subsequently proven to be highly immunogenic in naïve C3H/HeN mice. These antisera were characterized in-depth *in vitro*: in surface staining and in ELISA, antibodies were shown to recognize PspA in a clade-specific manner. Polyclonal antibodies against Family 1 PspA also reacted with other Proline-rich cell-surface proteins – presumably PspC – but not with Family 2 PspA.

Consequently these antisera were tested *in vivo* by passive transfer and subsequent lethal challenge with different *S. pneumoniae* strains in mice. The results correlated with surface staining data: anti-PspA hyperimmune sera were only effective against pneumococci expressing homologous PspA but not against those with a heterologous variant. Anti-PLY sera were not fully protective although conferring prolonged survival. Interestingly the observed protection correlated with the level of inflammatory IL-6, induced in mice.

Two *in vitro* assays exploiting the function of PLY were set up to allow a detailed characterization of selected antibodies: a *Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay* and an *hTLR4-Reporter Assay*. PLY-specific murine polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies reduced the hemolytic activity of PLY on erythrocytes and interfered with the activation of TLR4 through PLY.

Since human mAbs against PLY will be generated from B-cells based on the *"Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display"* technology, healthy human donors were identified based on their antibody titers in ELISA. In addition PMBC staining conditions that are required for the selection of antigen-specific memory B cells were optimized.

In conclusion, a deeper insight into the mode of action of PspA- and PLY-specific antibodies could be gained with this work and analytical methods that are required for the selection and validation of human mAbs were developed. This way a basis for the development of a mAb-based therapy for the prevention and treatment of life-threatening pneumococcal diseases was established.

Keywords: Streptococcus pneumoniae, monoclonal antibodies, LTA, PLY, PspA

Kurzfassung

Streptococcus pneumoniae ist ein weitverbreiteter Erreger verschiedenster lebensbedrohlicher Krankheiten wie Pneumonien, Bakteriämien oder Meningitis. Obgleich lizensierte Impfstoffe und Antibiotika zur Verfügung stehen, bleibt die Morbidität und Mortalität, nicht nur in Entwicklungsländern, sondern auch in Industrieländern auf einem hohen Niveau. Aufgrund zunehmender Antibiotikaresistenzen und der suboptimalen Wirksamkeit verfügbarer Impfstoffe in Risikogruppen, steigt der Bedarf für neue Therapien, wie beispielsweise einer passiven Immunisierung mit monoklonalen Antikörpern.

In dieser Arbeit wurden drei konservierte Antigene von *S. pneumoniae* – Lipoteichonsäure (LTA), pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) und Pneumolysin (PLY) – auf ihre Eignung als Zielmoleküle für die Entwicklung einer anti-infektiösen Antikörper-Therapie hin untersucht.

Obwohl die Isolierung und Reinigung nativer LTA für den Erreger *Streptococcus pyogenes* erfolgreich optimiert wurde, konnte LTA nicht in ausreichender Menge und Reinheit aus *S. pneumoniae* gewonnen und somit keine weiterführenden Studien mit diesem Antigen durchgeführt werden.

Verschiedenste Konstrukte von PspA und PLY wurden rekombinant exprimiert, gereinigt und nachfolgend deren immunogene Wirkung in naïven C3H/HeN Mäusen demonstriert. Die gewonnenen Antiseren wurden in Folge genauestens *in vitro* analysiert. Oberflächenfärbungen lebender Pneumokokken zeigten, dass PspA spezifische Antikörper nicht alle PspA-Varianten detektieren konnten, sondern nur solche des selben PspA-Typs. Polyklonale Antikörper gegen Typ 1 PspA reagierten auch mit anderen Prolin-reichen Oberflächenproteinen, vermutlich PspC, jedoch nicht mit PspA Typ 2.

Des weiteren wurden die generierten Antiseren in zuvor etablierten Mausmodellen durch passiven Transfer und nachfolgeneder letaler Infektion mit verschiedenen *S. pneumoniae* Stämmen auf ihre Wirksamkeit getestet. Die Ergebnisse korrelierten mit den Daten der Oberflächenfärbung: Anti-PspA Hyperimmunseren induzierten eine Protektion gegen Pneumokokken mit homologen jedoch nicht heterologen PspA. Anti-PLY Seren hingegen konnten keine vollständig protektive Wirkung erzielen, bewirkten jedoch eine erhöhte Überlebensrate. Die beobachtete Protektion korrelierte mit der Stärke der durch die Infektion induzierte inflammatorischen IL-6 Reaktion in den Tieren. Im Hinblick auf die Wirkungsweise von PLY wurden zwei *in vitro* Analysen zur Antikörper-Charakterisierung entwickelt: ein Hämolyse-Inhibitions Assay und ein hTLR4-Reporter Assay. Pneumolysin spezifische murine poly- und monoklonale Antikörper bewirkten eine Reduktion der hämolytischen Aktivität von PLY auf Erythrozyten und interferierten auch mit der Aktivierung von TLR4 durch PLY.

Humane monoklonale Antikörper sollen in weiterer Folge aus humanen B-Zellen basierend auf der *"Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display"* Technologie generiert werden. Zu diesem Zweck wurden gesunde Spender aufgrund ihres Antigen-spezifischen Titers im ELISA identifiziert. Zudem wurden die für die B-Zell-Selektion notwendigen PBMC-Färbetechniken optimiert.

Zusammenfassend demonstriert diese Arbeit einen vertiefenden Einblick in die Wirkungsweise von PspA und PLY-spezifischen Antikörpern sowie die Entwicklung von für die Selektion und Validierung humaner monoklonaler Antikörper notwendigen Analyseverfahren. Somit konnte die Grundlage für eine Antikörper-basierende Therapie zur Prävention und Behandlung von lebensbedrohlichen Pneumokokkeninfektionen geschaffen werden.

Schlagwörter: Steptococcus pneumoniae, monoklonale Antikörper, LTA, PLY, PspA

Table of Contents

A - Int	troduction	10
1	Streptococcus pneumoniae	10
	1.1 The Morphology of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	10
	1.2 The Pathophysiology of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	11
	1.3 Pneumococcal Infection and the Host Response in Human	13
2	Prevention and Treatment of S. pneumoniae Infections	15
	2.1 State of the Art Vaccines Against Pneumococcal Infections	
	2.2 The History of the Prevention of Pneumococcal Infections	16
3	Potential Pneumococcal Antigen Targets for a mAb-Based Therapy	18
	3.1 Protein Virulence Factors and Cell-Surface Proteins of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	18
	3.2 Lipoteichoic acid (LTA)	19
	3.3 Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA, SP0117)	
	3.4 Pneumolysin (PLY, SP1923)	27
4	Monoclonal Antibodies – The Golden Bullet For Fighting Infectious Diseases	s? 30
	4.1 Technologies for the Generation of mAbs	30
	4.2 The Potential of Antibody-Based Therapies	
B - Ai	ms of the Study	35
C - Ma	aterials and Methods	36
1	Bacteria	
2	Eukaryotic Cell Lines	
3	3 Isolation and Purification of Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells and Re	
	Blood Cells	37
4	Generation of Recombinant Antigens	38
	4.1 General DNA- and Protein- Methods	
	4.2 Generation of Bacterial Expression Hosts for Protein Expression	39
	4.3 Small-Scale Expression Analysis	40
	4.4 Large-Scale Expression and Purification of Recombinant Proteins	40
	4.5 Coupling of Antigens to FluoSpheres [®]	42

	5	Isolation, Purification and Quantification of LTA	42
		5.1 Small-Scale Optimization using LTA from S. pyogenes	
		5.2 Purification of LTA from <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	43
	6	Animal Studies	
		6.1 Animal Guidelines – Tierversuchsantrag	46
		6.2 Generation of Hyperimmune Sera in <i>M. musculus</i>	46
		6.3 Dose Finding Studies for Lethal Infection of M. musculus with Pneu	mococcal
		Strains	
		6.4 In vivo Efficacy Testing of Polyclonal Antibodies	47
	7	In vitro Assays	
		7.1 Western Blot Analysis	47
		7.2 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbant Assay (ELISA)	
		7.3 Surface Staining of Live Pneumococci	
		7.4 Surface Staining of Eukaryotic Cells	
		7.5 Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay	50
		7.6 TLR4-Reporter Assay	51
D -	Res	sults	52
	1	Generation of Recombinant Proteins	52
		1.1 Sequence Information and Designing of the Recombinant Constructs	52
		1.2 Cloning and Protein Expression	
	2	Generation and Screening of Mouse Hyperimmune Sera	
	3	The <i>in vivo</i> Virulence of Pneumococci in Mouse <i>via</i> Different Application R	Coutes 59
	4	Antigen Specific Assays and Experiments	61
		4.1 Lipoteichoic acid (LTA)	61
		4.2 Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA, SP0117)	66
		4.3 Pneumolysin (PLY, SP1923)	72
	5	Titer–Screenings of Sera from Healthy Human Donors	
E -	Dis	scussion and Conclusion	91
F -	Bib	oliography	

G - Ind	lex of Figures and Tables131		
1	Table of Figures		
2	List of Tables		
3	Table of Supplementary Figures		
4	List of Supplementary Tables 135		
Н - Ар	pendicesA-1		
A	-1 Table of AbbreviationsA-1		
A	-2 Primer SequencesA-4		
A	A-3 Protein Sequence Alignments of PspA from Several Pneumococcal Strains A-4		
A	-4 Serum-Screenings of Human Blood DonorsA-6		
A	-5 Titer-Screenings of Mouse Hyperimmune SeraA-13		
A	-6 In vivo Virulence of Different S. pneumoniae Strains		
A	-7 Summarized Data of the <i>in vivo</i> Efficacy Testing of Polyclonal Antibodies A-15		
A	-8 Data Read-outs of the IL-6 ELISA		

A - INTRODUCTION

1 STREPTOCOCCUS PNEUMONIAE

1.1 The Morphology of S. pneumoniae

After its first isolation, identification and cultivation from human saliva, by G.M. Sternberg and L. Pasteur in 1880, *S. pneumoniae* was identified as one of the most prominent causes of bacterial-induced deaths worldwide to date. ^[1-3]

S. pneumoniae, which is also called "pneumococcus", is a Gram-positive, catalase-negative, round to lancet-shaped coccus with a diameter of $0.5 - 1.25 \mu m$. Pneumococci mostly appear in pairs (diplococci, growing in chains, Figure 1-A), are not forming spores, are non-motile and are encapsulated by a polysaccharide capsule. ^[1, 4-5]

S. pneumoniae can be cultivated on blood-agar plates under aerobic atmosphere supplemented with CO₂, forming glistening colonies with approximately 1 mm in diameter. Alpha hemolysis – the breakdown of hemoglobin by pneumolysin (PLY) – of the blood leads to a transparent halo surrounding of the growing colonies (Figure 1-B). ^[1, 4-5]



Figure 1: The Morphology of S. pneumoniae. *A. Scanning electron microscopy image of dividing cells.*^[6] *B. Colonies growing on blood agar.*^[4]

As pneumococci produce autolysin (*LytA*, an amidase cleaving N-acetylmuramoyl-*L*-alanine in pneumococcal peptidoglycan ^[7]) the cells are disrupted and disintegrated causing killing of the entire culture when grown to stationary phase. The lysis due to autolysin also causes observable morphological changes of the colonies from initially plateau-type morphology to a collapse in the center after initiation of autolysis. ^[4, 8-9]

With the exception of some isolates associated with conjunctivitis, most clinical isolates of *S. pneumoniae* are encapsulated by an approximately 200 to 400 nm thick polysaccharide capsule. The capsular polysaccharides give rise to more than 91 known pneumococcal serotypes: these major determinants of the pathogenicity of this microorganism inhibit complement deposition and also interfere with the detection of surface antigens through

antibodies and therefore protect pneumococci from opsonophagocytosis.^[4, 10] Serotypes without a capsule are non-virulent and thus only colonize the nasopharynx but cannot transit efficiently from the luminal mucus to the epithelial surface. ^[4, 10] Each serotype typically includes a number of genetically divergent clones with different invasive disease potential. ^[11-13] Pneumococci can change their capsular thickness spontaneously, this *phase-variation* leads to a capsular switch from opaque (designed for survival in blood) to transparent (suited for colonization of the nasopharynx) colonies. ^[4, 14-16]

Clinical studies showed that *S. pneumoniae*, as a naturally competent organism, can uptake foreign DNA – *via* bacterial intra- and inter-species gene transfer and phage transduction – and incorporate homologous sequences by transformation. This allows pneumococci to switch to serotypically distinct capsular types *in vitro* and *in vivo*, or leads to resistance against antibiotics. [7-8, 13]

1.2 The Pathophysiology of S. pneumoniae

Subsequent to the discovery in the late 19th century, *S. pneumoniae* was identified as causative agent of life-threatening invasive and non-invasive diseases in children (Figure 2) and elderly, in developing and developed countries. ^[1, 3-4]



Figure 2: Pneumococcal Deaths in Children. The number of pneumococcal deaths per 100,000 children is depicted for children younger than 5 years (HIV-negative pneumococcal deaths only) published by the WHO. (modified from ^[17])

A - INTRODUCTION

Pneumococci *inter alia* induce conjunctivitis, community-acquired pneumonia (CAP), bacterial meningitis, bacteremia, otitis media, sinusitis, septic arthritis, osteomyelitis, peritonitis, tracheobronchitis, bronchitis, cellulitis, pericarditis, endocarditis and myositis. ^[3-4, 18] Bronchial pneumonia, involving the alveoli contiguous to the larger bronchioles of the bronchial tree, is most prevalent in infants, young children and aged adults whereas lobar pneumonia, involving all of a single lobe of the lungs – the entire area involved tends to become a consolidated mass – is most prevalent in younger adults. ^[4, 19]

S. pneumoniae is spread from person-to-person by direct contact and can be carried without symptoms for weeks to months before it is cleared. The mucosal and systemic immunoglobulin response is mainly directed against the serotype-specific capsular polysaccharides but also against major cell-surface proteins such as pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA), which is discussed in more detail in the following chapters. ^[7, 20-22]

As a typical extracellular bacterial pathogen, *S. pneumoniae* has to encounter mucus secretion minutes after entering the nasal cavity (exemplified in Figure 3 showing the progress of an infection from 30 minutes to 14 days post infection in mice ^[7]), adhere to host cells, replicate and escape clearance and/or phagocytosis . This is followed by manifesting infection *via* direct extension – in the upper and/or lower respiratory tract – lymphatic or hematogeneous spread – in the blood, peritoneum, cerebrospinal fluid, or joint fluid. Hereby the capsule enhances pneumococcal persistence by limiting mucus-mediated clearance. ^[4, 7, 10]



Figure 3: Nasal Colonization by S. pneumoniae. The bacteria (in red) are detected using serotype-specific antisera and the animal tissue (blue) is stained using DAPI. *a*, 30 minutes, *b*, 1 day, *c*, 3 days and *d*, 14 days post infection . ^[7]

1.3 Pneumococcal Infection and the Host Response in Human

Compared to any other vaccine-preventable disease the infection with *S. pneumoniae* and the diseases associated with it, belong to the most frequent causes of death worldwide. ^[4, 7, 23-24] The more than 1.5 million deaths *per annum* occur mainly in the elderly and the very young, where the frequency of each serotype as well as the increasing antibiotic resistance varies from country to country. ^[4, 7, 23-24] This is exemplified in Figure 4, representing the most-recent situation in Austria in 2009. Interestingly, some serotypes are more prevalent in bacteremia whereas others are more associated with meningitis. ^[25]



Figure 4: Statistical Surveillance of S. pneumoniae. 303 invasive pneumococcal diseases were reported in Austria (2009) with a strong similarity of the age-related serotype distribution to the international picture (A). Highest numbers of invasive-diseases referred to at-risk populations, namely children and elderly (B). The numbers of disease-associated serotypes were depicted as: 28 serotypes in 80 isolates from sepsis-cases (C), 14 serotypes in 32 isolates from meningitis-cases (D) and 32 serotypes in 110 isolates from cases of pneumonia/bacteremia (E). (modified from ^[25])

S. pneumoniae invasion of the nasopharyngeal lumen is followed by the influx of neutrophils one to three days later as host immune-response to the infection. ^[7, 26-27]

The innate immune response is based on the recognition of highly conserved pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) of *S. pneumoniae* by Pathogen Recognition Receptors (PRRs) such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs). ^[22, 28] This interaction induces cellular (*i.e.* dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils and monocytes) and humoral immune responses (complement cascades, chemokines, cytokines, C-reactive protein (CRP), *etc.*). ^[22, 28] Pneumococci are *inter alia* recognized by TLR2 (*e.g.* lipoteichoic acid (LTA) and peptidoglycan ^[29-36]), TLR4 (*e.g.* PLY ^[37-56]), TLR9 (endosomal, unmethylated CpG ^[57-59]) and by the activation of predominantly the classical (CRP bound to phosphorylcholine activates C1q) but also the alternative complement cascade ^[7, 60-62].

Whilst the innate immune response gives rise to an unspecific repertoire of host mechanisms recognizing and fighting certain classes of pathogens, the adaptive immunity represents a very specified and effective defensive-system in eukaryotes. ^[22, 28] The time-delayed adaptive immune response is typically activated by innate immune mediators such as chemokines and cytokines, four to seven days post infection and induces immunologic memory. ^[22, 28] This level of host-defense is mainly based on the functionality of specific antibodies, recognizing bacterial surface antigens, thus activating the classical (IgM and IgG) or the alternative (IgA) pathway of complement activation. ^[22, 28] Phagocytosis – after opsonization with serotype-specific antibodies and complement component C3b – leads to a host-mediated killing of pneumococci. In addition to humoral immunity, CD4⁺ T-cells secreting interleukin-17 (IL-17) are reported of being necessary for efficient pathogen clearance. ^[7, 27, 63-66] The IgA1 protease activity of *S. pneumoniae* diminishes the clearance by antibody until sufficient amounts of other (sub-)classes of specific antibodies have been generated or high levels of IgG are present. ^[67,70]

S. pneumoniae is resistant to innate immune responses stimulated by itself which leads to clearance of other microbial species in the same niche. ^[71] For example the pneumococcal capsule reduces the complement deposition of iC3b on the bacterial surface and thus inhibits clearance of the pathogen by the host's defense. ^[7, 72-74]

2 PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF S. PNEUMONIAE INFECTIONS

2.1 State of the Art Vaccines Against Pneumococcal Infections

Worldwide, several pneumococcal vaccines are in different stages of development, and three capsular polysaccharide (CPS) vaccines have already been in use in the last years: *(i)* 23-valent purified CPS vaccine (Pneumovax®, Merck ^[75]), *(ii)* 13-valent CPS vaccine conjugated to diphteria CRM₁₉₇ protein (Prevnar®, Wyeth/Pfizer ^[76]) and *(iii)* 10-valent CPS vaccine conjugated to protein D from *H. influenzae* (SynflorixTM, GSK ^[77]).

CPS-based vaccines have a lower immunogenicity and require repeated immunizations, since polysaccharides do not induce T-cell mediated immunological memory, making them

unsuitable for use in young children and toddlers. The protein conjugated-polysaccharide vaccines induce enhanced immune response and memory, however just provide protection against a limited number of pneumococcal serotypes contained in the respective preparation. Therefore, these vaccines carry an inherent risk of replacement with evading serotypes, which are not included in the vaccines, or resistance due to serotype switching. ^[13, 78-82]

There is a new generation of pneumococcal vaccines, based on non-polysaccharide antigens, hence common proteins such as pneumococcal surface adhesin A (PsaA, SP1650), pneumolysin (PLY, SP1923), pneumococcal surface protein A and C (PspA, SP0117 and PspC, SP2190) under development, which have an improved efficacy regarding the aforementioned drawbacks of existing vaccines. ^[13, 81-86] Currently, a recombinant-protein-based vaccine, containing PsaA, secreted 45 kD protein (PcsB or Usp45, SP2216) and serine/threonine protein kinase (StkP, SP1732), which are very well conserved in all pneumococcal serotypes, are immunogenic during pneumococcal infections and induce opsonophagocytic antibodies, is under development in Intercell's IC47-program. ^[87-88]

2.2 The History of the Prevention of Pneumococcal Infections

Long before vaccination against the pneumococcus was established, the concomitant diseases associated with pneumococcal infections were attempted to be cured by bleeding, hydro- or oxygen-therapy or mechanical ventilation as well as administration of digitalis, morphine, quinine, strychnine or even alcohol. ^[1, 89-90]

It was the German brothers Felix and Georg Klemperer who in 1891 achieved the first breakthrough by immunizing rabbits intraveneously (*i.v.*) with heat killed pneumococcal isolates. Passive transfer of these hyperimmune sera was shown to be protective against infection, which made their work instrumental for the definition of the humoral immune response, as it is known today. ^[1, 91]

About 20 years after this discovery, vaccination with heat killed pneumococci was tested in clinical trials in African miners, where the finding of the existence of the different diseasecausing serotypes indicated a serotype specific protection. This subsequently led to the administration of a trivalent vaccine during World War I and serum therapy as treatment against pneumonia (Figure 5). ^[1, 92-94]



Figure 5: Advertisement for a Pneumococcal Serum Therapy in 1933. This antiserum was manufactured by the Lederle Laboratories, Inc. against S. pneumoniae induced type I pneumonia and was comparably expensive at that time. (modified from ^[94])

As these therapeutics were mostly based on hyperimmune sera from horse or rabbit, severe side-effects such as hypersensitivity or serum sickness arose. This and the advent of chemotherapeutics (*e.g.* sulphonamides and penicillin), which were considered as the ultimate therapy at this time, lead to the abolishment of serum-based therapies, until an emergence of penicillin- and multidrug-resistant pneumococci was realized in the 1970s. ^[1]

Today, a worldwide trend of increasing penicillin-resistance (*e.g.* 14.3 % in North America^[95], 16.7 % in Greece^[96], more than 25 % in Burkina Faso^[97] and 47 % in Northern African countries^[98]) and multidrug-resistance (*e.g.* 30.1 % in North African countries^[98]) or approximately 33 % in Malawi^[99]) is observed in *S. pneumoniae* isolates. In Austria (most recent data from 2009) this trend in antibacterial resistance was shown for 268 isolates to be as following: erythromycin/clarithromycin (15.30 %), penicillin (7.84 %), chloramphenicol (2.24 %) and tetracycline (1.12 %). ^[25]

Therefore, next to putting huge efforts in the discovery of novel antibiotics, the development of vaccines, based on *e.g.* pneumococcal-polysaccharides or conserved antigens

A - INTRODUCTION

was revived. ^[88, 100-101] Also, the recent focus on new therapeutic approaches based on fully human (monoclonal) antibodies promise alternative treatment options of pneumococcal infections in the future. ^[102-107]

3 POTENTIAL PNEUMOCOCCAL ANTIGEN TARGETS FOR A mAb-BASED THERAPY

3.1 Protein Virulence Factors and Cell-Surface Proteins of S. pneumoniae

Many different pneumococcal cell surface components have been described and some of the most promising vaccine candidates among these are illustrated in Figure 6. Virulence factors, such as PLY, and cell-surface proteins, like choline-binding proteins, PspA, PspC, and LytA, but also the cell wall constituents wall teichoic acid (WTA) and LTA, are common to all serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*. ^[7, 24]



Figure 6: Important Pneumococcal Virulence Factors. The virulence of *S. pneumoniae is diversified due to virulence factors such as the capsule, the cell wall, choline-binding proteins, metal-binding proteins, surface proteins, LPXTG-anchored proteins and PLY.*^[7]

It was shown that immunization with PiaA and PiuA (both divalent pneumococcal metalion-binding lipoproteins) protected against invasive disease in mice ^[7]. LPXTG-anchored proteins such as neuraminidases are also present in *S. pneumoniae*. Naturally developed antibodies to PsaA are protective against colonization in mice, whereas the antibodies against PspA can reduce bacteremia and pneumonia. ^[7, 24]

3.2 Lipoteichoic acid (LTA)

3.2.1 Structural Features of LTA

The core of the pneumococcal cell wall consists of the murein (peptidoglycan) – a network of peptide-cross-linked glycan strands.^[108] In many Gram-positive bacteria, teichoic acids - WTA and LTA in *S. pneumoniae* - are linked to and extend through these peptidoglycan layers, which *inter alia* allows the protein trafficking in pneumococci. ^[63, 108-109]

The first description of teichoic acid (C-polysaccharide; re-named to WTA after the identification of the presence of ribitol phosphate and sugars ^[110-113]) and LTA (F-antigen) lead to the differentiation based on their lipophilic character, hence their Forssmann antigenicity. ^[63, 108, 114-118]

Both, WTA and LTA, are common antigens in different pneumococcal serotypes (compared to capsular polysaccharides) and are expressed in similar amounts as murein in the cell wall, where approximately 90 % thereof are covalently linked to murein as WTA and approximately 10 % are anchored *via* lipid anchors as LTA to the glycolipids of the cytoplasmic membrane (Figure 7). ^[63, 108, 119-120]



Figure 7: Schematic Drawing of the Gram-Positive Cell Wall Depicting WTA and LTA [120]

The identical and highly complex chemical composition of the repeating units of WTA and LTA (Figure 8) as well as their decoration with choline, makes the pneumococcal teichoic acids unique compared to other species. Both were already chemically synthesized as smaller subunits as well as full-length structures, which will allow even more diversified possibilities for investigation *e.g.* in the course of vaccine development. ^[63, 112, 121-132]



Figure 8: The Structural Model for Pneumococcal LTA. The currently accepted model of pneumococcal LTA is depicted. At present more models, revising and confirming ascertained structural features, are suggested. ^[127]

The choline-decoration (phosphorylcholine, *P*Cho) of WTA and LTA acts as an anchor for choline-binding proteins such as murein hydrolases (LytA, LytB and LytC), phosphorylcholine esterase (Pce), PspA and PspC, serves as a host-binding factor for *e.g.* CRP, myeloma proteins, the receptor of the platelet-activating factor (PAF) and is reported to act as a receptor for bacteriophages. ^[63, 128, 133-140]

Compared to other pneumococcal and bacterial adhesins, that specifically bind to host cells, LTA is reported of allowing the adhesion and invasion of *S. pneumoniae* and other Grampositive bacteria with lower cell-type specificity. ^[63, 140-147]

3.2.2 The Diverse Roles of LTA

LTA is essential in Gram-positive bacteria, by shaping the physicochemical surface properties, for controlling the autolysin activity and biofilm formation and for positioning the cell division machinery. Further, LTA is a receptor for phages, induces the susceptibility and/or resistance to antimicrobial peptides and killing in *e.g.* neutrophil extracellular traps, plays a role in the maintenance of cation homeostasis (*e.g.* storage of magnesium) and serves as an attachment site for bacterial surface proteins. ^[119, 148-150]



Figure 9: The Several Roles of WTA and LTA in Gram-Positive Bacteria [150]

The *P*Cho moiety on LTA of *S. pneumoniae* is also present on several other respiratory pathogens (*e.g. Neisseria spp., Haemophilus influenzae, Pseudomonas spp., Streptococcus agalactiae, Streptococcus pyogenes*) and shares structural similarity to PAF, targeted in acute phases of inflammation by CRP and also activates the PAF-receptor, inducing inflammation and the release of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α). ^[36, 63, 134, 138, 151-157]

Pneumococcal cell wall components, and LTA activate the alternative pathway of complement activation upon binding to erythrocytes, hence recruit leukocytes and are also involved in the adherence of pneumococci during the host-pathogen interaction of the *P*Cho and the PAF receptor on endothelial cells. LTA is further involved in the binding of classical C-type lectins such as mannose binding lectin and L-ficolin, inducing the lectin pathway of complement activation. ^[63, 138, 150, 158-163]

Pneumococcal LTA was shown to act as a synergistic PAMP in the course of host innate immune responses. Thus it is recognized *via* TLR2 and CD14 – which is amplified by endogenous TLR4 ligands – leading to: (*i*) loss of transepithelial resistance, (*ii*) activation of nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B-cells (NF- κ B), (*iii*) activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK), and (*iv*) signaling of transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). ^[29-31, 33-36, 63] Recently pneumococcal LTA was reported to lead to a TLR2-dependent but TLR4-independent aggregation of platelets *via* activation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Ras-proximate-1 (PI3K/RAP1) pathway and induction of glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (GPIIb/IIIa), leading to thrombocytopenia in sepsis-patients. ^[164]

Also LTA from other Gram-positive bacteria induces opsonization through specific antibodies and plays a role in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II presentation of zwitter-ionic glycopolymers and the activation of CD4⁺ T-cells, leading to IL-10 expression. ^[29, 31, 63, 150, 165-170]



Figure 10: The Interactions of WTA and LTA with the Eukaryotic Host ^[150]

3.2.3 The Potential of Anti-LTA-Antibodies

In *S. pneumoniae*, LTA is a species common antigen, present in all strains, independent of the serotype, and shows multiple biological functions as elucidated in the previous sections.

Therefore, antibodies against LTA would not only have opsonizing activity but also induce neutralizing effects by *e.g.* interfering with the TLR2 induced inflammation. LTA-specific antibodies were shown to protect against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Enterococcus faecalis* but were detrimental in *Staphylococcus epidermidis* infections. ^[63, 171-172] Commercial intraveneous immunoglobulin containing anti-carbohydrate IgG antibodies (*Sandoglobulin®, Privigen®*, CSL Behring and *Gamunex®*, Talecris), was also reported to recognize pneumococcal LTA. ^[173]

3.3 Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA, SP0117)

3.3.1 Basic Structural Features of PspA

Pneumococcal surface protein (PspA, SP0117) is an approximately 67-99 kDa highly immunogenic cell-surface protein of *S. pneumoniae*. This mosaic-gene encoded protein is highly variable but present on all pneumococcal strains characterized today, which makes it highly valuable as a potential vaccine antigen with broad effectiveness. ^[174-178]

The protein was originally defined by its recognition of different epitopes of PspA by protective mouse mAbs. ^[179-180] PspA is non-covalently anchored to choline moieties of teichoic acids in the bacterial cell wall, *via* a highly conserved, C-terminal choline binding region (CBR) of ten 20-amino-acid repeats, which is similar in *e.g.* pneumococcal LytA and PspC. ^[174-175, 177, 180-186] The CBR is followed by a slightly hydrophobic sequence of 17 amino-acids, ten 20-amino-acid repeats, a flexible proline-rich (PR) domain which may span the cell wall, and the N-terminal half, consisting of a signal peptide, and a highly charged, α -helical, anti-parallel, coiled-coil domain, which forms a heptad motif, and protrudes outside the capsule. ^[136-137, 176, 179, 183-184, 187-192]



Figure 11: Protein Structure of PspA. The signal peptide (SP) and the N-terminal coiled-coil region are separated from the C-terminal choline-binding domain by a Pro-rich region. (modified from [185, 193])

Due to an accumulation of mutations, the N-terminal half is variable in different strains, but is eliciting protection by its epitopes. For example, the full-length protein as well as the N-terminal half, the C-terminal 104 and the N-terminal 115 amino-acid repeats of the α -helical region were shown to induce protective immunity. ^[136, 176, 183-184, 190, 194-199]

The PR-region, consisting of irregular repeats of Pro-residues every two to three amino acids, gives rise to sequence motifs such as PAPAP (interrupted by PKP) and PEKP, and is characteristic for PspA as well as for PspC (being structurally similar to PspA). This region is interrupted (in 56 % of all PspAs) by a highly conserved non-proline block (NPB) of 33 nonproline-amino acids in about 90 % of pneumococci, where the proline-repeats impact the crossreactivity of anti-PspA antibodies.^[136, 176, 193, 200-203] It was shown that the PR-region of the pneumococcal strain TIGR4 (serotype 4, Clade 3) is recognized by human antibodies which was confirmed by antibody-mediated protection against infection in mice.^[24, 202, 204] Therefore, the unmasked PR and NPB epitopes are on the pneumococcal surface, accessible for mAbs, which were shown to be protective in mouse-challenge models ^[186, 202]

3.3.2 The Families and Clades of PspA

The clade-defining region (or B region), which is known to have cross-protective epitopes, is approximately located between amino acid 192 and 270 (based on the TIGR4 sequence), upstream of the PR-region. It was mapped by epitopes of protective mAbs and led to the identification of six clades (monophyletic groups differing in >20 % of their amino-acid sequences), which are further subdivided according to DNA- and protein sequence-similarity into three families: Family 1 consists of Clades 1 and 2, Family 2 of Clades 3 to 5 and Family 3 is equivalent to Clade 6 (Figure 12) ^[176, 183, 205]. It is noteworthy that more than 98 % of PspA-types found so far belong to Family 1 and 2. ^[176, 183] Epidemiologic studies - showing the variability of the PspA-family coverage in isolates - emphasize the importance of monitoring population-based data during the development of vaccines and therapeutic approaches. ^[206-212]



Figure 12: The Families and Clades of PspA. This cladogram was generated by mapping epitopes recognized by protective mAbs, thus identifying six clades which were further subdivided into three families. ^[176]

3.3.3 The Functional Role of PspA

Pneumococci require iron for growth and proliferation which they are capable of acquiring *via* PspA through binding to human lactoferrin (hLF) – an iron-sequestering glycoprotein in mucosal secretions, phagocytic cells, and serum during inflammation. Strains expressing PspA specifically bind to hLF *via* the C-terminal half of the α -helical domain. This leads to interference with host immune functions and to an increased acquisition of iron, whereas mutants lacking PspA were shown to be unable to bind to hLF. ^[176, 185, 213-215]

Lactoferrin and its iron depleted form, apolactoferrin (ALF), are both bactericidal against pneumococci but are limited in their function, hence being blocked at their active sites, by PspA. In the case of hLF, PspA directly and specifically binds through its lactoferrin-binding domain to the N-lobe of hLF, inhibiting the penetration of the bacterial membrane by the bactericidal peptide. ^[216-217]

Another role of PspA was found to be next to the inhibition of C3b deposition onto pneumococci, also the inhibitory effect to the formation of functional alternative pathway C3 convertase. Thus a reduction of the pathogen-clearance by the complement-dependent host defense system and phagocytosis is mediated. This family independent, anti-complementary function of PspA just requires the surface accessibility as prerequisite for proper function. ^[176, 185, 203, 218-219]

3.3.4 The Role of PspA During Host-Infection

PspA was shown to be expressed *in vivo* in mice and to elicit cross-reactive and crossprotective antibodies against strains expressing different PspA-clades. ^[183, 220] The protein is known to be necessary for full virulence of pneumococci and for slowing down clearance. Immunization with PspA protects mice against fatal sepsis, bacteremia, lung infection and carriage. ^[174, 176, 178, 180, 183, 203, 221-223]

Healthy and diseased humans elicit clade cross-reactive antibodies to PspA, where strong immune responses develop during convalescence and highly effective T-cell mediated responses are elicited. ^[224-227]

In vitro studies revealed a stimulatory effect of PspA together with other pneumococcal surface proteins on A549 cells, human neutrophils and hPBMCs by stimulating the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-cells inhibitor-alpha (I κ B- α), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) and

p38 MAPK signaling cascades, hence the early cytokine (IL-6, IL-8) and chemokine (CCL2, CCL4 and CCL5) secretion. ^[228-230]

3.3.5 Reported in vivo Efficacy of Anti-PspA-Antibodies

Since PspA was discovered as a very potent antigen target, several studies, based on immunizations with DNA, proteins, peptides, *etc.* in active immunization and passive transfer models were conducted. A huge number of different application routes and adjuvants were already tested for their protective ability in several mouse strains and challenge-models. (Table 1) ^[176, 183, 191, 197-198, 203, 231-248]

The potential use of PspA as a vaccines component against *S. pneumoniae* is *inter alia* given due to its T-cell-dependent nature, hence an induction of immunogenicity in infants, presence in all strains, and relatively low production costs compared to existing polysaccharide vaccine.^[183]

Antigen	Comments	Sources		
PspA-DNA	<i>A-DNA</i> » Pneumococcal clearance 24h post immunization			
(plasmid,	» IgG1, IgG2a, IFN- γ , TNF- α , Th1 response	[191, 231-234]		
truncated	» Cross-reactivity (Family 1 and Family 2),			
gene, etc.)	» Increased complement deposition			
	» Higher antibody-titers compared to DNA,			
	» Strong antibody-binding to pneumococci,			
Dom A	» IL-4 secretion (Th2),			
r spA-	» Immunization of healthy humans showed cross-reactive	[183, 203, 233, 235-241]		
nrotain	antibodies in vitro			
protein	» Combination with PLY-mutant, PspC or ClpP or PspA-DNA:			
	enhanced protection with complementing effects;			
	» Increase of IgG2a even by parental immunization			
	» Nontoxic A subunit mutant of cholera toxin (S61F) induces			
	high levels of PspA-specific IgG and IgA in serum and CD4+			
	Th2-type cells			
	» Lactobacillus casei: cross-reactive antibodies, IL-17 and IFN-γ			
	secretion in lung and spleen, TNF- α in the respiratory tract			
PspA-	» CTB-PspA': protection against sepsis			
recombinant	» IL-12: lung IgG2a mRNA levels, systemic and respiratory	[0.40, 0.47]		
protein +	IgG1, IgG2a and IgA levels, OPK, increased	[242-247]		
different	» Low level LPS, whole cell <i>Bordetella pertussis</i> vaccine:			
adjuvants	protection against lethal respiratory challenge, high levels of			
·	systemic and mucosal IgG2a and IgA			
	» Low level LPS, diphtheria-tetanus pertussis vaccine:			
	induction of IgG2a, significant protection and survival			
	» Loss of TLR4-function: protection against infection, clade			
	cross-reactive and cross-protective antibodies induced			
Passive	» Mice protected when passive immunization with mouse			
Transfer of	" white protected when passive minimulization with mouse,	[176, 197-198, 248]		
Sera	rabbit, monkey sera and numan (phase 1) sera			

Table 1: Examples of the Most Promising Vaccination Approaches Based on PspA

3.4 Pneumolysin (PLY, SP1923)

3.4.1 Basic Structural Features of PLY

Pneumolysin (PLY, SP1923) is a cholesterol-dependent, cytoplasmic, thiol-activated cytolysin, which binds to cholesterol-containing membranes of eukaryotic cells. It is released by pneumococci and reported of being an essential virulence factor of *S. pneumoniae*. Sequence comparison of PLY indicates limited homology to human CRP and high sequence similarity to perfringolysin O, mitilysin and pseudopneumolysin. ^[13, 38, 63, 249-263]



Figure 13: The Structure of PLY. The crystal structure of PLY (A) is illustrated by the amino-acids giving rise to the four domains of this antigen (B). A schematic drawing represents the binding of the cell-binding domain 4 to the cholesterol-containing membrane (C-a), refolding of several domains (C-b) and the pore-formation (C-c). Reprojections obtained from cryo-electron microscopy show the 38-mer prepore (D) and the subsequently formed pore (E). Computational 3D-reconstructions illustrate the prepore (F) and pore (G) with the corresponding cross-sections below each. (modified from $^{1254, 281, 284}$)

A - INTRODUCTION

After its first description as a hemolysin in 1905, PLY – a 52.8 kDa (470 amino acid) large protein – was extensively investigated towards its toxic nature and the loss of toxicity due to binding of sterols and cholesterol. PLY shares a high inter-strain gene-conservation in different pneumococcal serotypes. The exact secretory pathway that leads to release of PLY is unknown to date but was shown to be independent of LytA, LytB and LytC activity. ^[63, 251, 264-276]

The amino-acid sequence of PLY gives raise to four domains, where domain 4 and here especially Trp433 is known to be crucial for binding of PLY to cholesterol, the insertion into the eukaryotic cell membrane *via* β -hairpins and hence the formation of ring-shaped, oligomeric pores consisting of up to 44 monomers, leading to the formation of a transmembrane channel, lined by 176 β -strands (Figure 13). ^[63, 254, 277-283]

3.4.2 The Functional Roles of PLY

Next to its cytolytic, pore-forming ability which is described in the previous section, PLY exerts diverse functions in the context of bacterial pathogenesis and host response.

It was shown that a *ply* knock out strain can be complemented by PLY-release from coinfection with wild-type cells and that it has a critical role in acute sepsis in the early phases of pneumococcal infection. ^[63-64, 271, 285-286] *ply* mutant strains show slower growth during lung infection and give rise to chronic bacteremia (compared to wild-type cells which induce acute sepsis). ^[63-64, 286-289] The expression of PLY accelerates the pneumococcal transmission into the blood, although it is not required for successful pneumococcal colonization of the nasopharynx. ^[63-64, 289-291]

Although complement-activation through PLY is important during lung infection, the cytotxicity of PLY becomes more crucial when the disease progresses towards a systemic infection. ^[50, 63-64, 292-293]

Severe effects on host cells, in the early stages of a pneumococcal infection and during the subsequent progression towards pneumococcal bacteremia or meningitis, are often associated with the cytolytic activity of PLY. Sublytic concentrations block the proliferation of stimulated lymphocytes (*i.e.* reduced lymphokine and antibody expression), inhibition of the respiratory burst and a reduction of the migration capacity of cells of the human immune system such as PMNLs. ^[50, 63-64, 294-302] PLY induces the inhibition of cilia-beating (*i.e.* on the respiratory tract epithelium as well as ependymal lining of brain slices), damage of mitochondria (*e.g.* leading to neuronal cell death), irreversible damage of cochlear hair cells (*i.e.* sensorineural hearing loss),

permeabilization of the alveolar endothelium and/or the pulmonary endothelium as well as damage of lung tissue (*e.g.* due to the activation of PAF and downstream signaling pathways) and the blood brain barrier. ^[297, 303-317]

PLY aids the evasion from human dendritic cells and leads to an activation of lung mast cells mediating pneumococcal killing. It is further reported, that sublytic concentrations of PLY induce a Src-kinase dependent, rapid microtubule bundling and stabilization. In addition PLY was reported to activate the two GTPases – Ras homology gene family member A (RhoA) and Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) – leading to actin remodeling (stress-fibers, filopodia and lamellopodia) which is reversible by using specific inhibitors and pre-incubation of PLY with cholesterol. ^[318-321]

PLY and also its non-hemolytic mutant forms are reported of activating the classical pathway of complement activation as well as activating TLR4 as PAMPs, including the downstream-signaling *via* myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88) and ERK and subsequently the release of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-17 leading to an inflammatory response. In addition to the activation of TLR4, PLY acts *via* NF- κ B, the NLR family, pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome and MAPK signaling, inducing IL-1 β , CCL (2, 4, 5, and 8) and CXCL (8 and 10). PLY activates the nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT) signaling pathway, induces caspase-1-dependent cytokines and leads to degradation of C3 *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Its role during infection and inflammation is further potentiated by (*i*) its induction of cellular phospholipase A₂-activity which subsequently leads to pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic metabolites, (*ii*) the interferon- γ (IFN- γ) dependent induction of NO, (*iii*) the activation of intracellular oxygen radicals (*i.e.* reactive oxygen species, ROS) and (*iv*) the mobilization of matrix metalloproteinases (8 and 9) from neutrophils.^[37,56,300]

It is further reported that the binding-ability of PLY to the Fc portion of IgG prevents the effective opsonophagocytosis and hence the killing of *S. pneumoniae in vivo*. ^[38, 63, 322-323]

The immunization of mice with PLY, pneumolysoids (PLY-based toxoids with no or reduced hemolytic activity) and both being conjugated to capsular polysaccharides, or administered in combination with other antigens, repeatedly showed increased survival after challenge with different *S. pneumoniae* strains. Studies with *ply* mutant strains showed the essentiality of PLY as a pneumococcal virulence factor. ^[37, 63, 250, 272, 324-331]

A - INTRODUCTION

3.4.3 Reported in vivo Efficacy of Anti-PLY-Antibodies

As aforementioned, many studies were conducted using PLY in active immunization model in naïve *Mus musculus*, showing prolonged survival rates after challenge with *S. pneumoniae*. Affinity-purified pneumolysoid-specific human antibodies were shown to protect mice against invasive disease due to the toxin-neutralizing ability of the antibodies and not due to direct opsonization of pneumococcal cells. ^[323]

Humans are reported of exhibiting a PLY-specific antibody-response due to natural exposure to pneumococci, with increasing antibody-titers during infection. Patients are reportedly predisposed to pneumococcal pneumonia when lacking high levels of antibody. ^[332-335]

Purified human polyclonal antibodies, rat polyclonal IgG as well as hyperimmune serum targeting PLY showed protection against lethal challenge and other diseases such as pneumococcal keratitis in passive immunization models. [323, 332, 336-337]

Several mAbs, that either inhibit pore-formation (*e.g.* PLY-4) or binding of the toxin to cells (*e.g.* PLY-5 and PLY-7), were generated, characterized and showed promising effects such as (*i*) the protection of ependymal cilia which are severely affected by PLY during meningitis, (*ii*) the protection of lung tissue which is profoundly affected during pneumococcal pneumonia, and (*iii*) a significant protection against a lethal *intranasal* (*i.n.*) challenge with pneumococci (with a synergistic effect when used in combination), which substantiates the usefulness of PLY specific mAbs for *e.g.* the use in adjunctive therapies with antibiotics. ^[284, 301, 313, 323, 338-340]

4 MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES – THE GOLDEN BULLET FOR FIGHTING INFECTIOUS DISEASES?

4.1 Technologies for the Generation of mAbs

Since the development of the first mAbs by Koehler and Milstein, where spleen cells of immunized hosts are fused with a cancer cell-line (*e.g.* myeloma), yielding a continuous cell-culture secreting mAbs, several new and more effective technologies were established for the generation of highly specific mAbs. ^[28, 341-342]

The major drawback of the original hybridoma technology is mainly the immunogenicity of rodent mAbs in humans. ^[94, 343] This problem was abolished when phage-display technologies were developed and the design of chimeric mouse-human antibodies, humanized mAbs or fully human mAbs, was implemented. ^[94, 344-348]

In the recent years, several new approaches such as the pre-selection of antigen-specific Bcells based on their Ig-receptor ^[349], or the generation of heteromyeloma cell lines based peripheral blood lymphocytes of vaccinated humans ^[350] were developed for the generation of fully human mAbs. Also the use of transgenic animals, expressing a complete repertoire of human immunoglobulins ^[351-352], or conditionally immortalized cells expressing fully human mAbs controlled by a MHC-promoter ^[353], as well as the molecular cloning of functional immunoglobulin genes from single plasma cells for target-selective homologous recombination ^[354], were established.

Today, display technologies based on phage-, ribosome-, microbial- and protein-DNAdisplay not just allow the engineering and expression of fully human (monoclonal) antibodies from several libraries, but also the generation of antibody-fragments such as single-chain variable fragments (scFv). The cloning of these fragments allows the generation of constructs being more stable than Fv-fragments, where the antibody-specificity is still maintained.^[355-368]

Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display

As the generation of fully human mAbs against the target antigens of this project is aimed to be based on a novel technology developed by Cytos Biotechnology AG ^[369], emphasis is put on this in the following.

The technology is based on screening for antigen-specific memory B-cells from isolated hPBMCs, the generation of scFv-libraries, and selection by mammalian cell surface display *via* a Sindbis virus expression system (Figure 14).^[369]

Briefly, hPBMCs are isolated from healthy human blood donors, and subsequently sorted for antigen-specific human memory B-cells by means of fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) using fluorescently labeled antigens as bait (virus like particles fused to the antigen of interest; VLP-Ag). Following RNA isolation from memory B-cells, a scFv-library is generated, which is used to generate a high-titer Sindbis virus based expression-library. This virus-library is subsequently used for infection of baby hamster kidney (BHK) cells at a low multiplicity of infection (MOI), leading to a pool of infected cells expressing one specific antibody on each cell surface. After a single-cell sorting for cells expressing a functional antibody by FACS, a BHKcell monolayer is generated, expression of gene-specific antibodies is verified, the variable regions (VRs) are cloned and the antibody is expressed in any desired format (*e.g.* scFv-Fc or IgG). ^[369]



Figure 14: Schematic of the Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display Technology. Fully human mAbs are generated using serum from healthy human blood donors (A), isolating hPBMCs (B) and sorting with antigen-coupled virus-like particles (C) for antigen-specific memory B-cells (D). Following the construction of a scFv-library (E) and a Sindbis virus-library (F), BHK-cells are infected (G) which is followed by single-cell sorting for antigen-specific BHK-cells (H). After successful virus-expension (I), the binding of gene-specific antibodies is validated (J) and antibodies are finally produced in the desired format (K). (modified from ^[369])
4.2 The Potential of Antibody-Based Therapies

The increasing emergence of penicillin- and multidrug-resistant *S. pneumoniae* strains and other bacterial species revives the idea of antibody-based therapies against infectious diseases. [348, 370-374]

Hypersensitivity against antisera, which supported the abolishment of serum therapy when the antibiotic era arose in the 1930's, is just one of the disadvantages associated with nonhuman antibodies in therapy. In addition hyperimmune sera were reported to comprise hazards in transmission of infectious diseases, to show great lot-to-lot variations, and to imply low concentrations of specific antibodies. ^[370, 372, 375-376]

In contrast to polyclonal antibodies, mAbs represent an exhaustless pool of homogenous antibodies with markedly higher specificity and therefore greater therapeutic efficacy. ^{[370, 372, 375-^{377]} MAbs exhibit a greater uniformity, allow the combined use in therapy, and eliminate the risk of transmission of blood-borne infectious diseases due to the feasibility of the generation *in vitro*. ^[370, 372, 375-377]}

The main advantages for the use of mAbs in therapeutic settings are high pathogen specificity, enhancement of immune functions and favorable pharmacokinetics of this type of drug. ^[102, 370-372, 378-379] Native human IgG was shown to have a great pharmacokinetic profile (tissue penetration, half-life and host tolerance), which is even greater than pharmacokinetics observed for chimeric and humanized antibodies. ^[102, 370]

Antibodies are part of the natural defense system and allow – due to somatic mutations and rearrangements – the specific targeting of antigens of theoretically all pathogens.^[379] MAbs therefore impair a versatile repertoire of functions such as inhibition of microbial attachment, agglutination, complement activation, opsonization, enhancing effects on host effector-cells, depletion of immune effectors, and toxin neutralization. Thus they have a great potential by directly targeting bacterial pathogens or neutralizing the toxic products of infection even at physiological extremes *inter alia* at low pH. ^[102, 370-372, 377]

There are also drawbacks associated with mAbs such as high manufacturing costs, the immanent need of early and precise diagnostics, the requirement of systemic administration and the limited usefulness against mixed infections, which exacerbate the development of antibody-based therapies to date. ^[370, 372, 377] The given risk of microorganisms to adapt to antibodies over time, may require to target the mutated epitopes with other mAbs, an administration of mAb-cocktails, or even the aiming towards other conserved antigens. ^[102, 370, 377]

A - INTRODUCTION

Nevertheless, it was shown that a mAb-based therapy is even effective against brain infections such as meningococcal meningitis, as inflammation makes the blood-brain barrier permeable to pathogens. ^[370, 372] At present there are several antibody-based passive therapies, using murine, chimeric, humanized or fully human mAbs, approved by the FDA. This huge field of application from cancer-therapy, inhibition of transplant rejection, treatment of rheumatoid and autoimmune diseases, as well as the therapy of infectious diseases, emphasizes the great potential of mAbs in antibody-based therapies. ^[102, 368, 380-387]

B - AIMS OF THE STUDY

Due to increasing antibiotic resistance and poor vaccine responses in at-risk populations new treatment strategies such as passive immunotherapy with human mAbs are under investigation. With respect to this, three conserved antigens of *S. pneumoniae* – LTA, PspA (SP0117) and PLY (SP1923) – were selected for in depth analyses. Consequently the specific aims of this project were to:

- a) express and purify PspA and PLY as well as domains thereof in recombinant form,
- b) generate hyperimmune sera against all target antigen-constructs in *M. musculus*
- c) determine the *in vivo* virulence of several pneumococcal strains in different routes of infection
- d) optimize purification, detection and quantification methods of LTA and to subsequently isolate and purify native LTA from different pneumococcal strains,
- e) perform complementary *in vitro* validations of all three target antigens, hence to assess the antigen binding in ELISA and Western blot analyses and to determine their accessibility to antibodies on the surface of distinct pneumococcal strains by flow cytometry,
- f) set-up and optimize cell-based functional assays to scrutinize the *in vitro* activity of the generated antibodies
- g) investigate the *in vivo* efficacy of the antigen-specific antibodies in various mouse models of infection and to correlate these findings with their *in vitro* activity
- h) optimize the staining conditions for the sorting of PLY-specific human B-cells
- i) identify healthy human donors for the isolation of memory B-cells by fluorescence activated cell sorting and for cloning and expression of human mAbs against all target antigens *in vitro*.

In summary, the overall aim of the present study was to generate antibodies against the pneumococcal antigens – LTA, PspA and PLY – and to investigate the characteristics and potentials of both – the antigens and the antibodies – *in vitro* and *in vivo* and thus to obtain a substantial knowledge for their application spectrum as targets for human mAb development.

C - MATERIALS AND METHODS

1 BACTERIA

Table 2 represents an overview of *S. pneumoniae* wild-type strains used in the course of this project. Wild-type pneumococcal strains were grown in Todd Hewitt Broth supplemented with 0.5 % yeast extract (THY) or on blood-agar (Columbia agar supplemented with 5 % sheep blood, bioMérieux) at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂.

Table 2: S. pneumoniae Strains used in this Study. PspA family and clade type were determined by sequence analysis and grouping according to Hollingshead et al.^[176]

Strain	Serotype	PspA-	PspA-	Origin	
		Family	Clade	Oligiti	
D39	2	1	2	Peter Andrew; University of Leicester, UK	
A66.1	3	1	2	David Briles, University of Alabama, USA	
WU2	3	1	2	David Briles, University of Alabama, USA	
TIGR4	4	2	3	Birgitta Henriques-Normark, SMI, Sweden	
4D2341-94	4	2	3	Eddie Ades, CDC, USA	
PJ1324	6B	2	3	Birgitta Henriques-Normark, SMI, Sweden	
EF3030	19F	1	1	David Briles, University of Alabama, USA	

Gene deletion strains were generated in a previous study ^[24] and were cultured in media supplemented with 250 µg kanamycin per ml.

Escherichia coli was cultured in LB-medium (PAA) or on LB-agar plates, both supplemented with the required antibiotics and incubated at 37 °C (150 rpm shaking in the case of liquid cultures).

2 EUKARYOTIC CELL LINES

HL-60 cells are myeloid and promyelocytic cells derived from a female patient with acute myeloid leukaemia and established as a cell line in 1977. ^[388] In culture, these cells are ovoid or round but occasionally express pseudopodia and are heterogenous in size (9 to 25 μ m in diameter). HL-60 cells double every 24 h in an actively growing culture, although doubling time is about 72 h immediately after recovery from the frozen stock. The cells largely resemble promyelocytes, however they spontaneously and slowly differentiate into other cell types of granulocytic phenotype. ^[388]

HL-60 cells were cultured at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ in RPMI-1640 Medium (Sigma) supplemented with 20 % FCS, 1 % penicillin/streptomycin solution and 1 % *L*-glutamin. When the cells were approximately 80 % confluent they were diluted 1:5 in fresh medium.

*HEK-Blue*TM *hTLR4* (InvivoGen) cells are HEK293 cells, stably transfected with the human TLR4 gene and the co-receptors MD-2 and CD14. By stimulation of the receptor(s), an NF-κB/AP-1-induced transcription of secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) is induced, which is followed by an expression-level dependent color change of *QUANTI-Blue*TM (InvivoGen) from pink to purple/blue.

The cells were cultured at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ in DMEM-medium (GIBCO) supplemented with additives such as growth factors, antibiotics, antimycotics, *etc.*, according to manufacturer's instructions (InvivoGen; HEK-Blue-hTLR4- Technical Datasheet; *page 1-3*)

3 ISOLATION AND PURIFICATION OF HUMAN PERIPHERAL BLOOD MONONUCLEAR CELLS AND RED BLOOD CELLS

Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (hPBMCs) and red blood cells (hRBCs) were isolated from freshly drawn blood under aseptic conditions. Blood was drawn using a Vacutainer[®] blood collection and Luer-Lock[®] set (Becton Dickinson, N° 367326 and N° 364902) and sodium-heparin blood-collection tubes (17 IU/ml; Becton Dickinson, N° 368480) according to general blood-collection standards. Blood from two tubes was diluted approximately 1:1 with DPBS and carefully layered on top of Lymphocyte-Separation Medium (LSM, LSM 1077, PAA) in 2:1 ratio without mixing the two phases. After centrifugation at 680 x g for 20 min and RT without brakes, the upper-most layer – containing the plasma and most of the platelets – was carefully removed and discarded. The hPBMCs were collected from the interphase without penetrating the LSM layer from above. The remaining LSM was removed and the hRBCs at the bottom of the tube were collected. The hPBMCs and the hRBCs were washed twice with DPBS – centrifugation at 420 x g for 10 min at RT without brakes – and then counted using a Neubauer-chamber and Trypanblue life/dead-staining.

The purified hRBCs were stored at 4 °C until further use, whereas the hPBMCs were resuspended in FCS with 10 % DMSO at 10^7 cells per ml and frozen at – 80 °C using a freezing container (Nalgene Cryo 1 °C Freezing Container).

4 GENERATION OF RECOMBINANT ANTIGENS

All pneumococcal antigens were cloned into a pET28b+ vector, subsequently expressed in recombinant form with an N- or C-terminal penta-His-tag and purified *via* an immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography (IMAC).

4.1 General DNA- and Protein- Methods

Purification of gDNA from S. pneumoniae

Genomic DNA (gDNA) was purified from pneumococcal strains grown in THY overnight using the "*Wizard*[®] *Genomic DNA Purification Kit*" (Promega), following the manufacturer's protocol for Gram-positive bacteria (Technical Manual; *page 16 ff*).

Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

DNA was separated on agarose gels containing 1-2 % agarose (Invitrogen) in TAE-buffer (40 mM Tris-acetate, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.3) and 0.5 μ g/ml Ethidium bromide. All DNA-samples were mixed 1:6 with loading dye (Fermentas) and for size estimation a 1kb DNA ladder (*GeneRuler*TM, Fermentas) was used. Gels were run for 35 min at 130 V and scanned (AlphaDigiDocTM, RT).

SDS-PAGE

For the separation of proteins, polyacrylamide-gels (4-20 %, Tris glycine, PAGEr[®] Gold Precast Gels, 1 mm, Lonza) were loaded with samples, mixed 1:5 with sample buffer (*Non-Reducing Lane Marker Sample Buffer*, ThermoScientific, supplemented with 1 mM DTT if required) and run in a *Mini-PROTEAN II* (BioRad) system for 45 min at 200 V in electrophoresis buffer (196 mM glycine, 0.1 % SDS in 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3). Then the gels were either stained with Coomassie or used for Western blot analysis. The protein size was estimated using a prestained protein ladder (*PageRuler™ Plus*; Fermentas)

For Coomassie Staining, gels were rinsed with dH₂O post PAGE and subsequently stained using the *SimplyBlueTM SafeStain* (Invitrogen), which is based on the Coomassie[®] G-250 stain, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Instructions Manual - *SimplyBlueTM SafeStain*, Invitrogen)

4.2 Generation of Bacterial Expression Hosts for Protein Expression Cloning of Constructs into the pET28b+ Vector

Prior to cloning, the genes of interest were amplified by genomic PCR – using the *Expand High Fidelity PCR System* (Roche) according to manufacturer's instructions, adding 2 mM MgCl₂, 200 μ M dNTP-mix, 1 μ M sense- and anti-sense primers (Supplementary Table 1) and 1.75 U of *Expand High Fidelity Enzyme Mix* in DNase/RNase-free reagents. Following the DNA-amplification using the standard PCR-cycling program – 95 °C for 5 min (1 cycle), 95 °C for 30 sec, 52 °C for 30 sec, 72 °C for 60 sec (35 cycles), and 72 °C for 5 min; depending on the desired product, annealing temperature and extension times were adjusted – the amplicons and the vector were digested with appropriate restriction enzymes (according to manufacturer's instructions, NEB), separated by agarose-gel electrophoresis and purified using the *QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit* (QIAGEN). The purified, linearized vector (pET28b+) and insert DNA were ligated overnight at 16 °C with T4 DNA-ligase (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's instructions. The ligated DNA was precipitated with 1 μ l glycogen, 2.5 volumes of 100 % EtOH and 0.1 volume of 3 M NaAc for 10 min at -80 °C, pelleted by centriguation at 15,000xg for 10 min, washed three times with 70 % EtOH and finally dissolved in 5 μ l dH₂O before transformation into electro-competent DH5- α cells (ElectroMAXTM DH5- α -ETM, Invitrogen).

Growing clones were subjected to colony-PCR using Taq-polymerase (Promega), applying reagents and buffers according to manufacturer's instruction and following the standard PCR-program described before. The size of the amplicons was subsequently checked by agarose-gel electrophoresis.

Transformants that were positive by colony-PCR were subjected to plasmid purification. The purified plasmids was subsequently digested using the appropriate restriction enzymes (according to manufacturer's instructions, NEB) in order to verify the expected fragment sizes by agarose-gel electrophoresis. The insert from positive clones was confirmed by sequencing (MWG Biotech).

Plasmids containing the desired inserts were transformed into chemically competent *E. coli BL21-CodonPlus® Competent Cells* (Stratagene) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

4.3 Small-Scale Expression Analysis

Single colonies of the *BL21* transformants were used to inoculate 5 ml LB-medium supplemented with the appropriate antibiotics – dependent on *E. coli* host strain and the vector. The next day this culture was diluted 1:10 with fresh growth medium and incubated at 37 °C and 150 rpm for 90 min until the logarithmic growth phase was reached. Protein-expression was induced by addition of 0.1 mM IPTG and the culture was grown for another 3 h.

2 ml of this culture were then harvested by centrifugation for 10 min at 15,000 x g. The pellet was lyzed in 200 μ l *BugBuster*TM *Protein Extraction Reagent* (Novagen) for 20 min rotating. A 50 μ l aliquot of the crude lysate (CL) was kept for further analyses and the remaining solution was centrifuged for 10 min at 15,000 x g. The supernatant (soluble fraction, SOL) was kept for analysis and the pellet was dissolved in 150 μ l 8 M urea and 500 mM NaCl in 50 mM TrisHCl pH 8.0 (insoluble fraction, INSOL).

 $4 \mu l$ of all three fractions (CL, SOL and INSOL) were analyzed for protein-expression by SDS-PAGE followed by Coomassie-staining and Western blot analysis (using anti-Penta-His as primary antibody).

4.4 Large-Scale Expression and Purification of Recombinant Proteins Cultivation of Expression Cell Lines

A 100 ml o/n-culture of the *E. coli* protein expression strain was prepared in 12.5 ml "pimped medium" and 87.5 ml LB medium supplemented with the appropriate antibiotics. Therefore, 1 liter of "pimped medium" was aseptically prepared by adding 10 g yeast extract, 13.73 g *D*-glucose*H₂O, 1.16 g KH₂PO₄, 6.27 g K₂HPO₄*3H₂O, 2 % glycerol, 0.25 g MgSO₄*7H₂O, 0.8 mg FeCl₃*6H₂O, 0.1 g CoCl₂, 0.05 g CuCl₂, 0.1 mg ZnCl₂, 0.1 mg Na₂MoO₄*2H₂O, 0.025 mg H₃BO₄ and 5 µl HCl(cc) to 1000 ml LB medium (PAA).

The o/n-culture was used to inoculate 2 liters of pre-warmed fermentation medium in a baffled flask which was incubated for 2 h at 37 °C and 150 rpm. The protein production was induced by the addition of 0.1 mM IPTG and the culture was grown for another 4 h.

The biomass was harvested by centrifugation (Beckman Avanti J-25) at 4 °C for 15 min at 9000 x g. The pellet was washed by re-suspension in approximately 30 ml DPBS, centrifuged for 15 min at 4000 rpm and stored at -20 °C until further use.

High-Pressure Homogenization (HPH)

After thawing the biomass, it was diluted 1:5 to 1:30 in HPH-lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl and 0.1 % Triton X-100. Subsequently 1 mM DTT (if required) and protease inhibitors were added from a 100 x stock containing 1 mg/ml leupeptin, 0.1 mg/ml pepstatin A, 0.5 mg/ml aprotinin, 4 mM bestatin, 1 mM E-64 and 100 mM EBSF in dH₂O.

The bacterial suspension was filled into the high-pressure homogenizer (HPH; *Panda 2K*; Niro Soavi) and lyzed in five cycles according to standard protocol (Intercell-Department for Protein Expression and Purification) which was followed by centrifugation at 4 °C for 15 min at 9000 x g. 100 μ l of sample were drawn after each step and analyzed for protein content by SDS-PAGE and subsequent Coomassie-staining. The fraction containing the recombinant protein were kept and used for protein purification.

Immobilized Metal Ion Affinity Chromatography (IMAC)

Following the estimation of the amount of recombinant protein (post HPH), the soluble fraction was rotated over-night at 4 °C with the appropriate volume of washed and equilibrated Ni-sepharose (Amersham). This resin was then subjected to IMAC according to standard protocol (Intercell-Department for Protein Expression and Purification) and applying the following buffer-gradient (Table 3). All fractions were finally analyzed by means of SDS-PAGE and subsequent Coomassie-staining. The EA-fraction of the IMAC was dialyzed three-times against DPBS or buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0 and 150 mM NaCl at 4 °C using *Spectra/Por® Dialysis Membranes* with the appropriate molecular-weight cut-off (Spectrum Laboratories).

Purification Step	Buffer	Column Volumes
FT	o/n rotated Ni-sepharose resin	
W0	50mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0 + 500mM NaCl + 0,1% TX100	15
WOTX	50mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0 + 500mM NaCl	10
W20	20mM Imidazol in 50mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0 + 500mM NaCl	5
W40	40mM Imidazol in 50mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0 + 500mM NaCl	5
EA	250mM Imidazol in 50mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0 + 150mM NaCl	3
EE	250mM Imidazol in 50mM Tris/HCl pH 8.0 + denaturing agent (6M GuaHCl or 8M urea) + 500mM NaCl	3

Table 3: Gradient for IMAC-Purification of Recombinant Proteins.

N.B. in each step, except of EA, 1 mM DTT may be added if required

Removal of Endotoxin via Membrane-Filtration

In order to remove bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from the recombinant proteins, the protein-solutions were filtered through *Acrodisc*[®] *Units* with *Mustang*TM *E Membranes* (PALL) according to manufacturer's instructions. Following the LPS-depletion, the content of endotoxin in the sample was determined using the *Limulus Amebocyte Lysate* (*LAL*) *QCL-1000*[®] *Test* (Lonza), according to manufacturer's instructions.

Qualification and Quantification of Purified Recombinant Proteins

The purified recombinant protein was qualified by SDS-PAGE and subsequent Coomassie-staining and Western blot analysis using mouse anti-penta-His antibody (Quiagen) as primary antibody. For the quantification of the prepared protein a *BCA Protein Assay* (Pierce) was used according to manufacturer's instructions.

4.5 Coupling of Antigens to FluoSpheres[®]

Fluorescent microspheres (Carboxylate-Modified, Amine-Modified or Sulfate and Aldehyde-Sulfate FluoSpheres[®], Molecular Probes, Invitrogen) were coupled with 1 mg of the required protein according to manufacturer's instructions (*"Working with FluoSpheres® Fluorescent Microspheres", page 1-5*) and the coupling-success was checked by means of SDS-PAGE and subsequent Coomassie-staining.

5 ISOLATION, PURIFICATION AND QUANTIFICATION OF LTA

5.1 Small-Scale Optimization using LTA from S. pyogenes

Hydrophobic Interaction Chromatography (HIC)

In order to optimize the conditions for the HIC-based purification of pneumococcal LTA ^[126], 500 µl of *Octyl Sepharose*TM (GE Healthcare) were rotated over-night at 4 °C with 100 µg LTA from *S. pyogenes* (L 3140, SIGMA) in 0.1 M NH₄Ac-buffer, pH 4.7 (HIC-buffer) with no, 5 % and 15 % n-propanol (SIGMA) added. The incubated resins were transferred into *BioRad Micro Bio-Spin® Chromatography Columns* (BioRad) and the *S. pyogenes* LTA was eluted using an n-propanol gradient from 0 % to 100 % in HIC-buffer. Thus the column-resin was briefly incubated with 500 µl of eluent and centrifuged at 4 x g for 1 min into a fresh collection tube. All fractions were stored at -20 °C until further use.

ELISA-Based Quantification using GAS-LTA Specific Antibodies

100 µl of LTA from *S. pyogenes* (1 mg/ml) or 100 µl of each HIC-fraction (see previous section) were spiked with 0.1 M NaHCO₃-buffer, pH 9.3 and used in 5-fold dilutions for overnight coating of *MaxiSorp*TM plates (Nunc) at 4 °C. The next day, the coating solution was discarded and 100 µl of blocking buffer containing 2 % BSA in 1xDPBS were added per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature. The plates were washed three-times with 300 µl of 0.1 % Tween[®]20 in DPBS (PBS-T) per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with 50 µl of a 1:200 dilution of primary antibody (*"Lipoteichoic Acid Antibody, Rabbit Polyclonal, anti-S. pyogenes, 18-783-77138",* GenWay) in 1 % BSA in DPBS (dilution buffer). After incubation, the plates were washed three-times with 300 µl of PBS-T per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with 50 µl of a 1:1000 dilution of secondary antibody (*"Anti-rabbit IgG, peroxidase-linked species specific whole antibody (from donkey)",* AmershamBiosciences) in dilution buffer. The plates were finally washed three-times in the "overflow"-mode with 300 µl of PBS-T per well. Following the light-protected incubation for 30 min at room-temperature, with 50 µl ABTS (2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid); SIGMA) per well, the OD₄₀₅ was determined.

5.2 Purification of LTA from S. pneumoniae

Pneumococcal LTA was purified using an n-butanol extraction and subsequent hydrophobic interaction chromatography (HIC) as described ^[126].

Bacterial Culture

The *S. pneumoniae* strains TIGR4 and PJ1324 (6B) were inoculated and grown in 100 ml of THY pre-culture until the end of the log-phase at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. 50 ml of this pre-culture were then used to inoculate 5 liters of fresh THY and bacteria were grown for 16-18 h at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ before harvesting by centrifugation at 4 °C for approximately 30 min at 4400 rpm.

Cell Disruption and LTA-Isolation

The pelleted bacterial biomass was re-suspended in 50 ml of 1 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C with 0.25 mg/ml lysozyme (SIGMA) to break up the cell wall. 5 mM MgCl₂ was then added to the solution, which was further incubated for 1 h at 37 °C with 50 μ g/ml RNAse A (Promega) and 10 μ g/ml DNase I (Roche), followed by the addition of 0.5 % SDS (SIGMA) and over-night incubation at 55 °C with 50 μ g/ml ProteinaseK (Invitrogen).

After the denaturation of ProteinaseK for 10 min at 95 °C, 25 ml of 50 mM citrate-buffer, pH 4.7 were added and the solution was sonicated twice for 5 min on ice. The bacterial lysate was mixed with an equal volume of n-butanol (Merck) under stirring for 20 min at room-temperature. After centrifugation at 4 °C for 45 min at 17,200 x g the lower, aqueous phase was collected before an equal volume of fresh citrate-buffer was added to the solvent-phase for a second extraction as described.

These steps were repeated and the three aqueous phases obtained were pooled, frozen at - 80°C and subsequently lyophilized.

Hydrophobic Interaction Chromatography (HIC)

The lyophilized LTA-extracts were re-suspended in 35 ml of chromatography start buffer containing 15 % n-propanol in 0.1 M NH₄Ac-buffer, pH 4.7. After centrifugation at 4 °C for 60 min at 26,900 x g, the supernatant was filtered through a 0.2 µm membrane filter. The filtrate was subjected to HIC with 54 ml *Octyl Sepharose*TM (GE Healthcare) using an ÄKTAexplorerTM (GE Healthcare) chromatography system. LTA was eluted using a linear gradient of 15-90 % n-propanol in 0.1 M NH₄Ac-buffer, pH 4.7 and 5 ml fractions were automatically collected.

Quantification based on the Phosphomolybdenum-Blue Reaction

Post HIC, the fractions were screened for their phosphate content. High phosphate concentrations were expected in the flow-through fractions, representing DNA and proteins not bound to the chromatography column and in a second peak from later fractions that should contain LTA. ^[126]

The phosphate determination is based on the formation of phosphomolybdenum blue from phosphate. 50 μ l of a 0.65 mM phosphate standard (SIGMA) and 100 μ l of each fraction were mixed with 200 μ l ashing solution containing 2 M H₂SO₄ and 0.44 M HClO₄. Following incubation in open glass vials (Hirschmann) for 2.5 h at 146 °C, 1 ml of reducing solution containing 3 mM ammonium molybdate, 0.25 M sodium acetate and 1 % ascorbic acid was added and the fractions were incubated for 2 h at 45 °C. The OD₇₀₀ of 250 μ l of each sample was subsequently measured.

PAGE-Based Quantification

For the PAGE-based quantification of isolated and purified LTA form *S. pyogenes* and *S. pneumoniae*, 30-40 % Tris-Borate-EDTA gels (JULE Inc.) were pre-run at 4 °C for 20 min at 100 V in running buffer containing 90 mM Tris, 80 mM boric acid and 2.6 mM EDTA, pH 8.3. LTA-fractions in loading dye – 2 mg/ml Orange G in 40 % sucrose or 4 mg/ml Xylene cyanol and 4 mg/ml Bromophenol blue in 40 % sucrose – were loaded and run over-night at 4 °C and 100 V.

Post PAGE, the gels were stained by a combined AlcianBlue (SIGMA) – Silver staining (BioRad) following the literature protocols ^[389-390] and the manufacturer's instructions (*BioRad Silver Stain*) and were subsequently scanned (GS-800, Calibrated Densitometer, BioRad).

Additionally, were some gels immediately fixed with 50 % MeOH and 10 % acetic acid after electrophoresis and subsequently just stained using the *Bio-Rad Silver Stain* kit (BioRad).

As the precast gels from JULE Inc. were extremely fragile (*e.g.* ripping-off the slots when removing the comb or disrupting of the whole gel when placing the gel-cassette into the electrophoresis chamber, *etc.* happened very easily), 4-20 % Tris-Borate-EDTA gradient-gels (Lonza) were purchased and used as described.

ELISA-Based Quantification using GAS-LTA Specific Antibodies

The HIC fractions were screened for their LTA-content *via* an LTA-ELISA that was based on the initial setup but using (*i*) rabbit polyclonal antibody *vs.* LTA from *S. pyogenes* (1:200, GenWay, 18-783-77138) or (*ii*) mouse mAb *vs.* Gram Positive Bacteria (1:1000, GenWay, 20-511-241416) and 1:1000 dilutions of the appropriate secondary antibodies conjugated to horseraddish peroxidase (HRP, rabbit anti-mouse-HRP (P0260), DAKO; donkey anti-rabbit-HRP (NA934), AmershamBiosciences) for a detection following the ABTS-staining protocol at OD₄₀₅.

LTA-Deacylation-Procedure

For a more effective PAGE-based quantification and qualification of the LTA-purification, 20 μ g GAS-LTA (as an initial optimization step) and subsequently, 20 μ l of isolated pneumococcal LTA were primarily chemically decayed (cdLTA) by a mild NH₄OH-treatment (according to the original procedure ^[391]). This decay was followed by a limited HCl-hydrolysis where the cdLTA (1/2 of the remaining material; the other half was used for PAGE to check for

the success of the NH₄OH treatment) and 20 μ l of 2 M HCl were incubated at 80 °C for 0, 1, 5, and 10 min, followed by an immediate cooling step on ice, the removal of HCl by flushing with dry-air on ice and subsequent dissolving of the chemically decomposed LTA in 10 μ l dH₂O. Samples from all steps were subsequently subjected to LTA-PAGE and a combined Alcian Blue and Silver-staining.

6 ANIMAL STUDIES

6.1 Animal Guidelines – Tierversuchsantrag

All animal-studies in *M. musculus* carried out during this project were approved according to Austrian guidelines (*Tierversuchsgesetz BGBl. Nr.* 501/1989) in the "*Tierversuchsantrag* N° 18 – Kapitel II", "*Tierversuchsantrag* N° 27 – Kapitel II" and "*Tierversuchsantrag* N° 27- Kapitel III".

For all studies, female C3H/HeN mice were purchased from Harlan Winkelmann (Borchen, Germany) or Elevage Janvier (Le Genest Saint Isle, France) and used at the age of six to eight weeks with a body-weight of approximately 23 g.

6.2 Generation of Hyperimmune Sera in M. musculus

For the generation of hyperimmune sera (experiment-N°: CGI/LST3742 and LST3885; according to *"Tierversuchsantrag-N° 18, Kapitel II"*), female C3H/HeN mice (5 mice/group) were immunized subcutaneously (*s.c.*; flank) three times at two-week intervals with 50 µg of purified recombinant protein per mouse and immunization, formulated with ALUM (Aluminium Hydroxide Gel Adjuvant, Alhydrogel; Brenntag) or emulsified in CFA/IFA (Adjuvant Complete Freund (1st immunization) and Adjuvant Incomplete Freund (2nd and 3rd immunization), Difco Laboratories) after taking pre-immune sera one day before the first immunization. On day 35, mice were anesthetized with isofluran and terminally bled – retro-orbital plexus – for the collection of hyperimmune sera.

6.3 Dose Finding Studies for Lethal Infection of M. musculus with Pneumococcal Strains

For the determination of the optimal challenge dose of different *S. pneumoniae* strains, which were to be used *via* different application routes in passive-transfer and challenge models, naïve, female C3H/HeN mice (5 mice/group) were challenged with different bacterial cfu in DPBS – *intraperetoneally* (*i.p.*, 100 μ l/mouse), *i.n.* (40 μ l/mouse), or *i.v.* (100 μ l/mouse). The

challenge dose was confirmed by plating on blood agar and the survival of the mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge, being compared to appropriate control groups. Surviving mice were sacrificed on day 15 post challenge *via* cervical dislocation. (experiment-N°: GNA3876 and LST3898; according to *"Tierversuchsantrag-N° 27, Kapitel III"*)

6.4 In vivo Efficacy Testing of Polyclonal Antibodies

The *in vivo* efficacy of polyclonal antibodies, generated against several recombinant pneumococcal antigens, was tested in models of *i.p.* passive transfer of hyperimmune-sera and *i.p.*, *i.n.*, or *i.v.* lethal challenge with different pneumococcal strains. Therefore 10 μ l of hyperimmune serum diluted in 490 μ l DPBS were injected *i.p.* into groups of 5 naïve, female C3H/HeN mice followed by a lethal challenge 24 h post immunization. The challenge dose was confirmed by plating on blood agar and the survival of the mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge, being compared to appropriate control groups. Surviving mice were sacrificed on day 15 post challenge *via* cervical dislocation.

7 IN VITRO ASSAYS

7.1 Western Blot Analysis

Following the SDS-PAGE, the separated proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (iBlot[®] Gel Transfer Stacks, Invitrogen) using a dry transfer system (iBlotTM Gel Transfer Device, Invitrogen), according to manufacturer's instructions. After Ponceau-staining (Ponceau S solution, SIGMA) and quick-documentation, the membranes were destained and blocked – 1 h at room-temperature or over-night at 4 °C – with 5 % milk powder in DPBS. After a brief rinsing-step with 0.1 % Tween[®]20 in DPBS (PBS-T), the membranes were incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with a 1:5000 dilution of primary antibody in 5 % milk, before the membranes were washed three-times with PBS-T for 10-15 min at room-temperature. Following incubation for 1 h at room-temperature with a 1:5000 dilution of secondary antibody (*Peroxidase-conjugated AffiniPure F(ab')*² *fragment Goat anti-mouse IgG(H+L)*, Jackson Immuno Research) in DPBS, the membranes were washed four-times with PBS-T for 10-15 min at room-temperature and once with DPBS for 5 min at room-temperature before the blots were developed (ChemiGlowTM, Alpha Innotech), according to manufacturer's instructions, and analyzed (FluorChemTM SP, Alpha Innotech).

7.2 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbant Assay (ELISA)

Determination of Serum-Antibody-Titers

For the determination of serum-antibody-titers, each well of a *MaxiSorp*TM plate (NuncTM) was coated with 50 µl of a 1 µg/ml antigen-dilution in 0.1 M NaHCO₃-buffer, pH 9.3 and incubated over-night at 4 °C. The next day, the coating solution was discarded and 100 µl of blocking buffer containing 2 % BSA in DPBS was added per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature. After incubation, the plates were washed three-times with 300 µl of 0.1 % Tween[®]20 in DPBS (PBS-T) per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with 50 µl of pre-diluted serum – 5-fold dilutions in 1 % BSA in DPBS (dilution buffer) – per well. After incubation, the plates were washed three-times with 300 µl of PBS-T and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with 50 µl of pre-diluted secondary antibody (*"Polyclonal Rabbit Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulins/HRP"*, DAKO, 1:1,000 in dilution buffer, or *"*Goat Anti-Human IgG-HRP, SouthernBiotech, 1:4,000 in dilution buffer). The plates were finally washed three-times in the *"*overflow"-mode with 300 µl of PBS-T per well. Following the light-protected incubation for 30 min at room-temperature, with 50 µl ABTS (SIGMA) per well, the OD₄₀₅ was determined and the data were analyzed (Gen5TM, BioTek).

Peptide ELISA

For the determination of the peptide-recognition-profile of hyperimmune-sera generated against several PspA-constructs, pre-coated streptavidin-plates (NuncTM) were washed three-times using 300 μ l of 0.1 % Tween[®]20 in DPBS (PBS-T) per well and subsequently coated with 100 μ l of the appropriate peptides (1 μ g/ml) in PBS-T and incubated over-night at 4 °C.

The next day, the coating solution was discarded and 100 μ l of blocking buffer containing 2 % BSA in DPBS were added per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature. After incubation, the plates were washed three-times with 300 μ l of PBS-T per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with 50 μ l of pre-diluted serum – 5-fold dilutions in 1 % BSA in DPBS (dilution buffer) – per well. After incubation, the plates were washed three-times with 300 μ l of PBS-T per well and incubated for 1 h at room-temperature with 300 μ l of secondary antibody (*"Polyclonal Rabbit Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulins/HRP"*, DAKO) in dilution buffer. The plates were finally washed three-times in the "overflow"-mode with 300 μ l of PBS-T per well. Following the light-protected incubation for 30 min at room-temperature, with 50 μ l

ABTS (SIGMA) per well, the OD_{405} was determined and the data were analyzed (Gen5TM, BioTek).

IL-6 ELISA

The IL-6 levels of pre- and hyperimmune-sera from *M. musculus* were determined using the "*Mouse IL-6 ELISA Ready-SET-Go*![®]" kit (eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's protocol (Technical Data Sheet "*Mouse IL-6 ELISA Ready-Set-Go*![®]"; page 1-6) and the data were analyzed (Gen5TM, BioTek).

7.3 Surface Staining of Live Pneumococci

For the surface staining and subsequent flow cytometric analysis, 5 ml THY over-night cultures of several *S. pneumoniae* strains were grown from glycerol stock at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. The next day, 10 ml of pre-warmed THY were inoculated with 0.5 ml of the over-night culture and the bacteria were grown to $OD_{620} = 0.3$. 2 ml of this culture were centrifuged at 4 °C for 5 min at 1000 x g, the pellet was washed twice with 2 ml of 2 % BSA in HBSS and re-suspended. The bacterial cells were diluted to $5x10^5$ cells in 100 µl of 2 % BSA in HBSS, added to a 96-well plate (U-bottom, NuncTM) and subsequently incubated at 4 °C for 45 min with primary antibody or serum. Following washing with 150 µl of 2 % BSA in HBSS per well and centrifugation at 4 °C for 5 min at 1000 x g, the secondary antibody was added and incubated at 4 °C for 45 min in the dark. This was followed by another washing and centrifugation step, and an incubation at 4 °C for 10 min in the dark with 0.05 µl of SYTO®60 (Invitrogen) in 100 µl HBSS. After a final washing and centrifugation step, the cells were fixed over-night with 200 µl of 2 % paraformaldehyde per well at 4 °C. The stained cells were measured (FC-500 Analyzer, BeckmanCoulter) and the data were evaluated (FCSExpress; DeNovoSoftware).

7.4 Surface Staining of Eukaryotic Cells

Several eukaryotic cells (HL-60, HEK 293T, hybridoma and hPBMCs) were used for surface-staining for flow-cytometric analyses according to the following protocol, which was slightly modified in some cases if required (see Results and Discussion where done).

Briefly, the eukaryotic cells were washed in FACS-buffer containing 2 % FCS and 0.01 \% NaN_3 in DPBS, centrifuged for 10 min at $1000 \times \text{g}$ and diluted in FACS-buffer to 1×10^6 cells/ml. 1×10^5 cells/well were subsequently incubated with the required dilutions of

primary antibody or serum for 45 min, on ice, in the dark. Following centrifugation for 10 min at 1000 x g, the cells were washed with 150 μ l of FACS-buffer and 100 μ l of secondary antibody, diluted in FACS-buffer, were added and incubated for 45 min on ice, in the dark. After a final washing step with 150 μ l of DPBS and centrifugation for 10 min at 1000 x g, the cells were resuspended in 200 μ l of DPBS and subjected to flow-cytometric analysis (FC-500 Analyzer, BeckmanCoulter) and the data were evaluated (FCSExpress; DeNovoSoftware).

7.5 Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay

Purification of IgG from M. musculus Sera

After thawing, heat-inactivation at 56 °C for 45 min and centrifugation at 4 °C for 5 min at full-speed, the mouse-sera were filtered through a 0.2 μ m syringe filter (PALL). Following a dilution of 1:3 in Binding Buffer pH 5.0 (Pierce) the sera were loaded onto *BioRad Micro Bio-Spin® Chromatography Columns* (BioRad), packed with washed – 10 column volumes of Binding Buffer pH 5.0 – *"Ultralink Immobilized Protein G"* (Pierce; gel capacity approx. 20 mg IgG/ml). After collecting the flow-through, the column was washed with 20 column volumes of Binding Buffer pH 5.0 before the bound IgG was eluted with 5 column volumes of Elution Buffer pH 2.5 (Pierce) and immediately neutralized by adjusting the pH with 100 μ l of 1 M Tris buffer pH 8.0 per 1000 μ l eluate. After two cycles of dialysis against DPBS, in a Slide-A-Lyzer® Dialysis Cassette (10,000 MWCO, Pierce), SDS-PAGE with subsequent Coomassie-staining was performed.

Determination of the Hemolytic Unit [HU] of PLY

The setup of the hemolysis (inhibition) assay is based on literature protocols ^[301, 392] being modified regarding the following procedure.

200 µl of freshly isolated hRBCs in DPBS ($5x10^8$ cells/ml) were incubated with 50 µl of a serial dilution series of PLY in triplicates for 1 h at 37 °C and constantly slow shaking. After a centrifugation step at 4 °C for 5 min at 4400 rpm, the supernatant was transferred into a 96-flat bottom plate (Nunc) and the OD₅₄₁ was determined. Using dH₂O as positive control (100 % hemolysis) and DPBS as blank (0 % hemolysis) as standards in triplicates, the hemolytic unit of PLY was calculated, where 1 HU was defined as the concentration of PLY required to induce 50 % hemolysis of hRBCs.

The Optimized Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay

After the HU of the recombinant PLY was determined (which should be determined for all isolations of hRBCs prior to the inhibition-assay), the hemolyis-inhibition assay was setup according to the following scheme (Figure 15). Briefly, several fold-dilutions of antibody (*e.g.* mAb or IgG from serum) were incubated with 2 HU of PLY for 1 h at 37 °C and constantly slow shaking before 200 μ l of freshly isolated hRBCs (5x10⁸ cells/ml in DPBS) were added and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C and constantly slow shaking. Following a centrifugation step at 4 °C for 5 min at 4400 rpm, the supernatant was transferred into a 96-flat bottom plate (Nunc), the OD₅₄₁ was determined and the capacity of hemolysis-inhibition of the antibody was determined.



Figure 15: Schematic Representation of the Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay. (© Lukas Stulik)

7.6 TLR4-Reporter Assay

The TLR4-Reporter Assay was setup according to manufacturer's instructions (InvivoGen) using 1×10^6 HEK-BlueTM hTLR4 cells/ml which were extremely carefully treated (*e.g.* no scraping, no trypsinization of the culture) in order to avoid stress-response and unspecific reporter-activation. Furthermore, just endotoxin (LPS) free reagents and qualified FCS (Gibco) were used in all assay-steps.

For the quantification and assay-control, an *E. coli* LPS (K12, InvivoGen) standardcalibration as well as unrelated antibodies and proteins, in the same buffer and the same LPScontent as the recombinant PLY, were used in each assay.

D - **R**ESULTS

1 GENERATION OF RECOMBINANT PROTEINS

In order to obtain the target antigens for this project, PspA (SP0117), PLY (SP1923) and subconstructs thereof were expressed in recombinant form with a C-terminal His-tag by *XhoI/NcoI* cloning into the pET28b+ expression vector. The whole protein and domains, that were shown to be the most protective and reactive regions in *in vivo* and *in vitro* settings in previous experiments, were used.

1.1 Sequence Information and Designing of the Recombinant Constructs

The expression and purification of recombinant PspA and several subconstructs thereof, was based on the PspA-sequences of the pneumococcal wild-type strains WU2 (PspA Family 1, Clade 2) and TIGR4 (PspA Family 2, Clade 3), as these two strains were shown to be representatives for two different PspA-clades within two different families ^[163].

A

 $\label{eq:msides} M^{3^1} EESPQVVEKSSLEKKYEEAKAKADTAKKDYETAKKKAEDAQKKYEDDQKRTEEKARKEAEASQKLNDVALVVQNAY KEYREVQNQRSKYKSDAEYQKKLTEVDSKIEKARKEQQDLQNKFNEVRAVVVPEPNALAETKKKAEEAKAEEKVAKRK YDYATLKVALAKKEVEAKELEIEKLQYEISTLEQEVATAQHQVDNLKKLLAGADPDDGTEVIEAKLKKGEAELNAKQA ELAKKQTELEKLLDSLDPEGKTQDELDKEAEEAELDKKADELQNKVADLEKEISNLEILLGGADPEDDTAALQNKLAA KKAELAKKQTELEKLLDSLDPEGKTQDELDKEAEEAELDKKADELQNKVADLEKEISNLEILLGGADSEDDTAALQNK LATKKAELEKTQKELDAALNELGPDGDEETPAPAPQPEQPAPAPKPEQPAPKPEQPAPAPKPEQPAPKP$

В

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}^{31} \texttt{ESSPVASQSKAEKDYDAAVKKSEAAKKAYEEAKKALEEAKVAQKKYEDDQKKTEEKAELEKEASEAIAKATEEVQQ\\ AYLAYQRASNKAEAAKMIEEAQRRENEARAKFTTIRTTMVVPEPEQLAETKKKAEEAKAKEPKLAKKAAEAKAKLEEA EKKATEAKPQVDAEEVAPQAKIAELENQVHRLEQELKEIDESESEDYAKEGFRAPLQSKLDAKKAKLSKLEELSDKID ELDAEIAKLEDQLKAVEENNNVEDYSTEGLEKTIAAKKTELEKTEADLKKAVNEPEKSAEEPSQPEKPAEEAPAPEQP TEPTQPEKPAEETPAPKPEKPAEQPKAEKTDDQQAEEDYARRSEEEYNRLTQQQPPKAEKPAPAPQPEQPAPAPKTGW KQENGMWYFYNTDGSMATGWLQNNGSWYYLNSNGAMATGWLQYNGSWYYLNANGAMATGWAKVNGSWYYLNANGSMAT GWVKDGDTWYYLEASGAMKASQWFKVSDKWYYVNSNGAMATGWLQYNGSWYYLNANGAMATGWAKVNGSWYYLNANGS MATGWVKDGDTWYYLEASGAMKASQWFKVSDKWYYVNGSGSLAVNTTVDGYTVNENGEWV⁶³⁵LEHHHHHH *$$

Figure 16: Amino Acid Sequences of Recombinant PspA_FL_T4 (A) and PspA_FL_WU2 (B). The recombinant proteins PspA_FL_T4 and PspA_FL_WU2 cover the amino acid sequences (normal letters) 32 to 538 (T4) and 32 to 635 (WU2) of the corresponding native proteins. All amino acids highlighted in gray originate from the pET28b+ vector backbone.

The alignment of all published PspA-sequences ^[390] of different pneumococcal backgrounds indicated that both strains express PspA with a sequence variation within the clade-defining region ("B") (Supplementary Figure 1) as described in the literature ^[163, 170, 193-199]. Sequence alignments of the proline-rich regions (Supplementary Figure 2 and Supplementary Figure 3) further confirmed that just PspA from WU2 and not from TIGR4 contains the non-

proline block within the proline-rich region (Supplementary Figure 3), which is described in literature as another fundamental difference of the two types of PspA. ^[124, 163, 180, 187-190]

Recombinant PspA (SP0117) from *S. pneumoniae* strain TIGR4 (serotype 4; PspA Family 2, Clade 3) and WU2 (serotype 3; PspA Family 1, Clade 2) were designed with expected molecular weights of 56.5 kDa (corresponding to amino acids 32 to 538 (Figure 16-A) of the native protein) and 67.6 kDa (corresponding to amino acids 32 to 635 (Figure 16-B) of the native protein) respectively avoiding the hydrophobic C-terminal cell wall binding domain.

For the determination of the *in vivo* and *in vitro* protective and functional characteristics, several subconstructs of PspA were also cloned and expressed in recombinant form from the *S. pneumoniae* TIGR4 and WU2 backgrounds (Figure 17). For each genetic background one construct comprising the proline-rich region, one covering the clade defining region ("B") and one consisting of the immunodominant epitope of the clade defining region and the proline-rich region (see Figure 17 for details), was generated.



Figure 17: Recombinant Constructs of PspA (SP0117). Aligned to the native protein structure of PspA from S. pneumoniae TIGR4 (A), the generated recombinant protein constructs for TIGR4 (B) and WU2 (C) are indicated. Based on the low sequence similarity of WU2 to TIGR4, this figure just indicates the sizes of the WU2 constructs, including the non-proline block insertion (pink box) and not the real positions thereof in the native protein structure. (modified from ^[185, 193])

Likewise, PLY and variants thereof were expressed and purified in recombinant form only from the *S. pneumoniae* TIGR4 background as this protein is completely conserved across all pneumococcal strains (Figure 18).

$$\label{eq:sigma} \begin{split} \mathbf{M}^{1} & \texttt{MANKAVNDFILAMNYDKKKLLTHQGESIENRFIKEGNQLPDEFVVIERKKRSLSTNTSDISVTATNDSRLYPGALL} \\ & \texttt{VVDETLLENNPTLLAVDRAPMTYSIDLPGLASSDSFLQVEDPSNSSVRGAVNDLLAKWHQDYGQVNNVPA}^{146} & \texttt{RMQYEK} \\ & \texttt{ITAHSMEQLKVKFGSDFEKTGNSLDIDFNSVHSGEKQIQIVNFKQIYYTVSVDAVKNPGDVFQDTVTVEDLKQRGISA} \\ & \texttt{ERPLVYISSVAYGRQVYLKLETTSKSDEVEAAFEALIKGVKVAPQTEWKQILDNTEVKAVILGGDPSSGARVVTGKVD} \\ & \texttt{MVEDLIQEGSRFTADHPGLPISYTTSFLRDNVVATFQNSTDYVETKVTAYR}^{359} \\ & \texttt{MGDLLLDHSGAYVAQYYITWNELSY} \\ & \texttt{DHQGKEVLTPKAWDRNGQDLTAHFTTSIPLKGNVRNLSVKIRECTGLAWEWWRTVYEKTDLPLVRKRTISIWGTTLYP} \\ & \texttt{QVEDKVEND}^{471} \\ & \texttt{LEHHHHH}^{*} \end{split}$$

Figure 18: Amino Acid Sequences of Recombinant PLY and Constructs Thereof. The recombinant protein PLY covers the full amino acid sequence 1 to 471 of the corresponding native protein. For PLD, the site of deletion of A146 is highlighted in red and the sequence for domain 4, which was deleted in PLY Δ D4, is underlined. All amino acids highlighted in gray originate from the pET28b+ vector backbone.

Thus the wild-type toxin (PLY, 52.9 kDa, corresponding to amino acids 1 to 471 of the native protein), as well as the mutant toxoids PLD (52.8 kDa, corresponding to amino acids 1 to 471 of the native protein with a deletion of A146^[393]) and PLY Δ D4 (43.5 kDa, corresponding to amino acids 1 to 359 of the native protein, with the cell-binding domain 4 being deleted) were generated.

1.2 Cloning and Protein Expression

In the following the main steps for cloning and protein purification are outlined and exemplified on the procedure for the recombinant proteins PspA_B_T4 and PspA_FL_T4. The obtained quantitative and qualitative information for each recombinant protein generated are summarized at the end of this chapter (Table 4).

After cloning of the insert-sequences into the expression vector pET28b+, the recombinant plasmid DNA was amplified in DH5 α cells and subjected to colony PCR using T7 promoter and terminator specific primers in order to screen for positive clones (Figure 19). The colony PCR proves the expected fragment sizes and positive insertion of insert DNA into the pET28b+ vector for several clones (lanes 1,4,7,8,10,12,14 and 15) and reveals negative clones (lanes 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, 11 and 13) which were not further processed.



Figure 19: Colony PCR. Clones for PspA_B_T4 (lanes 1-7; expected insert size: 314 bp) and PspA_FL_T4 (lanes 8-15; expected insert size: 2139 bp) were randomly picked and used as template in colony PCR with T7 promoter and terminator specific primers. Water was included as negative control (neg).

The plasmid DNA from positive DH5 α -clones was subsequently amplified, purified (Figure 20-A) and subjected to a double-restriction digest with *XhoI* and *NcoI* to reanalyze the successful DNA-insertion into the pET28b+ backbone by comparing the computationally expected fragment sizes and the fragment sizes obtained following the digest and agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 20-B).



Figure 20: Plasmid Purification and Double-Restriction Digest. A. Successful plasmid purification was confirmed by agarose gel-electrophoresis for the recombinant plasmid DNA of PspA_B_T4 (lanes/clones 4, 7) and PspA_FL_T4 (lanes/clones 10, 12) B. Restriction digest of the plasmids the fragment size were analyzed on an agarose gel. The expected fragment sizes for the inserts were 314 bp for PspA_B_T4 and 2139 bp for PspA_FL_T4 and 5368 bp for the pET28b+ backbone after the double digest.

To indemnify the sequence-accuracy, positive plasmid DNA was finally sent for sequencing to MWG Biotech.

The sequenced, insert-positive, plasmid DNA was further used to transform BL21(DE3) *E. coli* expression host cells. Following successful transformation, these cells were used for small-scale expression experiments *via* IPTG induction, hence the checking for the expression of the protein of interest in recombinant form. For this purpose the total bacterial lysate (t),

soluble (s) and insoluble (i) fractions were separated by SDS-PAGE and proteins were visualized by Coomassie-staining (Figure 21-A) and Western blot analysis (Figure 21-B).



Figure 21: Example for a Small Scale Expression - PspA_B_T4. The successful small scale expression of recombinant PspA_B_T4 was confirmed by Coomassie-staining (A) and Western blot analysis (B). The expected protein size of approximately 12 kDa is indicated by an arrow.

Following a successful small-scale expression, the recombinant proteins were expressed on large scale and purified *via* IMAC using an imidazole gradient. Fractions were collected after each step and 5 μ l of each were subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis in order to monitor the purification (Figure 22).



Figure 22: Monitoring of the IMAC-Purification. The purification success of PspA_B_T4 is exemplified, where the fractions of the IMAC-purification using an imidazole-gradient were analyzed via SDS-PAGE and subsequent Coomassie-staining (lanes 1-7).

The fractions containing the target protein, were subsequently pooled and dialyzed, centrifuged, filtered and subjected to SDS-PAGE and Coomassie-staining to analyze the protein quality (for an example see Figure 23).



Figure 23: Quality Control Post Dialysis. Purified PspA_B_T4 is shown as representative: First the protein was dialyzed (lane 1), then precipitated protein was removed by centrifugation and the remaining soluble fraction was loaded (lane 2) and filtered through a MustangE membrane to reduce the endotoxin content (lane 3).

The concentration and endotoxin content were determined as summarized in Table 4 for all proteins that were expressed in the course of this study.

Protein	MW [kDa]	pI	Fraction	Concentration [mg/ml]	Endoxin (LPS) [EU/mg]	
PLY_WT	52.898	5.19	soluble	3.10	182	
PLY_MUT (= PLD; deletion of A146)	52.827	5.19	soluble	1.65	733	
PLYAD4	43.513	5.68	soluble	1.14	167	
PspA_B_T4	11.391	4.22	soluble	0.52	97	
PspA_B_WU2	11.225	4.63	soluble	18.79	6	
PspA_Pro_T4	9.443	4.64	soluble	1.20	107	
PspA_Pro_WU2	11.192	4.38	soluble	3.00	3748	
PspA_Pro+partB_T4	12.662	4.81	soluble	1.91	106	
PspA_Pro+partB_WU2	13.619	4.58	soluble	6.00	3960	
PspA_FL_T4	56.468	4.75	soluble	2.81	502	

Table 4: Overview of All Proteins Purified in Recombinant Form.

Solely the aimed expression of PspA_FL_WU2 was not successful, although the cloning into the expression vector was found to work as expected (data not shown). Thus, a new reconstruction and amplification of the sequence from the gDNA of WU2 as well as the cloning into different protein-expression hosts such as Rosetta[™] 2(DE3)pLysS cells might be useful in the future.

2 GENERATION AND SCREENING OF MOUSE HYPERIMMUNE SERA

For the generation of hyperimmune sera five mice per group were immunized with recombinant variants of PspA and PLY *s.c.*. Following terminal bleeding, the antibody titers (EC50) of individual mice were determined and compared to the corresponding pre-immune sera in ELISA-based screenings (exemplified in Figure 24).



Figure 24: Results of the Titer-Screening of Hyperimmune Sera. The serum screening of three mice immunized with $PspA_B_T4$ (CGI/LST3742 Group-N° 10) is exemplified by showing the obtained serum-titration graphs for pre- and hyperimmune-sera (A), the calculated log-curves thereof (B) and the results-table, indicating the EC50 values (C).

It was noted that during the immunization-procedure, mice of different groups died or had to be sacrificed after the second immunization on day 14 as some mice showed severe reactions (*e.g.* ventral position, pulmonary ventilation rates of 28 bpm, being catatonic, *etc.*). These observations, which were not consistent in-between both experiments, cannot be explained or traced back on any operational-errors being made. None of the mice had pre-existing antibodies specific for the immunogens used and all surviving mice developed very high hyperimmune serum titers, hence were successfully immunized with the constructs applied (summarized in Supplementary Figure 4 to Supplementary Figure 6).

3 THE IN VIVO VIRULENCE OF PNEUMOCOCCI IN MOUSE VIA DIFFERENT APPLICATION ROUTES

The *in vivo* virulence of *S. pneumoniae* is not only dependent on the strain *i.e.* the genetic background but also on the routes of infection, thus for all strains that were subsequently used for passive immunization studies with polyclonal mouse antibodies, the LD₉₀ (lethal dose 90) was determined in dose titration experiments – all dose-titrations carried out in the course of this project are summarized in Supplementary Table 10.

It was previously determined that the strain PJ1324 (6B) was virulent when used *i.p.* but avirulent in an *i.n.* challenge (data not shown), and the results obtained for the *i.v.* dose-titration experiments indicate that the strain PJ1324 (6B) was not virulent in this setting (Figure 25-A).

The highly virulent character of the *S. pneumoniae* D39 indicated by the high lethality in the *i.v.* and *i.p.* model (Figure 25-C and E) was also observed when using this strain in an *i.p.* lethal sepsis model with just 10 cfu – as discussed for the *in vivo* efficacy of anti-PspA and anti-PLY antibodies in the following chapters. As a lower challenge dose was not feasible this strain could not be used as challenge strain.

The pneumococcal strains TIGR4 and WU2 were virulent in the chosen setting without being too lethal at higher challenge doses (Figure 25-B and D respectively). Hence, these strains were used in *i.v.* models of bacterial challenge (5x10³ cfu/mouse for TIGR4 and 5x10⁵ cfu/mouse for WU2) as representatives for Family 1 and 2 PspA strains in order to determine the *in vivo* efficacy of anti-PspA and anti-PLY polyclonal antibodies as discussed in the following chapters.



Figure 25: Dose Titration for the i.v. and i.p. Challenge with S. pneumoniae. The in vivo virulence was tested by infecting 5 mice per group with the strains PJ1324 (A), TIGR4 (B), D39 (C) and WU2 (D) i.v. and with the strain D39 (E) i.p.. The LD₉₀ dose for each strain was determined by injecting four different challenge doses (cfu).

- 4 ANTIGEN SPECIFIC ASSAYS AND EXPERIMENTS
- 4.1 Lipoteichoic acid (LTA)
- 4.1.1 Optimization of the Purification and Quantification of LTA

Optimization of the HIC-Purification Procedure

In order to determine the optimal elution conditions for the hydrophobic interaction chromatography (HIC) with *Octyl Sepharose*TM for the purification of LTA from *S. pneumoniae* ^[126], commercially available, purified and quantified LTA from *S. pyogenes* (group A streptococcus; GAS) was used in a small scale experiment.

For this purpose triplicates of GAS-LTA (100 μ g each) were diluted in three different HIC starting buffers (0 %, 5 % and 15 % n-propanol added) and subjected to HIC-purification with an n-propanol gradient (0-100 %), before all fractions were subsequently screened for their LTA-content *via* a GAS-LTA-specific ELISA.

The ELISA read-outs (absorbance at OD₄₀₅) for all three runs (Figure 26) indicate that all three starting-buffer-compositions are suitable for the purification of GAS-LTA by means of HIC. Furthermore the most quantitative elution was achieved using an n-propanol content of 30-60 % (indicated by the red box in Figure 26).



Figure 26: ELISA-Read-Outs of the HIC-Optimization with GAS-LTA. The quantitative elution of GAS-LTA from the Octyl SepharoseTM resin was optimized using different compositions of starting buffer and an increasing n-propanol gradient. Eluted fractions were analyzed for their LTA-content by an LTA-specific ELISA.

Based on these results, a HIC starting-buffer without n-propanol was selected for the rehydration of the lyophilized extracts of pneumococcal LTA, and a gently inclining n-propanolgradient between 30 % and 70 % with higher fraction-numbers and lower fraction-volumes, was used in order to maximize the yield and quality for all HIC-runs.

Optimization of the Quantification Procedure

By applying the established HIC-purification protocol, LTA from the *S. pneumoniae* strains PJ1324 (6B) and TIGR4 was aimed to be purified in the course of eight different purification-approaches.

All fractions obtained from four different runs – exemplified by the chromatogram of runnumber 1 in Figure 27 – were subsequently screened for their phosphate content by means of the *phosphomolybdenum-blue* reaction described in the literature. ^[126]



Figure 27: Chromatogram of a HIC-Run. The HIC-based purification of LTA was monitored by recording the absorbance at 260 nm (dark red) and 485 nm (blue), the conductivity (brown), the solvent-gradient-concentration (green) and the fraction number (red). This is exemplified by the chromatogram recorded for the purification of LTA from 500 ml of an over-night culture of the S. pneumoniae strain PJ1324 (6B).

In order to quantify the purified pneumococcal LTA, a standard calibration using GAS-LTA (ranging from 1x10^o mg/ml to 5.12x10⁻⁷ mg/ml LTA; exemplified in Figure 28) was established and included in each phosphomolybdenum-blue screening of the HIC fractions.



Figure 28: Standard Calibration for the Phosphomolybdenum-Blue Reaction. The standard calibration which was included in all detection approaches of pneumococcal LTA post HIC was set-up and used in a broad concentration-range between 1x10^o mg/ml to 5.12x10⁻⁷ mg/ml of GAS-LTA.



Figure 29: Result for the Phosphomolybdenum-Blue Reaction of Pneumococcal LTA. The phosphatescreening is exemplified for all HIC-fractions obtained from 500 ml of an o/n culture of the S. pneumoniae strain PJ1324 (6B).

The fractions of all HIC-runs that were subjected to the phosphomolybdenum-blue reaction, showed the same picture as exemplified for run-number 1 in Figure 29. The high background and the low detection-efficiency were found to be independent of the culture volume – 500 ml to 10 L of o/n cultures were tested – and the *S. pneumoniae* strain used.

Although the phosphomolybdenum-blue based quantification method was described as relatively sensitive standard screening procedure during LTA isolation in the literature ^[126], the detection limit was above the concentration of pneumococcal LTA in the HIC fractions. Based on the calibration with GAS-LTA, a concentration below 100 μ g/ml could not be detected with sufficient reliability thus it was concluded that this method was not suitable for the detection of pneumococcal LTA.

In order to establish an alternative suitable LTA-detection method, an *ELISA-based quantification* approach using GAS-LTA-specific primary antibodies was set-up. For this purpose several LTA-specific antibodies were cross-titrated with different concentrations of GAS-LTA to determine their optimal working concentration (data not shown). The antibody with the highest sensitivity (Gram Positive Bacteria Antibody, Mouse Monoclonal IgG1 Antibody, GenWay; working dilution of 1:200) was henceforth used for all ELISA-based LTA-screenings. The limit of detection for GAS-LTA was found to be 0.1 ng/ml at a 1:200 dilution of the primary antibody (data not shown).

This ELISA-based detection – optimized and functional for GAS-LTA – was also shown to allow the detection of pneumococcal LTA in several purification approaches. An example for the purification of TIGR4-LTA is given in Figure 30.



Figure 30: ELISA-Based Screening of HIC-Fractions of Pneumococcal LTA. The ELISA-screening is exemplified for all HIC-fractions obtained from 10 L of an o/n culture of the S. pneumoniae strain TIGR4.

Finally, in order to optimize the qualification and quantification of isolated and purified pneumococcal LTA a *PAGE-based separation* with a subsequent, *combined Alcian-Blue and silver-staining* was investigated.

For the initial set-up of this method, Tris-Borate-EDTA gels (30-40 %) were loaded and run with different concentrations of LTA from *S. pyogenes* before staining. As these precast gels were extremely fragile, the quality of the gels and therefore the results obtained therewith were not satisfactory (data not shown).

Thus subsequently LTA from *S. pyogenes* was separated on Tris-Borate-EDTA gradientgels (4-20%) loaded with two different loading dyes (native loading dye and OrangeG+sucrose), (Figure 31-A) and silver-stained without previous Alcian-Blue staining (Figure 31-B).



Figure 31: PAGE-Separation (A) and Silver Staining Approach (B) for GAS-LTA. The PAGE-based purification of LTA from S. pyogenes was carried out using a 4-20 % TBE-Gel without Alcian-Blue staining prior to silver-staining. Next to the GeneRuler 1kb DNA-Ladder (lane 1) and PageRuler Plus Prestained Protein Ladder (lane 2), GAS-LTA was loaded in three concentrations (10 μ g, 1 μ g and 0.1 μ g) in native loading dye (lanes 3-5) and OrangeG+sucrose (lanes 6-8).

The stained gel (Figure 31-B) showed that both loading dyes were suitable for loading of the gel but that the use of the native loading dye (lanes 3-5) led to a more band-like separation as described in the literature ^[389, 394-395] - compared to the OrangeG+sucrose which led to cone-like lanes (6-8). Further can be observed that the detection-limit for GAS-LTA was reached when loading and separating 1 μ g of this antigen, which is approximately 10,000-fold lower than achieved with the GAS-LTA specific ELISA described before.

As a smear of the native GAS-LTA was visible after silver staining of the polyacrylamide gel (Figure 31-B), GAS-LTA (100 μ g) was subjected to a literature-based deacylation procedure according to the published protocol ^[391]. This procedure should result in a banding pattern after

separating and visualizing different fractions of the chemically treated LTA *via* PAGE and silver-staining. When evaluating the PAGE-gel post staining (data not shown), it was noted that no traces of any chemically decayed LTA were evident, although the markers and the native GAS-LTA-control showed the same profiles as in the initial setup (Figure 31). Therefore it was concluded that the apparent loss of LTA during the chemical treatments, possibly yields amounts of decayed LTA being lower than the detection limit of the PAGE and silver-staining. Alternatively the chemical treatment might have employed too harsh conditions that led to a total decomposition of the native LTA.

Taken together the results obtained with the PAGE-based visualization of quite high amounts of GAS-LTA, were not promising with regards to further application of this procedure for the qualification and quantification of pneumococcal LTA. Thus, this approach was not followed up further in the course of this project.

4.2 Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA, SP0117)

4.2.1 In vitro Assays using Polyclonal Antibodies Generated vs. PspA Constructs

Peptide ELISA

In order to determine if hyperimmune-sera generated against different recombinant PspA-constructs based on the *S. pneumoniae* strains WU2 and TIGR4 recognize linear epitopes of PspA, an ELISA using 25 aa long peptides covering the expressed PspA_FL variant from TIGR4 with a 5 aa overlap was carried out. As controls, the recombinant proteins PspA_FL_T4 and PspA_Pro+PartB_WU2, purified polyclonal mouse IgG generated against PspA_FL_T4 and a mouse mAb – 3G3E8E3 recognizing the PspA peptide IEKLQYEISTLEQEVATAQHQVDNLKKLLA (peptide N° 8) – were included.

All hyperimmune-sera recognized the two recombinant protein-controls used (data not shown). The mAb- and IgG-controls bound to the peptides as expected, showing specific recognition of peptide N° 8 by mAb 3G3E8E3 and a broad recognition of multiple peptides, with strongest binding in the proline-rich region by the polyclonal IgGs.

The data (Figure 32) indicate that hyperimmune sera against PspA_FL_T4, PspA_B_T4 and PspA_Pro+PartB_T4 contain antibodies recognizing the majority of the peptides distributed over the whole sequence. These sera also recognized linear epitopes in the coiled-coil region. In general, hyperimmune sera against PspA_B_WU2 and PspA_Pro_WU2 showed only low reactivity with the peptides tested, likely based on the fact that the peptides were not generated

against the PspA-sequence of WU2 (PspA Family 1, Clade 2) but for TIGR4 (PspA Family 2, Clade 3). All other sera tested, showed a medium to high reactivity within different regions of PspA independent of the constructs sequence.



Figure 32: Results for the Peptide ELISA. The overlapping 25 aa long peptides were generated based on the amino-acid sequence of PspA from S. pneumoniae TIGR4. (A) Structural features of PspA and the antigen-constructs used for the generation of the hyperimmune-sera are represented. (B) The peptide-recognition by the HI-sera and the control antibodies used is depicted with the most strongly recognized regions highlighted in red.

Surface-Staining of Live Pneumococci

Hyperimmune-sera generated in experiment CGI/LST3742 were subsequently checked for their capability of recognizing PspA on the surface of different live *S. pneumoniae* strains by means of flow cytometry.

The results (Table 5) suggest a clade-specific recognition of PspA on the pneumococcal surface, reflected by the strong surface staining signal of the TIGR4wt strain with hyperimmune-sera generated against the TIGR4 (PspA Family 2, Clade 3) constructs and D39wt with those against the WU2 (PspA Family 1, Clade 2) constructs respectively.

The specific recognition of PspA on TIGR4wt was confirmed by the absence of staining on a TIGR4ΔPspA strain (lacking PspA expression) using the hyperimmune-sera generated against the recombinant TIGR4-constructs. In addition to that staining by anti-WU2-PspA antibodies was reduced on a TIGR4ΔPspC strain – lacking PspC but still presenting PspA on its surface.

D – Results

Table 5: Results for the Surface Staining of Live S. pneumoniae using HI-Sera (CGI/LST3742). The recognition of different pneumococcal wild-type and mutant strains by hyperimmune-sera was compared to the corresponding pre-immune sera. Results are represented using a color-coding for positive recognition of not less than 49.5 % (+++), not less than 29.5 % (+++), not less than 14.5 % (-).

		TIGR4 WT		TIGR4 ∆PspA		TIGR4 ∆PspC		
			PspA-clade	Serotype	PspA-clade	Serotype	PspA-clade	
		4	3	4	-	4	3	
HI-Serum ID	Target Antigen	Surface Recognition		Surface Recognition		Surface Recognition		
CGI/LST3742-N° 6	PspA_B_WU2	-		-		+		
CGI/LST3742-N° 7	PspA_Pro_WU2	+		+		-		
CGI/LST3742-N° 8	PspA_Pro+PartB_WU2	++		++		+		
CGI/LST3742-N° 9	PspA_FL_T4	+++		-		+++		
CGI/LST3742-N° 10	PspA_B_T4	+++		-		+++		
CGI/LST3742-N° 11	PspA_Pro_T4		++	-		++		
CGI/LST3742-N° 12	CGI/LST3742-N° 12 PspA_Pro+PartB_T4		+++		-		+++	

			EF3030 WT		EF3030 ΔPspA		D39 WT	
		Serotype	PspA-clade	Serotype	PspA-clade	Serotype	PspA-clade	
		19F	1	19F	-	2	2	
Serum ID	Target Antigen	Surface Recognition		Surface Recognition		Surface Recognition		
CGI/LST3742-N° 6	PspA_B_WU2	-		+		+++		
CGI/LST3742-N° 7	PspA_Pro_WU2	-		+		++		
CGI/LST3742-N° 8	PspA_Pro+PartB_WU2		+	+		-	+++	
CGI/LST3742-N° 9	PspA_FL_T4	+		+		+		
CGI/LST3742-N° 10	PspA_B_T4	-		+		-		
CGI/LST3742-N° 11	PspA_Pro_T4	-		+			-	
CGI/LST3742-N° 12 PspA_Pro+PartB_T4		-		+		-		

4.2.2 In vivo Efficacy Testing of Polyclonal Antibodies Generated vs. PspA Constructs

In order to assess the protective efficacy of hyperimmune-sera, generated against different PspA-constructs in the experiments CGI/LST3742 and LST3885, these were examined in passive immunizations studies in mice. 5 mice per group received polyclonal serum 24 h prior to a lethal bacterial challenge. Different *S. pneumoniae* strains – representing different serotypes and PspA clades – and challenge-routes were tested in the course of this study.

The survival of the animals was monitored for 15 days post infection and data thus obtained were statistically evaluated using a Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) Test (data represented in Supplementary Table 12). Mice mock immunized with mouse pre-immune serum and PBS served as negative and PspA_FL polyclonal rabbit serum as positive control.

In two experiments with *i.p.* challenge with strain PJ1324 (serotype 6B; PspA Family 2, Clade 3) (Figure 33) antisera generated against recombinant PspA_FL_T4, PspA_B_T4, PspA_B+Pro_T4 derived from the *S. pneumoniae* strain TIGR4 (serotype 4, PspA Family 2, Clade 3) showed a clade specific protection. Antibodies against the proline-rich region alone
(PspA_Pro_T4) were not fully protective and no cross-clade protection was obtained when using hyperimmune sera generated against the WU2-constructs (serotype 3; PspA Family 1, Clade 2). Although anti-PspA_Pro_T4 antibodies were not shown to be fully protective, statistical comparison with the mock-immunized PBS-control group indicated that all TIGR4-constructs significantly prolonged the survival of the mice (p<0.01).



*Figure 33: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strain PJ1324 (6B). The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test where p<0.01 is indicated with **.*

The *in vivo* efficacy of the hyperimmune sera was re-examined in an *i.p.* challenge model using the *S. pneumoniae* strain D39 (serotype 2, PspA Family 1, Clade 2) and anti-PspA_FL_T4 serum – shown to be fully protective in all previous experiments – as the positive control. A clade-specific protection of 40 % with anti-PspA_B+Pro_WU2 serum was observed (Figure 34).

Further, some extent of cross-clade protection (20 %) was achieved with the hyperimmune-sera generated against PspA_FL_T4, PspA_B+Pro_T4 and PspA_Pro_T4. The positive control, anti-PspA_FL_T4 serum, was not shown to be fully protective in the given setting and the statistical evaluation of the data-sets indicates no significant difference in the survival curve of any of the groups compared to the mock-immunized PBS-group.



Figure 34: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strain D39. The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test.

The hyperimmune sera were subsequently tested in a more natural setting, hence their protective potential was examined in a lethal model of pneumonia using an *i.n.* infection with the pneumococcal strain A66.1 (serotype 3; PspA Family 2, Clade 3) which was shown to specifically induce pneumonia and no other related disease ^[396].

In the experiment LST3897 (Figure 35, left graph) a cross-clade protection with anti-PspA_Pro_T4 serum (20 %), but no protection against lethal challenge with any of the other hyperimmune sera used was observed. Both, the positive control (PspA rabbit serum) as well as the anti-PspA_Pro_T4 serum significantly prolonged the challenge-survival (p<0.01), compared to the mock-immunized group.

As the amounts of remaining hyperimmune sera from the experiment CGI/LST3742 were not sufficient, the experiment LST3897 was repeated in the study LST3909 with another batch of hyperimmune sera generated with exactly the same antigen-preparations (LST3885).

In this experiment LST3909 (Figure 35, right graph) a clade-specific protection using anti-PspA_B_WU2 serum (60 %) and some extent of cross-clade protection with hyperimmune sera raised against PspA_B+Pro_T4 (40 %), PspA_B_T4 (20 %) and PspA_Pro_T4 (20 %) was observed. Statistical analysis further indicated significant prolonged survival of the positive control PspA_FL polyclonal rabbit serum (p<0.01), anti-PspA_B_WU2 serum (p<0.01) and anti-PspA_Pro_WU2 serum (p<0.05), but no significant protection with any antibodies against the TIGR4-constructs.



Figure 35: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.n. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strain A66.1. The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test where p<0.01 (**) and p<0.05 (*) are indicated.

Finally, in a different experimental setting, mice were infected *i.v.* in a lethal sepsis model with the strains TIGR4 (serotype 4, PspA Family 2, Clade 3) and WU2 (serotype 3, PspA Family 1, Clade 2) using the optimized (LST3898) challenge-doses of 5x10³ cfu/mouse and 5x10⁵ cfu/mouse respectively.

The hyperimmune sera generated in LST3885 were not protective and did not induce a statistically significant prolonged survival against *i.v.* challenge with the strain TIGR4 (Figure 36, left graph). Nonetheless after *i.v.* challenge with the strain WU2 (Figure 36, right graph) anti-PspA_Pro_WU2 and anti-PspA_B+Pro_WU2 hyperimmune sera showed full protection with a p-value below 0.05 but antibodies against the B-region alone showed no effect.



Figure 36: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.v. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strains TIGR4 and WU2. The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test where p<0.05 is indicated with *.

4.3 Pneumolysin (PLY, SP1923)

4.3.1 In vivo Efficacy Testing of Polyclonal Antibodies Generated vs. PLY Constructs

In order to determine the protective efficacy of hyperimmune-sera generated against PLY, PLD and PLY Δ D4, these were tested in passive immunizations of C3H/HeN mice in the experiments CGI/LST3742 and LST3885. 5 mice per group received 10 µl of the PLY specific

serum each 24 h prior to lethal bacterial challenge with different *S. pneumoniae* strains and challenge-routes.

In repeated *i.p.* challenge experiments anti-PLY and anti-PLD sera generated in CGI/LST3742 showed some protection against the pneumococcal strain PJ1324 (serotype 6B) (Figure 37). The protective potential of the polyclonal antibodies generated against PLY was elicited by challenge survivals of 0 % (CGI/LST3742-N°2), 20 % (CGI/LST3742-N°3 and CGI/LST3742-N°4) and 40 % (CGI/LST3742-N°1). As the observed protection differed between the groups, the IL-6 response of mice, immunized with these hyperimmune-sera, was determined 24 h post challenge (LST3872; data presented and discussed in *4.3.2*).

A statistically significant prolonged survival (p<0.05) was observed for two of the anti-PLY groups, namely CGI/LST3742-N°2 and CGI/LST3742-N°3. 40% of the mice that received polyclonal antibodies against PLD survived, resulting in a significantly prolonged survival (p<0.05) compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group.

The commercially available mAb 1F11 also protected 40 % of the mice, giving rise to a statistically significant different survival curve (p<0.05) compared to the mock-immunized control.

PspA_FL polyclonal rabbit serum, which was used as positive control in both experiments, was repeatedly shown to be fully protective and to significantly extend the challenge-survival (p<0.01) compared to the PBS-control group.



Figure 37: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strain PJ1324 (6B). The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test where p<0.01 (**) and p<0.05 (*) are indicated.

Data generated for subsequent testing of the hyperimmune-sera in an *i.p.* challenge with the pneumococcal strain D39 also showed high virulence of the strain (previously discussed in *4.2.2*). Limited protection was only observed in one of the groups immunized with anti-PLY serum (CGI/LST3742-N°4; 20 % survival) and none of the sera was found to induce a statistically significant prolongation of the challenge-survival, compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group (Figure 38).

The positive control – anti-PspA_FL_T4 mouse serum – was not protective in the given setting and the statistical evaluation of the data-sets indicates no significant difference in survival compared to the control-group.



Figure 38: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strain D39. The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test.

In subsequent experiments, evaluating the protective potential of the polyclonal antibodies in a model of lethal pneumonia post *i.n.* infection with the pneumococcal strain A66.1 (serotype 3) no protection upon immunization with anti-PLY serum was observed (Figure 39). Neither antibodies generated against PLD, nor those generated against PLY Δ D4 were protective. Statistical analysis did not reveal any extended survival through administration of polyclonal antibodies compared to the mock-immunized control group. The positive control, PspA_FL polyclonal rabbit serum, was found to be protective and significantly prolonged survival (p<0.01).



Figure 39: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.n. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strain A66.1. The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test where p<0.01 is indicated with *.

Finally, protection was studied in an *i.v.* lethal sepsis model using the pneumococcal strains TIGR4 (serotype 4) and WU2 (serotype 3). Enhanced protection was just observed against WU2-challenge (Figure 40, right graph) using anti-PLD (40 % survival) and anti-PLY Δ D4 (60 % survival) sera generated in LST3885. As both negative control groups (PBS and mouse pre-immune serum) showed 20 % survival, the protection obtained for the group immunized with anti-PLY serum were not considered significant. Statistical analysis showed no significant difference between any of the groups challenged with TIGR4 but a significantly (p<0.05) prolonged survival of the positive control group challenged with WU2.



*Figure 40: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.v. Challenge with the S. pneumoniae Strains TIGR4 and WU2 The survival of individual mice was monitored for 15 days post challenge. All survival-curves were statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group, using the Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test where p<0.05 is indicated with *.*

4.3.2 IL-6 ELISA

As aforementioned, different levels of protection against a lethal challenge (*i.p.* with *S. pneumoniae* A66.1) between mice that were immunized *i.p.* with the same amounts of hyperimmune-sera generated against PLY (see data for LST3872 in the previous sections), were observed. Since PLY acts as a TLR4 agonist it was investigated if differences in the induced cytokine responses correlate with differences in survival.

In preliminary studies, changes in the cytokine-profile of mice infected with pneumococcus were determined in serum 24 h post *i.p.* challenge using a multiplex bead array. Significantly increased IL-6 and IFN- γ levels were observed, but all other cytokines were found to be expressed below the detection limit (unpublished data). Therefore the inflammatory IL-6 response of the mice (24 h post challenge) was determined by analyzing IL-6 levels in the serum in an ELISA-based assay and subsequent statistical comparison (t-test, 1-tailed, type 1) with the

corresponding pre-immune serum pools and the PBS control-group (LST3872-Group N°1). As animal health regulations did not permit to draw sufficient amounts of serum for analysis of single mice, pools of each group were tested (LST3872-Groups N° 4-6 and 13-16).

All IL-6 ELISA read-out data used for the following statistical calculations are represented in the appendix section.

The computed data (Figure 41 and Supplementary Table 15) indicate that, compared to the corresponding pre-immune sera, all groups except of the group immunized with hyperimmune-serum generated against PspA_FL_T4 (CGI/LST3742-N°9) showed a statistically significant increase (p<0.001) in the IL-6 response 24 h post challenge.



Figure 41: Results for the IL-6 ELISA. The concentration of IL-6 was determined in pooled pre-immune sera and pooled sera obtained 24 h post challenge. Results were statistically compared between the sera by means of a t-test (1-tailed, type 1) and significant fold-increases of p<0.001 are depicted as ***.

Calculation of the average fold-changes in the IL-6 response and statistical analysis relative to the mock-immunized PBS-control group revealed that apart from one group (receiving hyperimmune-serum generated against PLY (CGI/LST3742-Group N°4)), all groups show statistically significant decreases in the IL-6 response compared to the control (Figure 42 and Supplementary Table 15).



Figure 42: Statistical Comparison of Immunized Groups vs. PBS Control Group. The IL-6 response in the pooled sera obtained 24 h post challenge was statistically compared to the mock-immunized PBS-control group by means of a t-test (1-tailed, type 1), where p<0.001 (***) and p<0.01 (**) are indicated

Consequently passive immunization with anti-PspA-FL_T4 antibodies was shown to fully inhibit the inflammatory IL-6 immune response, and thus to protect mice from lethal pneumococcal infection (Supplementary Table 15). This correlation between decreased IL-6 response and the observed enhanced challenge-survival is also seen for groups immunized with mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) and polyclonal anti-PLD antibodies.

4.3.3 Setup of Cell Based Functional in vitro Assays

Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay

Since lead mAbs against PLY and constructs thereof should be primarily selected based on their efficacy in inhibiting PLY-induced lysis of hRBCs prior to further evaluation in animal models of protection and inflammation, a *Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay* was set-up in the course of this project.

For the determination of one "Hemolytic Unit" [HU], which was defined as the amount of PLY being required and sufficient for the lysis of 50 % of hRBCs, freshly isolated hRBCs (5x10⁸ cell/ml) were incubated with different concentrations of PLY. ddH₂O and DPBS served as controls for 100 % and 0 % hemolysis respectively. After separation of cells and supernatant, the OD at 541 nm was measured and the % hemolysis was calculated in reference to the controls. Based on titration-curves as exemplified in Figure 43 one HU was determined for each batch of freshly isolated hRBCs. It should be noted that during the assay-setup it was observed that dependent on the quality of the isolated hRBCs, the HU varied significantly (data not shown).

Based on this it was concluded that the HU has to be determined for each batch of isolated hRBCs before the following inhibition assays, whose results strongly depend on the correct determination of the hemolytic unit.



Figure 43: Determination of the Hemolytic Unit. Freshly isolated hRBCs were titrated with different concentrations of PLY and PLD. For both the Hemolytic Unit was determined at 50 % hemolysis, which is indicated by the green lines.

After determination of the HU, a hemolysis-inhibition assay was set-up (schematic representation in Figure 15). For this purpose different amounts of PLY representing 0.5, 1 or 2 HU were incubated with commercially available PLY specific mAbs (1F11, SantaCruz and PLY-4, Abcam) in order to inhibit PLY induced release of hemoglobin. An unrelated mAb (*IC-N°5, 5D12G4B8 PA-169-4*) generated against a protein from *Borrelia burgdorferi* was used as the appropriate negative assay-control in all assays (data not shown).

The molar ratios of PLY to mAb (PLY:mAb) at 50 % hemolysis with an antigen concentration of 1.6x10⁻³ mg/ml (corresponding to 3.0x10⁻⁸ mmol/ml; 2 HU) were 1:50.6 and 1:135.3 for the mAbs 1F11 and PLY-4 respectively. Hence mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) had an approximately 2.7-fold higher hemolysis-inhibition activity than the mAb PLY-4 (Abcam) (represented in Figure 44).



Concentration of mAb [mg/ml]

Figure 44: Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay using Commercial mAbs. Two commercially available mAbs - 1F11 (SantaCruz) and PLY-4 (Abcam) - were titrated for their hemolysis-inhibition potential against different concentrations of PLY.

The observed differences between the mAbs and the finding that the hemolysis of hRBCs by PLY can be fully inhibited, allowed the further establishment of the hemolysis-inhibition assay using the hyperimmune-sera generated in-house against PLY and constructs thereof.

Thus, hyperimmune-sera generated against PLY and PLD (CGI/LST3742 Group-N° 1-5), the corresponding pre-sera, as well as a positive control mAb (1F11, SantaCruz) and a negative-control pre- and hyperimmune-serum (CGI/LST3742 Group-N° 13) were used in an initial setup. The results obtained (Figure 45) indicate unspecific protection against the lysis of hRBCs by the sera, as also the pre-immune sera, as well as the unrelated-controls were protective against hemolysis.



Serum Dilution of 1:

Figure 45: Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay using Hyperimmune-Sera. The anti-sera generated against PLY (G1-G4) and PLD (G5), the corresponding pre-immune sera, as well as a positive control mAb (1F11, SantaCruz) and a negative control pre- and hyperimmune-serum (G13) were tested in several dilutions for their hemolysis-inhibition potential of 2 HU of PLY.

In a repeating experiment the sera were pre-incubated with PLY (1 μ g/ml and 10 μ g/ml) in order to inhibit the unspecific binding of serum-components and hence enhancing the specific protection-potential of the polyclonal antibodies. Differences between the groups (preand hyperimmune sera) as well as the expected results for the controls could now be observed (data not shown). Based on these findings and indicative data found in literature, it was concluded that *inter alia* the relatively high cholesterol-levels in the sera – typically 0.97 mg/ml serum in healthy, female C3H/HeN mice ^[397] – lead to a significant binding of PLY to cholesterol – PLY is characterized as cholesterol-binding protein ^[266] – and hence inhibit the function of PLY, thus inducing an antibody independent inhibition of hemolysis.

To circumvent this, total IgG was purified from a hyperimmune-serum pool (CGI/LST3742 Group-N°4) that showed the highest PLY titer in ELISA (Figure 24), as well as the

corresponding pre-immune serum-pool and commercial serum from naïve mice (PAA), *via* a protein G column-purification.

The purified IgGs were subsequently used for the setup of the hemolysis-inhibition assay as aimed before, using different concentrations of PLY. After removal of cholesterol and other serum-components by column-purification, no antibody-independent protection against the lysis of hRBCs remained, and a PLY-concentration dependent degree of hemolysis was observed (Figure 46).





Figure 46: Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay using Purified IgGs. Polyclonal IgGs against PLY (CGI/LST3742 Group N°4), the positive-control mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) as well as the negative-control, purified IgGs from naïve mouse serum (PAA), were titrated for their inhibitory potential of hemolysis induced by $8.0x10^4$ mg/ml and $1.6x10^{-3}$ mg/ml of PLY.

The molar ratios of PLY to antibody (PLY:HI-IgG or PLY:mAb) at 50 % hemolysis with an initially-used antigen concentration of 1.6x10⁻³ mg/ml (corresponding to 3.0x10⁻⁸ mmol/ml; 2 HU) were 1:3.9 and 1:51.2 for the purified IgGs (from CGI/LST3742-Group-N°4) and mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) respectively. Thus, the data obtained (Figure 46) allow the conclusion that the purified polyclonal IgGs generated against PLY are capable of inhibiting hemolysis, and are expressing an approximately 13.1-fold higher protection-potential than the commercial mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) used as a positive control.

TLR4-Reporter Assay

In addition to their neutralizing activity on erythrocyte-hemolysis lead mAbs should also be capable to interfere with the PLY-induced activation of hTLR4. For this purpose, a *"TLR4-Reporter Assay"* based on the downstream-signaling due to the activation of hTLR4 *via* MyD88, IκB and NFκB leading to the secretion of SEAP, was set-up using commercially available, stably transfected HEK-BlueTM hTLR4 cells (InvivoGen).

In order to determine the optimal assay parameters, and to optimize the data-readout, an initial screening was set-up using different cell numbers for the assay. Therefore three different concentrations of HEK-BlueTM hTLR4 cells were incubated with varying concentrations of PLY, PLD and PLY Δ D4. Dilutions of LPS (K12) from *E. coli* were used as positive-controls and dilutions of an unrelated recombinant protein from *Borrelia burgdorferi*, being in the same buffer and containing approximately the same amounts of LPS as the three PLY constructs, were used.

In initial studies the reporter system was unintentionally activated in an unspecific manner due to standard pipetting of the cells during cultivation (data not shown). Therefore it is emphasized that the HEK-Blue[™] hTLR4 cells have to be handled surpassingly careful, in order to avoid this unspecific activation.

In subsequent experiments (Figure 47) PLY was found to induce killing of HEK-BlueTM cells when used in higher concentration ranges (indicated by the decay of the hTLR4 activation when using concentrations higher than 0.05 mg/ml of PLY, Figure 47-C). However, all three PLY-constructs were capable of activating the hTLR4 in the tested concentration range of $2x10^{-2}$ mg/ml to $6.4x10^{-6}$ mg/ml (Figure 47-C to E).

The optimal cell-number for the assay was determined: 1.25×10^6 cells/ml were too many and 5×10^5 cells/ml were too few cells, leading to unspecific or insufficient activation of the reporter-system respectively. The microscopy-based evaluation of the cell morphology during cultivation showed confluent cells in the wells containing 1.25×10^6 cells/ml and cells in bad shape in both settings (data not shown). Based on this it was concluded that the cell number for the assay is optimal at about 1×10^6 cells/ml where (*i*) the most sufficient activation of the reporter system was observed, (*ii*) the unspecific activation of the reporter-system was not determinable and (*iii*) the controls – LPS and unrelated recombinant protein – gave the expected results (Figure 47). The slightly unspecific activation of the hTLR4-reporter system at high concentrations of unrelated protein (Figure 47-B), might arise from the LPS-content of the



protein-preparation. For screening purposes PLY would be used at a concentration of $4x10^{-3}$ mg/ml where no toxin-independent activation is expected.

Concentration [mg/ml]

Figure 47: Initial Setup of the TLR4-Reporter Assay. For the optimization of the assay conditions, LPS (K12) from E. coli (A) and an unrelated recombinant protein from B. burgorferi (B) were used as positive- and negative-assay controls. The assay was set-up for the determination of the activation capability of the hTLR4-activation by PLY (C), PLD (D) and PLY Δ D4 (E) using three different concentrations of HEK-BlueTM hTLR4 cells.

Finally, the inhibitory effects of the commercial mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) and the purified, polyclonal IgGs generated against PLY (pooled hyperimmune-serum of CGI/LST3742 Group-N°4) on the activation of the hTLR4-reporter system were assessed.

Repeated experiments showed that both - mAb 1F11 and purified IgG – could inhibit the activation of hTLR4 through PLY and PLD in a concentration dependent manner (the results of one experiment are shown in Figure 48).



Concentration [mg/ml]

Figure 48: TLR4-Reporter Assay using Purified IgGs and the Commercial mAb 1F11. Different concentrations of mAb 1F11 ((A) and (B)) and purified, polyclonal IgGs ((C) and (D)) were tested for their inhibitory potential against the activation of hTLR4 by PLD ((A) and (C)) and PLY ((B) and (D)).

Without the use of inhibitory antibodies, PLY and PLD – compared to LPS, which at a concentration of $8x10^{-5}$ mg/ml achieved 100 % hTLR4-activation – were found to induce cell-killing and approximately 67 % activation of the hTLR4-reporter system respectively. Calculating the molar ratios of antigens to antibodies at 50 % hTLR4-activation – correlated to LPS being 100 % – with an initially-used antibody concentration of 2 µg/ml – corresponding to 1.33x10⁻⁵ µmol/ml – resulted in ratios of 1:1.6 (PLY:mAb), 1:1.7 (PLY:HI-IgG), 1:6.9 (PLD:mAb) and 1:7.2 (PLD:HI-IgG). Both – purified polyclonal IgG and the commercial mAb 1F11 – showed stronger inhibition of PLY than PLD.

4.3.4 Flow Cytometric Approaches for the Optimization of Sorting-Conditions for Human B-Cells

For the generation of human mAbs against PLY and other target antigens with the *"Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display"*, the staining conditions for eukaryotic cells needed optimization in order to use them subsequently for flow-cytometry based sorting of human B-cells.

The major limitation of this approach is that PLY specifically binds to all cholesterol containing cell membranes, hence to all eukaryotic cells, leading to antigen independent positive results. Additionally the toxin-like character of PLY, causing cell-lysis, remains problematic. Therefore the use of mutated forms of the toxin – non-cytolytic PLD and PLY Δ D4 lacking the cell binding domain 4 – could circumvent the problems associated with the wild-

type toxin. Due to patent restriction, PLD could not be used for the generation of human mAbs (*Kirkham, et al.; "Mutant pneumolysin proteins" US-Patent N*°7,820,789; *Mitchell, et al. "Novel Adjuvant Compounds", US-Patent Application* 20100166795) and as that the cell binding domain also represents an attractive mAb target the use of PLYΔD4 was also limited.

Thus, the optimization of the sorting conditions for PLY-specific B-cells was explored by using different eukaryotic cells, such as HL-60, HEK-293T, hybridoma and hPBMCs, as well as applying several blocking-reagents and approaches. Recombinantly expressed and purified PLD and PLYΔD4, were used as controls for the staining-optimization with the wild-type toxin.

Initially the cytolytic activity of PLY and PLD on HL-60 cells was evaluated and blocking was tested with the PLY-specific mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz). PLY and PLD bound to HL-60 cells in a concentration-dependent manner – represented for PLD (Figure 49-A). PLY killed the cells even at low concentrations of approximately 2 μ g/ml whereas PLD hardly affected cell viability at higher concentrations of up to 200 μ g/ml (Figure 49-B). Even without a specific incubation step 1 μ g/ml mAb 1F11 were capable to block the binding of PLY and PLD to HL-60 cells (Figure 49-B).



Figure 49: Binding Inhibition of PLY and PLD to HL-60 Cells using the mAb 1F11. A concentrationdependent binding of both antigens – represented for PLD (A) – was evaluated by flow cytometry, where the concentration-dependent effects of the antigens only and in combination with the mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz) on the total cell-count were determined (B).

Subsequently, different blocking reagents namely FCS, AmphotericinB, cholesterol in 100 % ethanol and a water soluble cholesterol-derivative were tested in different concentrations for their ability of blocking the PLY-specific signal (data not shown). In summary, it was found that none of the blocking reagents used was capable to inhibit the binding of PLY to eukaryotic cells completely.

Therefore a peptide (Oxpholipin 11D, peptide-sequence: ECTGLAWEWWRT), reported of binding to cholesterol ^[398], and hence aimed to block the binding of PLY to the cells, was synthesized (ThinkPeptides) and tested. Oxopholipin 11D did not show any concentration-dependent effects, but the signal was found to be slightly blocked when HL-60 cells were pre-incubated with the peptide and PLD – pre-incubated with mAb 1F11 or HI-serum specific for PLY (CGI/LST3742-N°4) – being subsequently added (data not shown). But no complete blocking of the signal could be achieved with the peptide based approach. Possibly through binding of the mAb and the polyclonal antibodies in the HI-serum to the peptide as well as to PLY and/or PLD the observed blocking might have been false-positive, which was difficult to prove.

In a final approach aiming to inhibit binding of PLY and PLD to HL-60 cells, both antigens were coupled to different FluoSpheres[®]. The coupling to all three FluoSpheres[®] tested was successful (data not shown). The amine-modified beads exhibit a concentration-dependent binding with an optimal range between 0.0063-0.0016 % beads per 100 μ l (Figure 50). The poreforming ability of PLY, and hence the induction of the lysis of HL-60 cells was inhibited when the toxin was coupled to the FluoSpheres[®] (Figure 50-A).



Figure 50: Signal Blocking of PLY and PLD Coupled to Amine-Modified FluoSpheres[®]. The inhibition of the unspecific binding of PLY and PLD to HL-60cells was determined by coupling both antigens to amine-modified FluoSpheres[®] and evaluating the binding characteristics for bead-bound PLY (A) and PLD (B) by means of flow-cytometry.

The results obtained for the use of the blocking reagents, Oxpholipin 11D and the antigencoupled FluoSpheres[®] were subsequently checked with other eukaryotic cells than HL-60 cells, namely HEK-293T cells, hybridoma cells and isolated hPBMCs. All these approaches showed extremely low cell recovery when compared to HL-60 cells and hence no conclusion could be drawn at this stage (data not shown).

5 TITER-SCREENINGS OF SERA FROM HEALTHY HUMAN DONORS

In order to find suitable sources for the isolation of hPBMCs and subsequent B-cell sorting as required for the generation of human mAbs based on the mammalian cell surface display technology, thirty-five healthy human blood-donors were screened for their serum-antibody titers against PspA and PLY and constructs thereof.

For this purpose serum-dilutions (200-25,000-fold dilution) of each donor were tested in duplicates in ELISA-based screenings for antibodies against recombinant variants of PspA and PLY. Several high-titer donors were identified for each of the constructs tested (see Figure 51 representing the results obtained for the 1:1000 serum dilutions and the *Appendix* for all data obtained), which suggests potential sources for the aimed isolation and purification of hPBMCs and antigen-specific B-cells.



Figure 51: Human Serum-Titer Screening for Target Antigens. In total 35 healthy donors were tested for their serum-titer against eight pneumococcal antigen-constructs.

E - **DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

The overall aim of the present study was to characterize three highly conserved and pneumococcal-specific target antigens – LTA, PspA and PLY – for their suitability as human mAb-based therapeutics. For this purpose these were expressed, purified and evaluated *in vitro*. Additionally the generation as well as the in-depth characterization of the *in vitro* functionality and *in vivo* efficacy of mouse polyclonal antibodies and human mAbs targeting the three antigens was envisaged.

The advantage in targeting LTA compared to other surface polysaccharides of *S. pneumoniae* would be the conservation of its chemical composition across the whole species ^[63, 108, 119-120] and interference with its complex biological nature *e.g.* interaction with host receptors or activation of inflammatory responses. ^[29-31, 33-36, 63, 128, 133-147, 150-170] Additionally antibodies against the PCho moiety as well as active immunization with protein conjugates were found to be protective against some pneumococcal strains in mice. ^[399-403] However, surface exposure of LTA and thus accessibility to antibodies as well as beneficial effects of anti-LTA antibodies during pneumococcal disease are still controversial. ^[404-406]

LTA was aimed to be isolated in its native form by means of an n-butanol extraction and subsequent HIC-purification from *in vitro* grown pneumococci. Therefore, this purification method described in the literature ^[126] was further optimized by successfully establishing buffer and gradient conditions for the elution of purified and commercially available LTA from *S. pyogenes* in pilot experiments.

One major problem for the LTA purification posed the need for a suitable detection and quantification method. First, the literature based phosphomolybdenum-blue assay ^[126] based on the reactivity of the LTA-phosphate backbone was explored using purified LTA from GAS and HIC fractions containing pneumococcal LTA. It was found that the detection-limit of this assay was 100 μ g/ml for LTA from GAS and that the background in the samples was high. Thus this method was not suitable to screen and select the fractions for further processing.

As an alternative approach an ELISA based assay was set up. For this purpose several commercially available LTA-specific antibodies were screened and a mAb from GenWay detecting LTA from GAS at concentrations of 0.1 ng per ml at an antibody-dilution of 1:200 was selected. This antibody also showed reactivity with pneumococcal structures in the HIC fractions in several purification attempts, suggesting that this assay would be capable to detect

pneumococcal LTA in a fast and easy way. Nevertheless it is important to stress that the extent of the (cross-) reactivity of the used primary mAb – raised against intact *Listeria monocytogenes* – with pneumococcal LTA remains unknown. Antibodies specific for pneumococcal LTA would be the ideal solution but these are currently not commercially available. It was attempted to generate hyperimmune-sera against pneumococcal LTA in house by immunizing mice with the pooled fractions from each of the main peaks from the HIC-run represented in Figure 30. However, none of the two groups raised detectable antibody titers against LTA (data not shown).

It was also attempted to assess the quality of purified LTA in terms of purity by separation on PAGE and subsequent Alcian-Blue and silver staining. This was successful for purified LTA from GAS resulting in a band-like pattern as described in the literature ^[389, 394-395], but due to the high amounts required this was not followed up in the course of this project.

In summary the isolation and purification of pneumococcal LTA require a profound knowledge in carbohydrate chemistry. Due to the time constraints of this project and low immunogenicity of the purified structures, LTA could not be followed up as a target. Future approaches could be based on MS/MS-analyses of the putatively purified LTA which will allow to gather full certainty about the isolated and purified product. In addition it should be emphasized that pneumococcal LTA was already fully chemically synthesized and subjected to structural analyses and biological studies ^[129-130] which presents a potential source for collaboration in the future.

The presence of PspA on all pneumococcal strains, its essentiality as virulence factor, and above all the effective protection against pneumococcal infections observed in animal models make PspA an attractive target for mAb development. ^[174-178, 180, 183, 186, 202-203, 221-223]

The expression and purification of recombinant PspA and several subconstructs thereof, was based on the PspA-sequences of the pneumococcal wild-type strains WU2 (PspA Family 1, Clade 2) and TIGR4 (PspA Family 2, Clade 3), as representatives for the two major PspA-families ^[176]. That way the potential for cross-family-reactive antibodies should be most efficiently explored.

Good antibody titers were raised by *s.c.* immunization which also recognized linear epitopes as determined by peptide ELISA. Primarily sera were screened for differences in surface staining on live pneumococci in order to correlate these findings with subsequent

protection *in vivo*. This would allow establishing a screening assay during human mAb development.

Surface staining of the wild-type strains TIGR4 and D39 indicated a clade-specific recognition of PspA with antibodies generated against the TIGR4- and WU2-constructs respectively. Using a TIGR4ΔPspA strain showed cross-reactivity of the hyperimmune-sera generated against the recombinant WU2-constructs with another protein than PspA, as these sera showed the same profile on the TIGR4 wild-type and knock-out strain. This hypothesis is substantiated by data generated using a TIGR4ΔPspC strain, which suggest that the antibodies rather recognize PspC, another choline binding protein of pneumococci that also contains a proline-rich region. ^[202]

The relatively low antibody binding to the strain EF3030 (PspA Family 1, Clade 1) by all hyperimmune-sera tested, indicated that independent of the background the antibodies were raised against, PspA was recognized in a very clade-specific manner. Thus, although reported in the literature ^[183, 220], no cross-clade reactivity was achieved for any of the generated and tested hyperimmune-sera.

For *in vivo* efficacy testing of antibodies in several different mouse models – challenging with PJ1324 (6B), TIGR4, A66.1, D39 and WU2 in distinct application routes (*i.n., i.p.* and *i.v.*) – were employed.

i.v. challenge with TIGR4 and *i.p.* challenge with D39 was found to be too lethal allowing no significant survival in any of the groups, even not those receiving the positive control – polyclonal anti-PspA_FL_T4 rabbit serum, thus this data were excluded from further analyses. This is in accordance with literature data that suggest difficulties in obtaining complete protection of mice challenged with serotypes 2 and 4 although immunized with the homologous PspA variant. ^[407]

In a model of *i.p.* infection with a PspA Family 2 Clade 3 strain (PJ1324) a clade-specific protection was observed for the anti-PspA sera generated against TIGR4 variants. All antibodies generated against the TIGR4 constructs significantly protected mice with p-values below 0.01, whereas anti-WU2 sera showed no effect. Interestingly, antibodies against the proline-rich region could not protect mice from death consistently although recent reports indicated that the proline-rich region gave rise to cross-clade protection. ^[176, 193, 201-203, 232-233]

Upon *i.v.* challenge with a PspA Family 1 Clade 2 strain (WU2) only a clade-specific protection with anti-Pro_WU2 and anti-Pro+PartB_WU2 sera was observed with p-values below 0.05. Although no cross-clade protection was observed, a protective effect of the proline-rich region was seen, which is in accordance to literature data. ^[176, 193, 201-203, 232-233]

In *i.n.* challenge with a PspA Family 1 Clade 2 strain (A66.1) no consistent cross-clade protection was observed with the sera specific for the TIGR4 variants, except for the positive control rabbit serum against PspA. Whereas in one experiment antibodies against the proline-rich region showed significant protection with a p-value below 0.01, in the other experiment – using a different hyperimmune serum batch – only antibodies against the WU2 constructs significantly protected in a clade-specific manner. As hyperimmune sera generated in different experiments – with the same protein batches and immunization protocol – had to be used for these studies, these were compared for *in vitro* differences. However, mice had no pre-existing antibodies against *S. pneumoniae* and hyperimmune sera did not show any differences in terms of recognition of PspA on the surface of live *S. pneumoniae* strains TIGR4 and A66.1 by means of a flow-cytometry based surface staining (data not shown). Therefore more in depth *in vitro* (*e.g.* OPK assays) and *in vivo* studies would be needed for the LST3885 hyperimmune sera in order to proof their protective-potential observed in initial studies.

In conclusion, hyperimmune sera generated against the different PspA-constructs conferred a clade-specific protection against lethal challenge. Although indicated in the literature ^[176, 193, 201-203, 232-233], none of the PspA sera tested showed significant and consistent protection across PspA clades in any of the lethal challenge-models tested. Based on these data it is likely that a mAb-based therapy would require a cocktail of at least two different mAbs – one recognizing Family 1 PspA and another one reacting with Family 2 PspA – in order to cover all pneumococcal strains.

In summary, surface staining data seemed to be predictable for the *in vivo* efficacy of the polyclonal antibodies against PspA: *in vitro* strains were stained in a clade-specific manner (Table 5) and also *in vivo* only the expected clade-specific protection was observed in several lethal challenge models.

PLY is a cytotoxic, pore-forming antigen that is conserved across all pneumococcal strains and also shares a high degree of sequence similarity with cytolysins from other bacterial species. ^[13, 38, 63, 249-263, 277-283] The multiple roles during pneumococcal infection based on its toxic nature – *e.g.* the acceleration of bacterial transmission by the induction of tissue-damage and the inhibition of the proliferation of host immune cells ^[50, 63-64, 289-293] – and its manifold functions as an immunologic agonist – *e.g.* recognition and induction of inflammatory responses or interference with opsonophagocytosis ^[37-56, 63, 300, 322-323] – emphasize the potential of anti-PLY mAbs in adjunctive therapies. ^[284, 301, 313, 323, 338-340]

Passive immunization studies with antibodies against PLY and PLD showed intermediate levels of protection only against *i.p.* challenge with a serotype 6B strain (PJ1324). In all other studies using different strains and challenge routes no significant and consistent protection was observed with anti-PLY and anti-PLD sera.

Based on these findings and since it is expected that PLY-specific antibodies act primarily via interference with the inflammatory responses, the inflammatory IL-6 response - in preimmune sera and sera obtained 24 h post *i.p.* challenge of mice challenged with the strain A66.1 - was determined in ELISA. A statistically significant (p<0.001) increase of IL-6 levels in all groups - except in the PspA positive control group - was observed 24 h post challenge. Comparison to the mock-immunized PBS-control group revealed that all groups - except the one receiving anti-PLY serum (CGI/LST3742-group N°4) - had a significantly reduced IL-6 response. The inhibition of the inflammatory IL-6 immune-response in the group immunized with the PspA-construct also correlated to full protection of mice from lethal pneumococcal infection. This correlation was also seen for the groups immunized with a PLY-specific mAb and polyclonal anti-PLD antibodies. To obtain a more detailed picture of the induced cytokineresponse nonetheless would require a multiplex cytokine-profile. Thus in addition to the IL-6response also the determination and correlation of other inflammatory chemokines and cytokines such as macrophage inflammatory protein 2, IFN-γ, IL-5, IL-10, IL-12, IL13, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1/JE and TNF- α , as described for other mAb efficacy-screenings in the literature ^[408-412], might be necessary and useful in the future.

Taken together it is concluded that, independent of the route of challenge and pneumococcal strain, the generated polyclonal antibodies against PLY, PLD and PLY Δ D4 do not entail full protection against lethal challenge in the given settings.

Lead mAbs against PLY were aimed to be primarily selected on their efficacy in cell-based functional *in vitro* assays prior to *in vivo* studies for their protective and anti-inflammatory functionality. For this purpose two assays – a Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay and an hTLR4-Reporter Assay – were successfully setup and optimized for PLY-specific mouse mAbs and for polyclonal mouse IgGs, generated against different PLY constructs and purified in the course of this project.

Both assays were shown to work robust and yielded reproducible results. The Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay revealed a significantly higher activity of purified polyclonal IgGs, compared to the mouse mAb 1F11. In contrast the results obtained for the mAb 1F11 suggest a stronger inhibitory potential for the hTLR4-activation than the polyclonal antibodies. The hTLR4-Reporter Assay further indicated that both – purified polyclonal IgGs and the commercial mAb 1F11 – inhibit the reporter-activation by PLY more powerful than the activation by PLD. This can be deduced from the fact that both antibodies were generated against the toxin and not the toxoid, hence possess a higher specificity against PLY.

Since human mAbs against PLY are aimed to be generated with the "Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display" in the future, the staining-conditions for eukaryotic cells were optimized in order to allow subsequent FACS-based screenings of human memory B-cells. As the use of the mutant toxoids PLD and PLY Δ D4 is limited by the loss of essential structural features as well as patent-protections thereof, the sorting conditions for the wild-type toxin were optimized by interfering with the specific binding of PLY to the cholesterol containing membranes of eukaryotic cells. The most promising results were obtained when coupling PLY to amine-modified FluoSpheres® in order to inhibit the pore-forming and cell-binding ability of the antigen.

Although the bead-based blocking approach showed the most promising results, it was concluded that further optimizations of the assay parameters such as centrifugation-conditions, cell treatment, *etc.* will be required in order to obtain optimal conditions for the sorting of human memory B-cells in the future.

Because of the need of finding suitable sources for hPBMC-isolation and subsequent memory B-cell sorting – which is the basis of the generation of human mAbs by the "*Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display*" – sera from thirty-five healthy human blood-donors were screened for their antigen-specific antibody-titers against different PLY- and PspAconstructs. Summarizing several high-titer donors were identified for each of the constructs tested, which suggests potential sources for the prospective isolation of antigen-specific human memory B-cells. Concluding, the differences that arose for all *in vivo* efficacy tests of polyclonal anti-PspA and anti-PLY antibodies suggest that more in-depth *in vitro* assays such as OPK would be required to compare the differences in the hyperimmune-serum batches. Furthermore future experiments should be set-up using a larger number of mice per group to strengthen the statistic read-out.

In addition to this it will be essential to test higher immunization doses for all of the hyperimmune sera in mouse experiments, as the applied amount of approximately 100 µg of total IgG per 23 g body-weight just represents a screening dose, which might significantly differ from the dose used in therapeutic settings. This is exemplified by the only FDA-approved anti-infective mAb (Palivizumab, brand-name Synagis[®], MedImmune) that targets the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and is administered at doses of up to 15 mg per kilogram body-weight in humans, which reflects approximately 345 µg mAb per 23 g body-weight in mice. ^[413]

In conclusion, this work demonstrates the successful expression, purification and in-depth *in vitro* and *in vivo* characterization of several constructs of the pneumococcal target antigens PspA and PLY and polyclonal mouse antibodies generated against each. For the third target antigen – LTA, which was shown to be difficult to be isolated and purified – several qualification and quantification approaches were accomplished and optimized. The foundations for the prospective generation of human mAbs – targeting different constructs of PspA and PLY – were successfully laid by identifying potential human blood-donors for the isolation of antigen-specific memory B-cells and by the optimization of the sorting-conditions for PLY in the course of this project. Two functional cell-based assays were effectively setup and optimized and are thus ready to be used for the in-depth characterization and primary screening for the functionality of human mAbs to be generated in the future.

F - **Bibliography**

- 1. **Gray, B. M., and Musher, D. M.** 2008, Chapter 1, Page 3-17, *Pneumococcal Vaccines: the Impact of Conjugate Vaccines,* G. R. Siber, K. P. Klugman, and P. H. Mäkelä. ASM-Press.
- 2. **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CDC** 2008, posting date. *Streptococcus pneumoniae Disease*. http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dbmd/diseaseinfo/streppneum_t.htm, [Online.]
- 3. **World Health Organization.** 2009. *Streptococcus pneumoniae (Pneumococcus)*. http://www.who.int/nuvi/pneumococcus/en/index.html, [Online]
- 4. **Todar, K.** 2011, posting date. *Todar's Online Textbook of Bacteriology, Streptococcus pneumoniae*. http://www.textbookofbacteriology.net/S.pneumoniae.html, [Online.]
- 5. **Dowson, C. G.** 2004, Chapter 1, Page 3-14, *The Pneumococcus*, E. I. Tuomanen, T. J. Mitchell, D. A. Morrison, and B. G. Spratt. ASM Press.
- 6. **Carr, J. H., and Facklam, R.** 2011, posting date. *Scanning electron micrograph (SEM) of a number of Gram-positive Streptococcus pneumoniae bacteria, PHIL*#263. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CDC. http://phil.cdc.gov, [Online.]
- 7. Kadioglu, A., Weiser, J. N., Paton, J. C., and Andrew, P. W. 2008. *The role of Streptococcus pneumoniae virulence factors in host respiratory colonization and disease*. Nat Rev Microbiol 6:288-301.
- 8. **Muench, D. F., and Rajnik, M.** 2010, posting date. *Pneumococcal Infections*. http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/225811-overview, [Online.]
- 9. Lode, H., Stahlmann, R., Höffken, G., Kuhnke, A., Schoeller-Wiley, R., and Kresken, M. 2004. *Wichtige Erreger in Klinik und Praxis*. Zeitschrift für Chemotherapie **5-2004**:35.
- 10. Nelson, A. L., Roche, A. M., Gould, J. M., Chim, K., Ratner, A. J., and Weiser, J. N. 2007. *Capsule enhances pneumococcal colonization by limiting mucus-mediated clearance*. Infect Immun **75**:83-90.
- 11. Hanage, W. P., Kaijalainen, T. H., Syrjanen, R. K., Auranen, K., Leinonen, M., Makela, P. H., and Spratt, B. G. 2005. *Invasiveness of serotypes and clones of Streptococcus pneumoniae among children in Finland*. Infect Immun **73:**431-435.
- 12. Hausdorff, W. P., Feikin, D. R., and Klugman, K. P. 2005. Epidemiological differences among pneumococcal serotypes. Lancet Infect Dis 5:83-93.
- 13. Garcia-Suarez Mdel, M., Vazquez, F., and Mendez, F. J. 2006. *Streptococcus pneumoniae virulence factors and their clinical impact: An update*. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin 24:512-517.

- 14. Weiser, J. 2006, Chapter 22, Page 268-274, *Gram-positive pathogens, 2nd Edition*, V. A. Fischetti, R. P. Novick, J. J. Ferretti, D. A. Portnoy, and J. I. Rood. ASM Press, Washington, D. C.
- 15. **Mitchell, T. J., and Paterson, G. K.** 2007, Chapter 7, Page 217, *Molecular Biology of Streptococci*, R. Hakenbeck and S. Chhatwal. Horizon Bioscience.
- 16. Yother, J., Bentley, S. D., and Hennessey, J. P. 2008, Chapter 3, Page 33-42, *Pneumococcal Vaccines: the Impact of Conjugate Vaccines*, G. R. Siber, K. P. Klugman, and P. H. Mäkelä. ASM-Press.
- 17. O'Brien, K. L., Wolfson, L. J., Watt, J. P., Henkle, E., Deloria-Knoll, M., McCall, N., Lee, E., Mulholland, K., Levine, O. S., and Cherian, T. 2009. Burden of disease caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. Lancet 374:893-902.
- Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S. K., and Jonsdottir, I. 2008, Chapter 4, Page 47-53, Pneumococcal Vaccines: the Impact of Conjugate Vaccines, G. R. Siber, K. P. Klugman, and P. H. Mäkelä. ASM-Press.
- 19. **Rubins, J. B., Boulware, D. R., and Janoff, E. N.** 2008, Chapter 9, Page 117-138, *Pneumococcal Vaccines: the Impact of Conjugate Vaccines*, G. R. Siber, K. P. Klugman, and P. H. Mäkelä. ASM-Press.
- 20. **Snapper, C. M., Colino, J., Kahan, A. Q., and Wu, Z. Q.** 2004, Chapter 23, Page 367-381, *The Pneumococcus*, E. I. Tuomanen, T. J. Mitchell, D. A. Morrison, and B. G. Spratt. ASM Press.
- 21. **Paton, J. C.** 2004, Chapter 24, Page 394-395, *The Pneumococcus*, E. I. Tuomanen, T. J. Mitchell, D. A. Morrison, and B. G. Spratt. ASM Press.
- 22. **Madigan, M. T., Martinko, J. M., and Brock, T. D. B. o. m.** 2006, Chapter 26, Page 849-852, *Brock biology of microorganisms* 11th *Edition*, ed, Pearson Prentice Hall, Southern Illinois University Carbondale.
- 23. Forsthuber, S., Lagler, H., Gattringer, R., Stich, K., Hirschl, A., Graninger, W., and Georgopoulos, A. 2006. *Resistenzsituation und Serotypenverteilung von Streptococcus pneumoniae in Österreich*. Antibiotika Monitor:29-35.
- 24. Giefing, C., Meinke, A. L., Hanner, M., Henics, T., Bui, M. D., Gelbmann, D., Lundberg, U., Senn, B. M., Schunn, M., Habel, A., Henriques-Normark, B., Ortqvist, A., Kalin, M., von Gabain, A., and Nagy, E. 2008. Discovery of a novel class of highly conserved vaccine antigens using genomic scale antigenic fingerprinting of pneumococcus with human antibodies. J Exp Med 205:117-131.

- 25. Nationale Referenzzentrale für Pneumokokken an der Österreichischen Agentur für Gesundheit und Ernährungssicherheit GmbH Institut für Mikrobiologie und Hygiene Graz 2010, posting date. *Jahresbericht* 2009. Österreichisches Bundesministerium für Gesundheit / Austrian Federal Ministry of Health. http://www.bmg.gv.at/cms/home/attachments/2/0/5/CH1187/CMS1287138906294/pneu mokokken_30082010.pdf, [Online.]
- 26. **Bruyn, G. A., Zegers, B. J., and van Furth, R.** 1992. *Mechanisms of host defense against infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Clin Infect Dis **14:**251-262.
- 27. **Talbot, U. M., Paton, A. W., and Paton, J. C.** 1996. *Uptake of Streptococcus pneumoniae by respiratory epithelial cells*. Infect Immun **64**:3772-3777.
- 28. **Murphy, K. P., Travers, P., Walport, M., and Janeway, C.** 2008, Chapter 10, Page 421-458, *Janeway's immunobiology*, 7th ed. / Kenneth Murphy, Paul Travers, Mark Walport ; with contributions by Michael Ehrenstein ... [et al.]. ed, Garland Science ; London : Taylor & Francis [distributor], New York.
- 29. Schroder, N. W., Morath, S., Alexander, C., Hamann, L., Hartung, T., Zahringer, U., Gobel, U. B., Weber, J. R., and Schumann, R. R. 2003. Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus activates immune cells via Toll-like receptor (TLR)-2, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), and CD14, whereas TLR-4 and MD-2 are not involved. J Biol Chem 278:15587-15594.
- 30. Lotz, S., Aga, E., Wilde, I., van Zandbergen, G., Hartung, T., Solbach, W., and Laskay, T. 2004. *Highly purified lipoteichoic acid activates neutrophil granulocytes and delays their spontaneous apoptosis via CD14 and TLR2*. J Leukoc Biol **75**:467-477.
- 31. Beisswenger, C., Coyne, C. B., Shchepetov, M., and Weiser, J. N. 2007. *Role of p38 MAP kinase and transforming growth factor-beta signaling in transepithelial migration of invasive bacterial pathogens*. J Biol Chem 282:28700-28708.
- 32. **Hammerschmidt, S.** 2007, Chapter 6, Page 140-203, *Molecular Biology of Streptococci*, R. Hakenbeck and S. Chhatwal. Horizon Bioscience.
- 33. **Dessing, M. C., Schouten, M., Draing, C., Levi, M., von Aulock, S., and van der Poll, T.** 2008. *Role played by Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in lipoteichoic acid-induced lung inflammation and coagulation.* J Infect Dis **197:**245-252.
- 34. Draing, C., Sigel, S., Deininger, S., Traub, S., Munke, R., Mayer, C., Hareng, L., Hartung, T., von Aulock, S., and Hermann, C. 2008. *Cytokine induction by Gram-positive bacteria*. Immunobiology **213**:285-296.
- 35. **Koedel, U.** 2009. *Toll-like receptors in bacterial meningitis*. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **336:**15-40.
- 36. **Seo, H. S., and Nahm, M. H.** 2009. *Lipoprotein lipase and hydrofluoric acid deactivate both bacterial lipoproteins and lipoteichoic acids, but platelet-activating factor-acetylhydrolase degrades only lipoteichoic acids*. Clin Vaccine Immunol **16**:1187-1195.

- 37. Saunders, F. K., Mitchell, T. J., Walker, J. A., Andrew, P. W., and Boulnois, G. J. 1989. Pneumolysin, the thiol-activated toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae, does not require a thiol group for in vitro activity. Infect Immun 57:2547-2552.
- 38. Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., Saunders, F. K., Smith, A. N., and Boulnois, G. J. 1991. Complement activation and antibody binding by pneumolysin via a region of the toxin homologous to a human acute-phase protein. Mol Microbiol 5:1883-1888.
- 39. **Rubins, J. B., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., and Niewoehner, D. E.** 1994. *Pneumolysin activates phospholipase A in pulmonary artery endothelial cells*. Infect Immun **62:**3829-3836.
- 40. **Braun, J. S., Novak, R., Gao, G., Murray, P. J., and Shenep, J. L.** 1999. *Pneumolysin, a protein toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae, induces nitric oxide production from macrophages.* Infect Immun **67:**3750-3756.
- 41. Alcantara, R. B., Preheim, L. C., and Gentry-Nielsen, M. J. 2001. Pneumolysin-induced complement depletion during experimental pneumococcal bacteremia. Infect Immun 69:3569-3575.
- 42. Malley, R., Henneke, P., Morse, S. C., Cieslewicz, M. J., Lipsitch, M., Thompson, C. M., Kurt-Jones, E., Paton, J. C., Wessels, M. R., and Golenbock, D. T. 2003. *Recognition of pneumolysin by Toll-like receptor 4 confers resistance to pneumococcal infection*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1966-1971.
- 43. Santos-Sierra, S., Golenbock, D. T., and Henneke, P. 2006. *Toll-like receptor-dependent discrimination of streptococci.* J Endotoxin Res 12:307-312.
- 44. Ha, U., Lim, J. H., Jono, H., Koga, T., Srivastava, A., Malley, R., Pages, G., Pouyssegur, J., and Li, J. D. 2007. A novel role for IkappaB kinase (IKK) alpha and IKKbeta in ERKdependent up-regulation of MUC5AC mucin transcription by Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Immunol 178:1736-1747.
- 45. **Quin, L. R., Moore, Q. C., 3rd, and McDaniel, L. S.** 2007. *Pneumolysin, PspA, and PspC contribute to pneumococcal evasion of early innate immune responses during bacteremia in mice.* Infect Immun **75:**2067-2070.
- 46. Bernatoniene, J., Zhang, Q., Dogan, S., Mitchell, T. J., Paton, J. C., and Finn, A. 2008. Induction of CC and CXC chemokines in human antigen-presenting dendritic cells by the pneumococcal proteins pneumolysin and CbpA, and the role played by toll-like receptor 4, NFkappaB, and mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Infect Dis 198:1823-1833.
- 47. **Dessing, M. C., Florquin, S., Paton, J. C., and van der Poll, T.** 2008. *Toll-like receptor 2 contributes to antibacterial defence against pneumolysin-deficient pneumococci*. Cell Microbiol **10:**237-246.
- 48. Ha, U. H., Lim, J. H., Kim, H. J., Wu, W., Jin, S., Xu, H., and Li, J. D. 2008. *MKP1* regulates the induction of MUC5AC mucin by Streptococcus pneumoniae pneumolysin by inhibiting the PAK4-JNK signaling pathway. J Biol Chem **283:**30624-30631.

- 49. Koga, T., Lim, J. H., Jono, H., Ha, U. H., Xu, H., Ishinaga, H., Morino, S., Xu, X., Yan, C., Kai, H., and Li, J. D. 2008. *Tumor suppressor cylindromatosis acts as a negative regulator for Streptococcus pneumoniae-induced NFAT signaling*. J Biol Chem **283**:12546-12554.
- 50. **Marriott, H. M., Mitchell, T. J., and Dockrell, D. H.** 2008. *Pneumolysin: a double-edged sword during the host-pathogen interaction*. Curr Mol Med **8:**497-509.
- 51. **Martner, A., Dahlgren, C., Paton, J. C., and Wold, A. E.** 2008. *Pneumolysin released during Streptococcus pneumoniae autolysis is a potent activator of intracellular oxygen radical production in neutrophils*. Infect Immun **76:**4079-4087.
- 52. Shoma, S., Tsuchiya, K., Kawamura, I., Nomura, T., Hara, H., Uchiyama, R., Daim, S., and Mitsuyama, M. 2008. Critical involvement of pneumolysin in production of interleukin-1alpha and caspase-1-dependent cytokines in infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae in vitro: a novel function of pneumolysin in caspase-1 activation. Infect Immun **76:**1547-1557.
- 53. Cockeran, R., Mitchell, T. J., Feldman, C., and Anderson, R. 2009. *Pneumolysin induces release of matrix metalloproteinase-8 and -9 from human neutrophils*. Eur Respir J **34**:1167-1170.
- 54. Yoo, I. H., Shin, H. S., Kim, Y. J., Kim, H. B., Jin, S., and Ha, U. H. 2010. Role of pneumococcal pneumolysin in the induction of an inflammatory response in human epithelial cells. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 60:28-35.
- 55. McNeela, E. A., Burke, A., Neill, D. R., Baxter, C., Fernandes, V. E., Ferreira, D., Smeaton, S., El-Rachkidy, R., McLoughlin, R. M., Mori, A., Moran, B., Fitzgerald, K. A., Tschopp, J., Petrilli, V., Andrew, P. W., Kadioglu, A., and Lavelle, E. C. 2010. Pneumolysin activates the NLRP3 inflammasome and promotes proinflammatory cytokines independently of TLR4. PLoS Pathog 6:e1001191.
- 56. **Dogan, S., Zhang, Q., Pridmore, A. C., Mitchell, T. J., Finn, A., and Murdoch, C.** 2011. *Pneumolysin-induced CXCL8 production by nasopharyngeal epithelial cells is dependent on calcium flux and MAPK activation via Toll-like receptor* 4. Microbes Infect **13**:65-75.
- 57. Albiger, B., Dahlberg, S., Sandgren, A., Wartha, F., Beiter, K., Katsuragi, H., Akira, S., Normark, S., and Henriques-Normark, B. 2007. *Toll-like receptor 9 acts at an early stage in host defence against pneumococcal infection*. Cell Microbiol **9:**633-644.
- 58. Capolunghi, F., Cascioli, S., Giorda, E., Rosado, M. M., Plebani, A., Auriti, C., Seganti, G., Zuntini, R., Ferrari, S., Cagliuso, M., Quinti, I., and Carsetti, R. 2008. *CpG drives human transitional B cells to terminal differentiation and production of natural antibodies*. J Immunol **180**:800-808.
- 59. Ribes, S., Ebert, S., Regen, T., Agarwal, A., Tauber, S. C., Czesnik, D., Spreer, A., Bunkowski, S., Eiffert, H., Hanisch, U. K., Hammerschmidt, S., and Nau, R. 2010. Tolllike receptor stimulation enhances phagocytosis and intracellular killing of nonencapsulated and encapsulated Streptococcus pneumoniae by murine microglia. Infect Immun **78**:865-871.
- 60. **Rijkers, G. T., Sanders, E. A., Breukels, M. A., and Zegers, B. J.** 1998. *Infant B cell responses to polysaccharide determinants*. Vaccine **16**:1396-1400.

- 61. Brown, J. S., Hussell, T., Gilliland, S. M., Holden, D. W., Paton, J. C., Ehrenstein, M. R., Walport, M. J., and Botto, M. 2002. *The classical pathway is the dominant complement pathway required for innate immunity to Streptococcus pneumoniae infection in mice*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99**:16969-16974.
- 62. Ratner, A. J., Hippe, K. R., Aguilar, J. L., Bender, M. H., Nelson, A. L., and Weiser, J. N. 2006. Epithelial cells are sensitive detectors of bacterial pore-forming toxins. J Biol Chem 281:12994-12998.
- 63. **Hammerschmidt, S.** 2007, Chapter 6, Page 140-203, *Molecular Biology of Streptococci*, R. Hakenbeck and S. Chhatwal. Horizon Bioscience.
- 64. **Bogaert, D., de Groot, R., and Hermans, P. W. M.** 2007, Chapter 9, Page 252-259, *Molecular Biology of Streptococci*, R. Hakenbeck and S. Chhatwal. Horizon Bioscience.
- 65. Lu, Y. J., Gross, J., Bogaert, D., Finn, A., Bagrade, L., Zhang, Q., Kolls, J. K., Srivastava, A., Lundgren, A., Forte, S., Thompson, C. M., Harney, K. F., Anderson, P. W., Lipsitch, M., and Malley, R. 2008. Interleukin-17A mediates acquired immunity to pneumococcal colonization. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000159.
- 66. **Zhang, Z., Clarke, T. B., and Weiser, J. N.** 2009. *Cellular effectors mediating Th17dependent clearance of pneumococcal colonization in mice.* J Clin Invest **119:**1899-1909.
- 67. Weiser, J. N., Bae, D., Fasching, C., Scamurra, R. W., Ratner, A. J., and Janoff, E. N. 2003. *Antibody-enhanced pneumococcal adherence requires IgA1 protease*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **100:**4215-4220.
- 68. Romanello, V., Marcacci, M., Dal Molin, F., Moschioni, M., Censini, S., Covacci, A., Baritussio, A. G., Montecucco, C., and Tonello, F. 2006. *Cloning, expression, purification, and characterization of Streptococcus pneumoniae IgA1 protease*. Protein Expr Purif **45**:142-149.
- 69. Bender, M. H., and Weiser, J. N. 2006. The atypical amino-terminal LPNTG-containing domain of the pneumococcal human IgA1-specific protease is required for proper enzyme localization and function. Mol Microbiol 61:526-543.
- 70. Fasching, C. E., Grossman, T., Corthesy, B., Plaut, A. G., Weiser, J. N., and Janoff, E. N. 2007. Impact of the molecular form of immunoglobulin A on functional activity in defense against Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 75:1801-1810.
- 71. Aas, J. A., Paster, B. J., Stokes, L. N., Olsen, I., and Dewhirst, F. E. 2005. *Defining the normal bacterial flora of the oral cavity*. J Clin Microbiol **43**:5721-5732.
- 72. Winkelstein, J. A. 1981. The role of complement in the host's defense against Streptococcus pneumoniae. Rev Infect Dis 3:289-298.
- 73. **Abeyta, M., Hardy, G. G., and Yother, J.** 2003. *Genetic alteration of capsule type but not PspA type affects accessibility of surface-bound complement and surface antigens of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infect Immun **71:**218-225.

F - BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 74. **Musher, D. M.** 1992. Infections caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae: clinical spectrum, pathogenesis, immunity, and treatment. Clin Infect Dis **14**:801-807.
- 75. **Merck** 2011, posting date. *Product Description Pneumovax(R)* 23. http://www.merck.com/product/usa/pi_circulars/p/pneumovax_23/pneumovax_pi.pdf, [Online.]
- 76. **Wyeth/Pfizer** 2011, posting date. *Product Description Prevnar13(R)*. http://www.prevnar.com/, [Online.]
- 77. **GlaxoSmithKline** 2009, posting date. *Product Description SynflorixTM*. http://www.gsk.com/media/pressreleases/2009/2009_pressrelease_10012.htm, [Online.]
- 78. Dagan, R., Melamed, R., Muallem, M., Piglansky, L., Greenberg, D., Abramson, O., Mendelman, P. M., Bohidar, N., and Yagupsky, P. 1996. *Reduction of nasopharyngeal carriage of pneumococci during the second year of life by a heptavalent conjugate pneumococcal vaccine*. J Infect Dis 174:1271-1278.
- 79. Coffey, T. J., Enright, M. C., Daniels, M., Morona, J. K., Morona, R., Hryniewicz, W., Paton, J. C., and Spratt, B. G. 1998. *Recombinational exchanges at the capsular polysaccharide biosynthetic locus lead to frequent serotype changes among natural isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Mol Microbiol 27:73-83.
- 80. Black, S., Shinefield, H., Fireman, B., Lewis, E., Ray, P., Hansen, J. R., Elvin, L., Ensor, K. M., Hackell, J., Siber, G., Malinoski, F., Madore, D., Chang, I., Kohberger, R., Watson, W., Austrian, R., and Edwards, K. 2000. Efficacy, safety and immunogenicity of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children. Northern California Kaiser Permanente Vaccine Study Center Group. Pediatr Infect Dis J 19:187-195.
- 81. Balachandran, P., Brooks-Walter, A., Virolainen-Julkunen, A., Hollingshead, S. K., and Briles, D. E. 2002. Role of pneumococcal surface protein C in nasopharyngeal carriage and pneumonia and its ability to elicit protection against carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 70:2526-2534.
- 82. Hausdorff, W. P., Brueggemann, A. B., Hackel, J. G., and Scott, A. G. 2008, Chapter 10, Page 139-160, *Pneumococcal Vaccines: the Impact of Conjugate Vaccines*, G. R. Siber, K. P. Klugman, and P. H. Mäkelä. ASM-Press.
- 83. **Ogunniyi, A. D., Folland, R. L., Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S. K., and Paton, J. C.** 2000. *Immunization of mice with combinations of pneumococcal virulence proteins elicits enhanced protection against challenge with Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infect Immun **68:**3028-3033.
- 84. Briles, D. E., Ades, E., Paton, J. C., Sampson, J. S., Carlone, G. M., Huebner, R. C., Virolainen, A., Swiatlo, E., and Hollingshead, S. K. 2000. Intranasal immunization of mice with a mixture of the pneumococcal proteins PsaA and PspA is highly protective against nasopharyngeal carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 68:796-800.
- 85. Romero-Steiner, S., Pilishvili, T., Sampson, J. S., Johnson, S. E., Stinson, A., Carlone, G. M., and Ades, E. W. 2003. *Inhibition of pneumococcal adherence to human nasopharyngeal epithelial cells by anti-PsaA antibodies*. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol **10:**246-251.
- 86. **Dagan, R., and Klugman, K. P.** 2008, Chapter 25, Page 369-385, *Pneumococcal Vaccines: the Impact of Conjugate Vaccines*, G. R. Siber, K. P. Klugman, and P. H. Mäkelä. ASM-Press.
- 87. Intercell, AG 2011, Unpublished Data
- 88. Schmid, P., Selak, S., Keller, M., Luhan, B., Magyarics, Z., Seidel, S., Schlick, P., Reinisch, C., Lingnau, K., Nagy, E., and Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. 2011. *Th17/Th1 biased immunity to the pneumococcal proteins PcsB, StkP and PsaA in adults of different age*. Vaccine.
- 89. Haldane, J. S. 1922, Page 1-427, Respiration, Yale University Press, New Haven.
- 90. Bullowa, J. G. 1937. Pneumonias: Their Management. Cal West Med 46:368-372.
- 91. Klemperer, G., and Klemperer, F. 1891. Versuche über Immunisierung und Heilung bei der *Pneumokokkeninfektion*. Berlin Klin. Wochenschr. **28:**830-835.
- 92. **Dochez, A. R., and Gillespie, L. J.** 1913. *A Biological Classification of Pneumococci by Means of Immunity Reactions*. JAMA **61:**727-732.
- Lister, F. S. 1913. Specific serological reactions with pneumococci from different sources. Publ. S. Afr. Inst. Med. Res. 7:1-81.
- 94. **Casadevall, A., and Scharff, M. D.** 1994. *Serum therapy revisited: animal models of infection and development of passive antibody therapy.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother **38:**1695-1702.
- 95. **Darabi, A., Hocquet, D., and Dowzicky, M. J.** 2010. Antimicrobial activity against Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae collected globally between 2004 and 2008 as part of the Tigecycline Evaluation and Surveillance Trial. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis **67:**78-86.
- 96. Maraki, S., Mantadakis, E., and Samonis, G. 2010. Serotype distribution and antimicrobial resistance of adult Streptococcus pneumoniae clinical isolates over the period 2001-2008 in Crete, Greece. Chemotherapy 56:325-332.
- 97. Bere, L. C., Simpore, J., Karou, S. D., Zeba, B., Bere, A. P., Bannerman, E., Bille, J., and Dosso, M. 2009. Antimicrobial resistance and serotype distribution of Streptococcus pneumoniae strains causing childhood infection in Burkina Faso. Pak J Biol Sci 12:1282-1286.
- 98. Benouda, A., Ben Redjeb, S., Hammami, A., Sibille, S., Tazir, M., and Ramdani-Bouguessa, N. 2009. Antimicrobial resistance of respiratory pathogens in North African countries. J Chemother 21:627-632.
- 99. Everett, D. B., Mukaka, M., Denis, B., Gordon, S. B., Carrol, E. D., van Oosterhout, J. J., Molyneux, E. M., Molyneux, M., French, N., and Heyderman, R. S. 2011. Ten Years of Surveillance for Invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae during the Era of Antiretroviral Scale-Up and Cotrimoxazole Prophylaxis in Malawi. PLoS One 6:e17765.
- 100. **Ginsburg, A. S., and Alderson, M. R.** 2011. New conjugate vaccines for the prevention of pneumococcal disease in developing countries. Drugs Today (Barc) **47:**207-214.

- 101. Lagos, R., Munoz, A., Levine, M., Lepetic, A., Francois, N., Yarzabal, J., and Schuerman, L. 2011. Safety and immunogenicity of the 10-valent pneumococcal nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae protein D conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) in Chilean children. Hum Vaccin 7.
- 102. Casadevall, A., Dadachova, E., and Pirofski, L. A. 2004. *Passive antibody therapy for infectious diseases*. Nat Rev Microbiol **2:**695-703.
- 103. Li, J., Szalai, A. J., Hollingshead, S. K., Nahm, M. H., and Briles, D. E. 2009. Antibody to the type 3 capsule facilitates immune adherence of pneumococci to erythrocytes and augments their transfer to macrophages. Infect Immun 77:464-471.
- 104. Christaki, E., Opal, S. M., Keith, J. C., Jr., Kessimian, N., Palardy, J. E., Parejo, N. A., Tan, X. Y., Piche-Nicholas, N., Tchistiakova, L., Vlasuk, G. P., Shields, K. M., Feldman, J. L., Lavallie, E. R., Arai, M., Mounts, W., and Pittman, D. D. 2011. A Monoclonal Antibody Against RAGE Alters Gene Expression and is Protective in Experimental Models of Sepsis and Pneumococcal Pneumonia. Shock 35:492-498.
- 105. Kadioglu, A., De Filippo, K., Bangert, M., Fernandes, V. E., Richards, L., Jones, K., Andrew, P. W., and Hogg, N. 2011. The Integrins Mac-1 and {alpha}4{beta}1 Perform Crucial Roles in Neutrophil and T Cell Recruitment to Lungs during Streptococcus pneumoniae Infection. J Immunol.
- 106. Kolberg, J., Ihle, O., Thiede, B., and Aase, A. 2011. Polyreactivity of monoclonal antibodies made against human erythrocyte membranes with various pathogenic bacteria. Hybridoma (Larchmt) **30**:1-9.
- 107. Yano, M., and Pirofski, L. A. 2011. Characterization of gene use and efficacy of mouse monoclonal antibodies to Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 8. Clin Vaccine Immunol 18:59-66.
- 108. **Vollmer, W.** 2007, Chapter 4, Page 83-117, *Molecular Biology of Streptococci*, R. Hakenbeck and S. Chhatwal. Horizon Bioscience.
- 109. **Fischer, W.** 1994. *Lipoteichoic acid and lipids in the membrane of Staphylococcus aureus*. Med Microbiol Immunol **183:**61-76.
- 110. Liu, T. Y., and Gotschlich, E. C. 1963. *The chemical composition of pneumococcal C-polysaccharide*. J Biol Chem 238:1928-1934.
- 111. **Brundish, D. E., and Baddiley, J.** 1967. *The characterization of pneumococcal C-polysaccharide as a ribitol teichoic acid.* Biochem J **105:**30C-31C.
- 112. **Tomasz, A.** 1967. *Choline in the cell wall of a bacterium: novel type of polymer-linked choline in Pneumococcus.* Science **157:**694-697.
- 113. **Brundish, D. E., and Baddiley, J.** 1968. *Pneumococcal C-substance, a ribitol teichoic acid containing choline phosphate*. Biochem J **110:**573-582.

- 114. **Tillett, W. S., Goebel, W. F., and Avery, O. T.** 1930. *Chemical and Immunological Properties of a Species-Specific Carbohydrate of Pneumococci.* J Exp Med **52:**895-900.
- 115. **Goebel, W. F., and Adams, M. H.** 1943. *The Immunological Properties of the Heterophile Antigen and Somatic Polysaccharide of Pneumococcus.* J Exp Med **77:4**35-449.
- 116. Briles, E. B., and Tomasz, A. 1973. *Pneumococcal Forssman antigen. A choline-containing lipoteichoic acid.* J Biol Chem 248:6394-6397.
- 117. Briles, E. B., and Tomasz, A. 1975. *Physiological studies on the pneumococcal Forssman antigen: a choline-containing lipoteichoic acid.* J Gen Microbiol 86:267-274.
- 118. Briles, E. B., and Tomasz, A. 1975. *Membrane lipoteichoic acid is not a precursor to wall teichoic acid in pneumococci.* J Bacteriol **122:**335-337.
- 119. **Rahman, O., Dover, L. G., and Sutcliffe, I. C.** 2009. *Lipoteichoic acid biosynthesis: two steps forwards, one step sideways*? Trends Microbiol **17:**219-225.
- 120. **Kaiser, G. E.** 2011, posting date. *The Grapes of Staph Doc Kaiser's Microbiology Home Page*. The Community College of Baltimore County, Catonsville Campus. http://student.ccbcmd.edu/courses/bio141/lecguide/unit4/innate/u1fig9b.html, [Online.]
- 121. Jennings, H. J., Lugowski, C., and Young, N. M. 1980. Structure of the complex polysaccharide C-substance from Streptococcus pneumoniae type 1. Biochemistry 19:4712-4719.
- 122. Behr, T., Fischer, W., Peter-Katalinic, J., and Egge, H. 1992. *The structure of pneumococcal lipoteichoic acid. Improved preparation, chemical and mass spectrometric studies*. Eur J Biochem 207:1063-1075.
- 123. Fischer, W., Behr, T., Hartmann, R., Peter-Katalinic, J., and Egge, H. 1993. Teichoic acid and lipoteichoic acid of Streptococcus pneumoniae possess identical chain structures. A reinvestigation of teichoid acid (C polysaccharide). Eur J Biochem 215:851-857.
- 124. Fischer, W. 1997. Pneumococcal lipoteichoic and teichoic acid. Microb Drug Resist 3:309-325.
- 125. Garcia, J. L., Sanchez-Beato, A. R., Medrano, F. J., and Lopez, R. 1998. Versatility of choline-binding domain. Microb Drug Resist 4:25-36.
- 126. Draing, C., Pfitzenmaier, M., Zummo, S., Mancuso, G., Geyer, A., Hartung, T., and von Aulock, S. 2006. *Comparison of lipoteichoic acid from different serotypes of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Biol Chem **281**:33849-33859.
- 127. Seo, H. S., Cartee, R. T., Pritchard, D. G., and Nahm, M. H. 2008. A new model of pneumococcal lipoteichoic acid structure resolves biochemical, biosynthetic, and serologic inconsistencies of the current model. J Bacteriol 190:2379-2387.
- 128. Baur, S., Marles-Wright, J., Buckenmaier, S., Lewis, R. J., and Vollmer, W. 2009. Synthesis of CDP-activated ribitol for teichoic acid precursors in Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Bacteriol 191:1200-1210.

- 129. Pedersen, C. M., Figueroa-Perez, I., Lindner, B., Ulmer, A. J., Zahringer, U., and Schmidt, R. R. 2010. *Total synthesis of lipoteichoic acid of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl **49:**2585-2590.
- 130. Pedersen, C. M., Figueroa-Perez, I., Boruwa, J., Lindner, B., Ulmer, A. J., Zahringer, U., and Schmidt, R. R. 2010. Synthesis of the core structure of the lipoteichoic acid of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Chemistry 16:12627-12641.
- 131. Schmidt, R. R., Pedersen, C. M., Qiao, Y., and Zahringer, U. 2011. *Chemical synthesis of bacterial lipoteichoic acids: An insight on its biological significance*. Org Biomol Chem.
- 132. **Sutcliffe, I. C.** 2011. *Priming and elongation: dissection of the lipoteichoic acid biosynthetic pathway in Gram-positive bacteria*. Mol Microbiol **79:**553-556.
- 133. Leon, M. A., and Young, N. M. 1971. Specificity for phosphorylcholine of six murine myeloma proteins reactive with Pneumococcus C polysaccharide and beta-lipoprotein. Biochemistry 10:1424-1429.
- 134. Volanakis, J. E., and Kaplan, M. H. 1971. Specificity of C-reactive protein for choline phosphate residues of pneumococcal C-polysaccharide. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med **136:**612-614.
- 135. Lopez, R., Garcia, E., Garcia, P., Ronda, C., and Tomasz, A. 1982. *Choline-containing bacteriophage receptors in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Bacteriol **151:**1581-1590.
- 136. Yother, J., and Briles, D. E. 1992. Structural properties and evolutionary relationships of *PspA*, a surface protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae, as revealed by sequence analysis. J Bacteriol **174:**601-609.
- 137. Yother, J., and White, J. M. 1994. Novel surface attachment mechanism of the Streptococcus pneumoniae protein PspA. J Bacteriol **176:**2976-2985.
- 138. **Cundell, D. R., Gerard, N. P., Gerard, C., Idanpaan-Heikkila, I., and Tuomanen, E. I.** 1995. *Streptococcus pneumoniae anchor to activated human cells by the receptor for plateletactivating factor*. Nature **377:4**35-438.
- 139. Hammerschmidt, S., Talay, S. R., Brandtzaeg, P., and Chhatwal, G. S. 1997. *SpsA*, a novel pneumococcal surface protein with specific binding to secretory immunoglobulin A and secretory component. Mol Microbiol **25**:1113-1124.
- 140. Nitsche-Schmitz, D. P., Rohde, M., and Chhatwal, G. S. 2007, Chapter 18, Page 487-489, *Molecular Biology of Streptococci*, R. Hakenbeck and S. Chhatwal. Horizon Bioscience.
- 141. Beachey, E. H., and Ofek, I. 1976. Epithelial cell binding of group A streptococci by lipoteichoic acid on fimbriae denuded of M protein. J Exp Med 143:759-771.
- 142. Simpson, W. A., and Beachey, E. H. 1983. *Adherence of group A streptococci to fibronectin on oral epithelial cells*. Infect Immun **39:**275-279.
- 143. Leon, O., and Panos, C. 1990. *Streptococcus pyogenes clinical isolates and lipoteichoic acid*. Infect Immun 58:3779-3787.

- 144. **Courtney, H. S., and Hasty, D. L.** 1991. *Aggregation of group A streptococci by human saliva and effect of saliva on streptococcal adherence to host cells.* Infect Immun **59:**1661-1666.
- 145. Courtney, H. S., von Hunolstein, C., Dale, J. B., Bronze, M. S., Beachey, E. H., and Hasty, D. L. 1992. *Lipoteichoic acid and M protein: dual adhesins of group A streptococci*. Microb Pathog **12**:199-208.
- 146. Hasty, D. L., Ofek, I., Courtney, H. S., and Doyle, R. J. 1992. *Multiple adhesins of streptococci*. Infect Immun 60:2147-2152.
- 147. Doran, K. S., Engelson, E. J., Khosravi, A., Maisey, H. C., Fedtke, I., Equils, O., Michelsen, K. S., Arditi, M., Peschel, A., and Nizet, V. 2005. Blood-brain barrier invasion by group B Streptococcus depends upon proper cell-surface anchoring of lipoteichoic acid. J Clin Invest 115:2499-2507.
- 148. Mattie, H., Stuertz, K., Nau, R., and van Dissel, J. T. 2005. *Pharmacodynamics of antibiotics with respect to bacterial killing of and release of lipoteichoic acid by Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Antimicrob Chemother **56**:154-159.
- 149. Wartha, F., Beiter, K., Albiger, B., Fernebro, J., Zychlinsky, A., Normark, S., and Henriques-Normark, B. 2007. *Capsule and D-alanylated lipoteichoic acids protect Streptococcus pneumoniae against neutrophil extracellular traps*. Cell Microbiol 9:1162-1171.
- 150. **Weidenmaier, C., and Peschel, A.** 2008. *Teichoic acids and related cell-wall glycopolymers in Gram-positive physiology and host interactions*. Nat Rev Microbiol **6**:276-287.
- 151. Wissner, A., Schaub, R. E., Sum, P. E., Kohler, C. A., and Goldstein, B. M. 1986. Analogues of platelet activating factor. 4. Some modifications of the phosphocholine moiety. J Med Chem 29:328-333.
- 152. Ferguson-Chanowitz, K. M., Katocs, A. S., Jr., Pickett, W. C., Kaplan, J. B., Sass, P. M., Oronsky, A. L., and Kerwar, S. S. 1990. Platelet-activating factor or a platelet-activating factor antagonist decreases tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the plasma of mice treated with endotoxin. J Infect Dis 162:1081-1086.
- Cabellos, C., MacIntyre, D. E., Forrest, M., Burroughs, M., Prasad, S., and Tuomanen, E. 1992. Differing roles for platelet-activating factor during inflammation of the lung and subarachnoid space. The special case of Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Clin Invest 90:612-618.
- 154. Kolberg, J., Hoiby, E. A., and Jantzen, E. 1997. Detection of the phosphorylcholine epitope in streptococci, Haemophilus and pathogenic Neisseriae by immunoblotting. Microb Pathog 22:321-329.
- 155. Weiser, J. N., Pan, N., McGowan, K. L., Musher, D., Martin, A., and Richards, J. 1998. *Phosphorylcholine on the lipopolysaccharide of Haemophilus influenzae contributes to persistence in the respiratory tract and sensitivity to serum killing mediated by C-reactive protein.* J Exp Med **187:**631-640.

- 156. Weiser, J. N., Goldberg, J. B., Pan, N., Wilson, L., and Virji, M. 1998. The phosphorylcholine epitope undergoes phase variation on a 43-kilodalton protein in Pseudomonas aeruginosa and on pili of Neisseria meningitidis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Infect Immun 66:4263-4267.
- 157. Gosink, K. K., Mann, E. R., Guglielmo, C., Tuomanen, E. I., and Masure, H. R. 2000. Role of novel choline binding proteins in virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 68:5690-5695.
- 158. Winkelstein, J. A., Bocchini, J. A., Jr., and Schiffman, G. 1976. The role of the capsular polysaccharide in the activation of the alternative pathway by the pneumococcus. J Immunol 116:367-370.
- 159. Winkelstein, J. A., and Tomasz, A. 1977. Activation of the alternative pathway by pneumococcal cell walls. J Immunol **118:**451-454.
- 160. Winkelstein, J. A., and Tomasz, A. 1978. *Activation of the alternative complement pathway by pneumococcal cell wall teichoic acid.* J Immunol **120:**174-178.
- 161. Hummell, D. S., Swift, A. J., Tomasz, A., and Winkelstein, J. A. 1985. *Activation of the alternative complement pathway by pneumococcal lipoteichoic acid.* Infect Immun **47:**384-387.
- 162. **Johnston, R. B., Jr.** 1991. *Pathogenesis of pneumococcal pneumonia*. Rev Infect Dis **13 Suppl 6:**S509-517.
- 163. Geelen, S., Bhattacharyya, C., and Tuomanen, E. 1993. The cell wall mediates pneumococcal attachment to and cytopathology in human endothelial cells. Infect Immun 61:1538-1543.
- 164. Keane, C., Tilley, D., Cunningham, A., Smolenski, A., Kadioglu, A., Cox, D., Jenkinson, H. F., and Kerrigan, S. W. 2010. *Invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae trigger platelet activation via Toll-like receptor* 2. J Thromb Haemost 8:2757-2765.
- 165. Schumann, R. R., Leong, S. R., Flaggs, G. W., Gray, P. W., Wright, S. D., Mathison, J. C., Tobias, P. S., and Ulevitch, R. J. 1990. Structure and function of lipopolysaccharide binding protein. Science 249:1429-1431.
- 166. Schwandner, R., Dziarski, R., Wesche, H., Rothe, M., and Kirschning, C. J. 1999. *Peptidoglycan- and lipoteichoic acid-induced cell activation is mediated by toll-like receptor* 2. J Biol Chem 274:17406-17409.
- 167. Yoshimura, A., Lien, E., Ingalls, R. R., Tuomanen, E., Dziarski, R., and Golenbock, D. 1999. *Cutting edge: recognition of Gram-positive bacterial cell wall components by the innate immune system occurs via Toll-like receptor* 2. J Immunol 163:1-5.
- 168. **Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K., Hoshino, K., Adachi, O., Ogawa, T., and Akira, S.** 2000. *Cellular responses to bacterial cell wall components are mediated through MyD88-dependent signaling cascades.* Int Immunol **12:**113-117.

- 169. Knapp, S., Wieland, C. W., van 't Veer, C., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S., Florquin, S., and van der Poll, T. 2004. Toll-like receptor 2 plays a role in the early inflammatory response to murine pneumococcal pneumonia but does not contribute to antibacterial defense. J Immunol 172:3132-3138.
- 170. Travassos, L. H., Girardin, S. E., Philpott, D. J., Blanot, D., Nahori, M. A., Werts, C., and Boneca, I. G. 2004. Toll-like receptor 2-dependent bacterial sensing does not occur via peptidoglycan recognition. EMBO Rep 5:1000-1006.
- 171. Theilacker, C., Kaczynski, Z., Kropec, A., Fabretti, F., Sange, T., Holst, O., and Huebner, J. 2006. *Opsonic antibodies to Enterococcus faecalis strain 12030 are directed against lipoteichoic acid.* Infect Immun **74:**5703-5712.
- 172. Broekhuizen, C. A., de Boer, L., Schipper, K., Jones, C. D., Quadir, S., Feldman, R. G., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C. M., and Zaat, S. A. 2009. The influence of antibodies on Staphylococcus epidermidis adherence to polyvinylpyrrolidone-coated silicone elastomer in experimental biomaterial-associated infection in mice. Biomaterials **30**:6444-6450.
- 173. von Gunten, S., Smith, D. F., Cummings, R. D., Riedel, S., Miescher, S., Schaub, A., Hamilton, R. G., and Bochner, B. S. 2009. *Intravenous immunoglobulin contains a broad repertoire of anticarbohydrate antibodies that is not restricted to the IgG2 subclass*. J Allergy Clin Immunol **123:**1268-1276 e1215.
- McDaniel, L. S., Yother, J., Vijayakumar, M., McGarry, L., Guild, W. R., and Briles, D. E. 1987. Use of insertional inactivation to facilitate studies of biological properties of pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA). J Exp Med 165:381-394.
- 175. Langermann, S., Palaszynski, S. R., Burlein, J. E., Koenig, S., Hanson, M. S., Briles, D. E., and Stover, C. K. 1994. Protective humoral response against pneumococcal infection in mice elicited by recombinant bacille Calmette-Guerin vaccines expressing pneumococcal surface protein A. J Exp Med 180:2277-2286.
- 176. **Hollingshead, S. K., Becker, R., and Briles, D. E.** 2000. *Diversity of PspA: mosaic genes and evidence for past recombination in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infect Immun **68**:5889-5900.
- 177. Lamani, E., McPherson, D. T., Hollingshead, S. K., and Jedrzejas, M. J. 2000. Production, characterization, and crystallization of truncated forms of pneumococcal surface protein A from Escherichia coli. Protein Expr Purif **20**:379-388.
- 178. Vela Coral, M. C., Fonseca, N., Castaneda, E., Di Fabio, J. L., Hollingshead, S. K., and Briles, D. E. 2001. *Pneumococcal surface protein A of invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae isolates from Colombian children*. Emerg Infect Dis **7**:832-836.
- 179. **McDaniel, L. S., Scott, G., Kearney, J. F., and Briles, D. E.** 1984. *Monoclonal antibodies against protease-sensitive pneumococcal antigens can protect mice from fatal infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Exp Med **160**:386-397.

- 180. Crain, M. J., Waltman, W. D., 2nd, Turner, J. S., Yother, J., Talkington, D. F., McDaniel, L. S., Gray, B. M., and Briles, D. E. 1990. Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) is serologically highly variable and is expressed by all clinically important capsular serotypes of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 58:3293-3299.
- 181. McDaniel, L. S., Scott, G., Widenhofer, K., Carroll, J. M., and Briles, D. E. 1986. Analysis of a surface protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae recognised by protective monoclonal antibodies. Microb Pathog 1:519-531.
- 182. Waltman, W. D., McDaniel, L. S., Gray, B. M., and Briles, D. E. 1990. Variation in the molecular weight of PspA (pneumococcal surface protein A) among Streptococcus pneumoniae. Microb Pathog 8:61-69.
- 183. Nabors, G. S., Braun, P. A., Herrmann, D. J., Heise, M. L., Pyle, D. J., Gravenstein, S., Schilling, M., Ferguson, L. M., Hollingshead, S. K., Briles, D. E., and Becker, R. S. 2000. Immunization of healthy adults with a single recombinant pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) variant stimulates broadly cross-reactive antibodies to heterologous PspA molecules. Vaccine 18:1743-1754.
- 184. Jedrzejas, M. J., Hollingshead, S. K., Lebowitz, J., Chantalat, L., Briles, D. E., and Lamani, E. 2000. *Production and characterization of the functional fragment of pneumococcal surface protein A*. Arch Biochem Biophys **373:**116-125.
- 185. **Jedrzejas, M. J.** 2006. Unveiling molecular mechanisms of pneumococcal surface protein A interactions with antibodies and lactoferrin. Clin Chim Acta **367:**1-10.
- 186. **Daniels, C. C., Briles, T. C., Mirza, S., Hakansson, A. P., and Briles, D. E.** 2006. *Capsule does not block antibody binding to PspA, a surface virulence protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Microb Pathog **40**:228-233.
- 187. Chou, P. Y., and Fasman, G. D. 1978. *Prediction of the secondary structure of proteins from their amino acid sequence*. Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol **47:**45-148.
- 188. **Garnier, J., Osguthorpe, D. J., and Robson, B.** 1978. Analysis of the accuracy and implications of simple methods for predicting the secondary structure of globular proteins. J Mol Biol **120:**97-120.
- 189. Garcia, P., Garcia, J. L., Garcia, E., and Lopez, R. 1986. Nucleotide sequence and expression of the pneumococcal autolysin gene from its own promoter in Escherichia coli. Gene 43:265-272.
- 190. McDaniel, L. S., Ralph, B. A., McDaniel, D. O., and Briles, D. E. 1994. Localization of protection-eliciting epitopes on PspA of Streptococcus pneumoniae between amino acid residues 192 and 260. Microb Pathog 17:323-337.
- 191. McDaniel, L. S., Loechel, F., Benedict, C., Greenway, T., Briles, D. E., Conry, R. M., and Curiel, D. T. 1997. Immunization with a plasmid expressing pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) can elicit protection against fatal infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae. Gene Ther 4:375-377.

- 192. Rosenow, C., Ryan, P., Weiser, J. N., Johnson, S., Fontan, P., Ortqvist, A., and Masure, H. R. 1997. Contribution of novel choline-binding proteins to adherence, colonization and immunogenicity of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Mol Microbiol **25**:819-829.
- 193. Brooks-Walter, A., Briles, D. E., and Hollingshead, S. K. 1999. The pspC gene of Streptococcus pneumoniae encodes a polymorphic protein, PspC, which elicits cross-reactive antibodies to PspA and provides immunity to pneumococcal bacteremia. Infect Immun 67:6533-6542.
- 194. **Talkington, D. F., Crimmins, D. L., Voellinger, D. C., Yother, J., and Briles, D. E.** 1991. *A* 43-kilodalton pneumococcal surface protein, PspA: isolation, protective abilities, and structural *analysis of the amino-terminal sequence.* Infect Immun **59:**1285-1289.
- 195. Briles, D. E., King, J. D., Gray, M. A., McDaniel, L. S., Swiatlo, E., and Benton, K. A. 1996. *PspA*, *a protection-eliciting pneumococcal protein: immunogenicity of isolated native PspA in mice*. Vaccine **14**:858-867.
- 196. Roche, H., Hakansson, A., Hollingshead, S. K., and Briles, D. E. 2003. Regions of *PspA/EF3296 best able to elicit protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae in a murine infection model*. Infect Immun **71**:1033-1041.
- 197. Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S., Brooks-Walter, A., Nabors, G. S., Ferguson, L., Schilling, M., Gravenstein, S., Braun, P., King, J., and Swift, A. 2000. The potential to use PspA and other pneumococcal proteins to elicit protection against pneumococcal infection. Vaccine 18:1707-1711.
- 198. Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S. K., King, J., Swift, A., Braun, P. A., Park, M. K., Ferguson, L. M., Nahm, M. H., and Nabors, G. S. 2000. Immunization of humans with recombinant pneumococcal surface protein A (rPspA) elicits antibodies that passively protect mice from fatal infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae bearing heterologous PspA. J Infect Dis 182:1694-1701.
- 199. King, Q. O., Lei, B., and Harmsen, A. G. 2009. Pneumococcal surface protein A contributes to secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection after influenza virus infection. J Infect Dis 200:537-545.
- 200. **Iannelli, F., Oggioni, M. R., and Pozzi, G.** 2002. *Allelic variation in the highly polymorphic locus pspC of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Gene **284:**63-71.
- 201. Hsu, H. E., Shutt, K. A., Moore, M. R., Beall, B. W., Bennett, N. M., Craig, A. S., Farley, M. M., Jorgensen, J. H., Lexau, C. A., Petit, S., Reingold, A., Schaffner, W., Thomas, A., Whitney, C. G., and Harrison, L. H. 2009. Effect of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on pneumococcal meningitis. N Engl J Med 360:244-256.
- 202. Daniels, C. C., Coan, P., King, J., Hale, J., Benton, K. A., Briles, D. E., and Hollingshead, S. K. 2010. The proline-rich region of pneumococcal surface proteins A and C contains surface-accessible epitopes common to all pneumococci and elicits antibody-mediated protection against sepsis. Infect Immun 78:2163-2172.

- 203. Moreno, A. T., Oliveira, M. L., Ferreira, D. M., Ho, P. L., Darrieux, M., Leite, L. C., Ferreira, J. M., Jr., Pimenta, F. C., Andrade, A. L., and Miyaji, E. N. 2010. Immunization of mice with single PspA fragments induces antibodies capable of mediating complement deposition on different pneumococcal strains and cross-protection. Clin Vaccine Immunol 17:439-446.
- 204. Meinke, A., Henics, T., Hanner, M., Minh, D. B., and Nagy, E. 2005. Antigenome technology: a novel approach for the selection of bacterial vaccine candidate antigens. Vaccine 23:2035-2041.
- 205. Kolberg, J., Aase, A., Rodal, G., Littlejohn, J. E., and Jedrzejas, M. J. 2003. Epitope mapping of pneumococcal surface protein A of strain Rx1 using monoclonal antibodies and molecular structure modelling. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol **39**:265-273.
- 206. Brandileone, M. C., Andrade, A. L., Teles, E. M., Zanella, R. C., Yara, T. I., Di Fabio, J. L., and Hollingshead, S. K. 2004. Typing of pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) in Streptococcus pneumoniae isolated during epidemiological surveillance in Brazil: towards novel pneumococcal protein vaccines. Vaccine 22:3890-3896.
- 207. **Kim, K. H.** 2005. *Pneumococcal Surface Protein A of Streptococcus pneumoniae Isolates from Koreans*. Korean Journal of Pediatrics **48**:1206-1211.
- 208. Hollingshead, S. K., Baril, L., Ferro, S., King, J., Coan, P., and Briles, D. E. 2006. *Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) family distribution among clinical isolates from adults over 50 years of age collected in seven countries.* J Med Microbiol **55**:215-221.
- 209. Heeg, C., Franken, C., van der Linden, M., Al-Lahham, A., and Reinert, R. R. 2007. Genetic diversity of pneumococcal surface protein A of Streptococcus pneumoniae meningitis in German children. Vaccine 25:1030-1035.
- 210. Ito, Y., Osawa, M., Isozumi, R., Imai, S., Ito, I., Hirai, T., Ishida, T., Ichiyama, S., and Mishima, M. 2007. Pneumococcal surface protein A family types of Streptococcus pneumoniae from community-acquired pneumonia patients in Japan. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 26:739-742.
- 211. Melin, M. M., Hollingshead, S. K., Briles, D. E., Hanage, W. P., Lahdenkari, M., Kaijalainen, T., Kilpi, T. M., and Kayhty, H. M. 2008. Distribution of pneumococcal surface protein A families 1 and 2 among Streptococcus pneumoniae isolates from children in finland who had acute otitis media or were nasopharyngeal carriers. Clin Vaccine Immunol **15**:1555-1563.
- 212. Rolo, D., Ardanuy, C., Fleites, A., Martin, R., and Linares, J. 2009. Diversity of pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) among prevalent clones in Spain. BMC Microbiol 9:80.
- 213. Hammerschmidt, S., Bethe, G., Remane, P. H., and Chhatwal, G. S. 1999. *Identification of pneumococcal surface protein A as a lactoferrin-binding protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infect Immun 67:1683-1687.

- Hakansson, A., Roche, H., Mirza, S., McDaniel, L. S., Brooks-Walter, A., and Briles, D. E. 2001. Characterization of binding of human lactoferrin to pneumococcal surface protein A. Infect Immun 69:3372-3381.
- 215. **Ren, B., Szalai, A. J., Thomas, O., Hollingshead, S. K., and Briles, D. E.** 2003. Both family 1 and family 2 PspA proteins can inhibit complement deposition and confer virulence to a capsular serotype 3 strain of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun **71:**75-85.
- 216. Shaper, M., Hollingshead, S. K., Benjamin, W. H., Jr., and Briles, D. E. 2004. *PspA* protects Streptococcus pneumoniae from killing by apolactoferrin, and antibody to *PspA* enhances killing of pneumococci by apolactoferrin [corrected]. Infect Immun **72:**5031-5040.
- 217. Senkovich, O., Cook, W. J., Mirza, S., Hollingshead, S. K., Protasevich, II, Briles, D. E., and Chattopadhyay, D. 2007. Structure of a complex of human lactoferrin N-lobe with pneumococcal surface protein a provides insight into microbial defense mechanism. J Mol Biol 370:701-713.
- 218. **Tu, A. H., Fulgham, R. L., McCrory, M. A., Briles, D. E., and Szalai, A. J.** 1999. *Pneumococcal surface protein A inhibits complement activation by Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infect Immun **67:**4720-4724.
- 219. Jedrzejas, M. J., Lamani, E., and Becker, R. S. 2001. *Characterization of selected strains of pneumococcal surface protein A*. J Biol Chem **276**:33121-33128.
- 220. Swiatlo, E., King, J., Nabors, G. S., Mathews, B., and Briles, D. E. 2003. *Pneumococcal* surface protein A is expressed in vivo, and antibodies to PspA are effective for therapy in a murine model of pneumococcal sepsis. Infect Immun **71**:7149-7153.
- 221. McDaniel, L. S., Sheffield, J. S., Delucchi, P., and Briles, D. E. 1991. *PspA*, a surface protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae, is capable of eliciting protection against pneumococci of more than one capsular type. Infect Immun 59:222-228.
- 222. Imai, S., Ito, Y., Ishida, T., Hirai, T., Ito, I., Yoshimura, K., Maekawa, K., Takakura, S., Niimi, A., Iinuma, Y., Ichiyama, S., and Mishima, M. 2010. Distribution and clonal relationship of cell surface virulence genes among Streptococcus pneumoniae isolates in Japan. Clin Microbiol Infect. doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03446.x. [Epub ahead of print]
- 223. **Muralinath, M., Kuehn, M. J., Roland, K. L., and Curtiss, R., 3rd.** 2011. *Immunization with Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium-derived outer membrane vesicles delivering the pneumococcal protein PspA confers protection against challenge with Streptococcus pneumoniae.* Infect Immun **79:**887-894.
- 224. Virolainen, A., Russell, W., Crain, M. J., Rapola, S., Kayhty, H., and Briles, D. E. 2000. Human antibodies to pneumococcal surface protein A in health and disease. Pediatr Infect Dis J 19:134-138.
- 225. Baril, L., Briles, D. E., Crozier, P., King, J., Punar, M., Hollingshead, S. K., and McCormick, J. B. 2004. Characterization of antibodies to PspA and PsaA in adults over 50 years of age with invasive pneumococcal disease. Vaccine 23:789-793.

- 226. Baril, L., Dietemann, J., Essevaz-Roulet, M., Beniguel, L., Coan, P., Briles, D. E., Guy, B., and Cozon, G. 2006. Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) is effective at eliciting T cellmediated responses during invasive pneumococcal disease in adults. Clin Exp Immunol 145:277-286.
- 227. Linder, A., Hollingshead, S., Janulczyk, R., Christensson, B., and Akesson, P. 2007. Human antibody response towards the pneumococcal surface proteins PspA and PspC during invasive pneumococcal infection. Vaccine 25:341-345.
- 228. **Graham, R. M., and Paton, J. C.** 2006. Differential role of CbpA and PspA in modulation of in vitro CXC chemokine responses of respiratory epithelial cells to infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun **74**:6739-6749.
- 229. Cao, J., Chen, T., Gong, Y., Ying, B., Li, D., Xu, W., Zhang, X., Wang, L., and Yin, Y. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of the secretion of cytokines and chemokines from human monocytes activated by pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA): Roles of mitogen-activated protein kinases and NF-kappaB. Microb Pathog **48**:220-229.
- 230. Cao, J., Gong, Y., Yin, Y., Wang, L., Ying, B., Chen, T., and Zhang, X. 2010. Pneumococcal proteins PspA and PspC induce CXCL8 production in human neutrophils: implications in pneucmococcal infections. Microbes Infect.12:1051-1060.
- 231. Miyaji, E. N., Dias, W. O., Gamberini, M., Gebara, V. C., Schenkman, R. P., Wild, J., Riedl, P., Reimann, J., Schirmbeck, R., and Leite, L. C. 2001. *PsaA (pneumococcal surface adhesin A) and PspA (pneumococcal surface protein A) DNA vaccines induce humoral and cellular immune responses against Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Vaccine 20:805-812.
- 232. Miyaji, E. N., Ferreira, D. M., Lopes, A. P., Brandileone, M. C., Dias, W. O., and Leite, L. C. 2002. Analysis of serum cross-reactivity and cross-protection elicited by immunization with DNA vaccines against Streptococcus pneumoniae expressing PspA fragments from different clades. Infect Immun **70**:5086-5090.
- 233. Darrieux, M., Miyaji, E. N., Ferreira, D. M., Lopes, L. M., Lopes, A. P., Ren, B., Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S. K., and Leite, L. C. 2007. Fusion proteins containing family 1 and family 2 PspA fragments elicit protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae that correlates with antibody-mediated enhancement of complement deposition. Infect Immun 75:5930-5938.
- 234. Ferreira, D. M., Darrieux, M., Oliveira, M. L., Leite, L. C., and Miyaji, E. N. 2008. Optimized immune response elicited by a DNA vaccine expressing pneumococcal surface protein a is characterized by a balanced immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1)/IgG2a ratio and proinflammatory cytokine production. Clin Vaccine Immunol 15:499-505.
- 235. Ferreira, D. M., Miyaji, E. N., Oliveira, M. L., Darrieux, M., Areas, A. P., Ho, P. L., and Leite, L. C. 2006. DNA vaccines expressing pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) elicit protection levels comparable to recombinant protein. J Med Microbiol 55:375-378.
- 236. Darrieux, M., Moreno, A. T., Ferreira, D. M., Pimenta, F. C., de Andrade, A. L., Lopes, A. P., Leite, L. C., and Miyaji, E. N. 2008. *Recognition of pneumococcal isolates by antisera raised against PspA fragments from different clades*. J Med Microbiol 57:273-278.

- 237. Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S. K., Paton, J. C., Ades, E. W., Novak, L., van Ginkel, F. W., and Benjamin, W. H., Jr. 2003. *Immunizations with pneumococcal surface protein A and pneumolysin are protective against pneumonia in a murine model of pulmonary infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Infect Dis 188:339-348.
- 238. Cao, J., Chen, D., Xu, W., Chen, T., Xu, S., Luo, J., Zhao, Q., Liu, B., Wang, D., Zhang, X., Shan, Y., and Yin, Y. 2007. Enhanced protection against pneumococcal infection elicited by immunization with the combination of PspA, PspC, and ClpP. Vaccine 25:4996-5005.
- 239. Wu, H. Y., Nahm, M. H., Guo, Y., Russell, M. W., and Briles, D. E. 1997. Intranasal immunization of mice with PspA (pneumococcal surface protein A) can prevent intranasal carriage, pulmonary infection, and sepsis with Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Infect Dis 175:839-846.
- 240. **Moore, Q. C., Bosarge, J. R., Quin, L. R., and McDaniel, L. S.** 2006. *Enhanced protective immunity against pneumococcal infection with PspA DNA and protein*. Vaccine **24:**5755-5761.
- 241. Ferreira, D. M., Oliveira, M. L., Moreno, A. T., Ho, P. L., Briles, D. E., and Miyaji, E. N. 2010. Protection against nasal colonization with Streptococcus pneumoniae by parenteral immunization with a DNA vaccine encoding PspA (Pneumococcal surface protein A). Microb Pathog 48:205-213.
- Yamamoto, M., Briles, D. E., Yamamoto, S., Ohmura, M., Kiyono, H., and McGhee, J. R. 1998. A nontoxic adjuvant for mucosal immunity to pneumococcal surface protein A. J Immunol 161:4115-4121.
- 243. Campos, I. B., Darrieux, M., Ferreira, D. M., Miyaji, E. N., Silva, D. A., Areas, A. P., Aires, K. A., Leite, L. C., Ho, P. L., and Oliveira, M. L. 2008. Nasal immunization of mice with Lactobacillus casei expressing the Pneumococcal Surface Protein A: induction of antibodies, complement deposition and partial protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae challenge. Microbes Infect 10:481-488.
- 244. Ferreira, D. M., Darrieux, M., Silva, D. A., Leite, L. C., Ferreira, J. M., Jr., Ho, P. L., Miyaji, E. N., and Oliveira, M. L. 2009. *Characterization of protective mucosal and systemic immune responses elicited by pneumococcal surface protein PspA and PspC nasal vaccines against a respiratory pneumococcal challenge in mice*. Clin Vaccine Immunol 16:636-645.
- 245. Areas, A. P., Oliveira, M. L., Miyaji, E. N., Leite, L. C., and Ho, P. L. 2005. Intradermal immunization of mice with cholera toxin B-pneumococcal surface protein A fusion protein is protective against intraperitoneal challenge with Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 73:3810-3813.
- 246. Arulanandam, B. P., Lynch, J. M., Briles, D. E., Hollingshead, S., and Metzger, D. W. 2001. Intranasal vaccination with pneumococcal surface protein A and interleukin-12 augments antibody-mediated opsonization and protective immunity against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. Infect Immun 69:6718-6724.

- 247. Oliveira, M. L., Miyaji, E. N., Ferreira, D. M., Moreno, A. T., Ferreira, P. C., Lima, F. A., Santos, F. L., Sakauchi, M. A., Takata, C. S., Higashi, H. G., Raw, I., Kubrusly, F. S., and Ho, P. L. 2010. Combination of pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) with whole cell pertussis vaccine increases protection against pneumococcal challenge in mice. PLoS One 5:e10863.
- 248. **Rohatgi, S., Dutta, D., Tahir, S., and Sehgal, D.** 2009. *Molecular dissection of antibody responses against pneumococcal surface protein A: evidence for diverse DH-less heavy chain gene usage and avidity maturation.* J Immunol **182:**5570-5585.
- 249. Johnson, M. K., Geoffroy, C., and Alouf, J. E. 1980. *Binding of cholesterol by sulfhydrylactivated cytolysins*. Infect Immun 27:97-101.
- 250. **Paton, J. C., Lock, R. A., and Hansman, D. J.** 1983. *Effect of immunization with pneumolysin on survival time of mice challenged with Streptococcus pneumoniae.* Infect Immun **40**:548-552.
- 251. Walker, J. A., Allen, R. L., Falmagne, P., Johnson, M. K., and Boulnois, G. J. 1987. Molecular cloning, characterization, and complete nucleotide sequence of the gene for pneumolysin, the sulfhydryl-activated toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 55:1184-1189.
- 252. Berry, A. M., Yother, J., Briles, D. E., Hansman, D., and Paton, J. C. 1989. Reduced virulence of a defined pneumolysin-negative mutant of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 57:2037-2042.
- 253. Berry, A. M., Lock, R. A., Hansman, D., and Paton, J. C. 1989. Contribution of autolysin to virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 57:2324-2330.
- 254. Rossjohn, J., Gilbert, R. J., Crane, D., Morgan, P. J., Mitchell, T. J., Rowe, A. J., Andrew, P. W., Paton, J. C., Tweten, R. K., and Parker, M. W. 1998. The molecular mechanism of pneumolysin, a virulence factor from Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Mol Biol 284:449-461.
- 255. Orihuela, C. J., Janssen, R., Robb, C. W., Watson, D. A., and Niesel, D. W. 2000. *Peritoneal culture alters Streptococcus pneumoniae protein profiles and virulence properties.* Infect Immun 68:6082-6086.
- 256. **Jedrzejas**, **M. J.** 2001. *Pneumococcal virulence factors: structure and function*. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev **65**:187-207 ; first page, table of contents.
- 257. Hava, D. L., LeMieux, J., and Camilli, A. 2003. From nose to lung: the regulation behind Streptococcus pneumoniae virulence factors. Mol Microbiol **50**:1103-1110.
- 258. **Orihuela, C. J., Gao, G., Francis, K. P., Yu, J., and Tuomanen, E. I.** 2004. *Tissue-specific contributions of pneumococcal virulence factors to pathogenesis.* J Infect Dis **190:**1661-1669.
- 259. Guiral, S., Mitchell, T. J., Martin, B., and Claverys, J. P. 2005. Competence-programmed predation of noncompetent cells in the human pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae: genetic requirements. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8710-8715.

- 260. Farrand, S., Hotze, E., Friese, P., Hollingshead, S. K., Smith, D. F., Cummings, R. D., Dale, G. L., and Tweten, R. K. 2008. *Characterization of a streptococcal cholesterol-dependent cytolysin with a lewis y and b specific lectin domain*. Biochemistry **47**:7097-7107.
- 261. Hirst, R. A., Gosai, B., Rutman, A., Guerin, C. J., Nicotera, P., Andrew, P. W., and O'Callaghan, C. 2008. Streptococcus pneumoniae deficient in pneumolysin or autolysin has reduced virulence in meningitis. J Infect Dis 197:744-751.
- 262. **Preston, J. A., and Dockrell, D. H.** 2008. *Virulence factors in pneumococcal respiratory pathogenesis*. Future Microbiol **3:**205-221.
- 263. Schachern, P. A., Tsuprun, V., Cureoglu, S., Ferrieri, P., Briles, D. E., Paparella, M. M., and Juhn, S. 2009. *Virulence of pneumococcal proteins on the inner ear*. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg **135**:657-661.
- 264. Cole, R. 1914. Pneumococcus Hemotoxin. J Exp Med 20:346-362.
- 265. **Neill, J. M.** 1926. *Studies on the Oxidation and Reduction of Immunological Substances : I. Pneumococcus Hemotoxin.* J Exp Med **44:**199-213.
- 266. Cohen, B., Perkins, M. E., and Putterman, S. 1940. *The reaction between hemolysin and cholesterol*. The Journal of Bacteriology **39**:59.
- 267. Alouf, J. E. 1980. *Streptococcal toxins (streptolysin O, streptolysin S, erythrogenic toxin)*. Pharmacol Ther **11**:661-717.
- 268. Briese, T., and Hakenbeck, R. 1985. Interaction of the pneumococcal amidase with lipoteichoic acid and choline. Eur J Biochem 146:417-427.
- 269. **Paton, J. C., Berry, A. M., Lock, R. A., Hansman, D., and Manning, P. A.** 1986. *Cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of the Streptococcus pneumoniae gene encoding pneumolysin.* Infect Immun **54**:50-55.
- 270. Mitchell, T. J., Mendez, F., Paton, J. C., Andrew, P. W., and Boulnois, G. J. 1990. *Comparison of pneumolysin genes and proteins from Streptococcus pneumoniae types 1 and 2.* Nucleic Acids Res **18:**4010.
- 271. Benton, K. A., Paton, J. C., and Briles, D. E. 1997. Differences in virulence for mice among Streptococcus pneumoniae strains of capsular types 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 are not attributable to differences in pneumolysin production. Infect Immun 65:1237-1244.
- 272. Berry, A. M., and Paton, J. C. 2000. Additive attenuation of virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae by mutation of the genes encoding pneumolysin and other putative pneumococcal virulence proteins. Infect Immun 68:133-140.
- 273. Balachandran, P., Hollingshead, S. K., Paton, J. C., and Briles, D. E. 2001. The autolytic enzyme LytA of Streptococcus pneumoniae is not responsible for releasing pneumolysin. J Bacteriol 183:3108-3116.

F - BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 274. **Stroeher, U. H., Paton, A. W., Ogunniyi, A. D., and Paton, J. C.** 2003. *Mutation of luxS of Streptococcus pneumoniae affects virulence in a mouse model*. Infect Immun **71:**3206-3212.
- 275. Joyce, E. A., Kawale, A., Censini, S., Kim, C. C., Covacci, A., and Falkow, S. 2004. LuxS is required for persistent pneumococcal carriage and expression of virulence and biosynthesis genes. Infect Immun 72:2964-2975.
- 276. **Price, K. E., and Camilli, A.** 2009. *Pneumolysin localizes to the cell wall of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Bacteriol **191:**2163-2168.
- 277. Morgan, P. J., Hyman, S. C., Byron, O., Andrew, P. W., Mitchell, T. J., and Rowe, A. J. 1994. *Modeling the bacterial protein toxin, pneumolysin, in its monomeric and oligomeric form*. J Biol Chem **269:**25315-25320.
- Morgan, P. J., Hyman, S. C., Rowe, A. J., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., and Saibil, H. R. 1995. Subunit organisation and symmetry of pore-forming, oligomeric pneumolysin. FEBS Lett 371:77-80.
- 279. Gilbert, R. J., Heenan, R. K., Timmins, P. A., Gingles, N. A., Mitchell, T. J., Rowe, A. J., Rossjohn, J., Parker, M. W., Andrew, P. W., and Byron, O. 1999. Studies on the structure and mechanism of a bacterial protein toxin by analytical ultracentrifugation and small-angle neutron scattering. J Mol Biol **293:**1145-1160.
- 280. Gilbert, R. J., Jimenez, J. L., Chen, S., Tickle, I. J., Rossjohn, J., Parker, M., Andrew, P. W., and Saibil, H. R. 1999. Two structural transitions in membrane pore formation by pneumolysin, the pore-forming toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Cell 97:647-655.
- 281. **Tilley, S. J., Orlova, E. V., Gilbert, R. J., Andrew, P. W., and Saibil, H. R.** 2005. *Structural basis of pore formation by the bacterial toxin pneumolysin.* Cell **121:**247-256.
- 282. Jedrzejas, M. J. 2007. Unveiling molecular mechanisms of bacterial surface proteins: Streptococcus pneumoniae as a model organism for structural studies. Cell Mol Life Sci 64:2799-2822.
- 283. El-Rachkidy, R. G., Davies, N. W., and Andrew, P. W. 2008. *Pneumolysin generates multiple conductance pores in the membrane of nucleated cells*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 368:786-792.
- 284. Suarez-Alvarez, B., Garcia-Suarez Mdel, M., Mendez, F. J., and de los Toyos, J. R. 2003. Characterisation of mouse monoclonal antibodies for pneumolysin: fine epitope mapping and V gene usage. Immunol Lett 88:227-239.
- 285. Benton, K. A., Everson, M. P., and Briles, D. E. 1995. A pneumolysin-negative mutant of Streptococcus pneumoniae causes chronic bacteremia rather than acute sepsis in mice. Infect Immun 63:448-455.
- 286. **Rubins, J. B., and Janoff, E. N.** 1998. *Pneumolysin: a multifunctional pneumococcal virulence factor*. J Lab Clin Med **131:**21-27.

- 287. Canvin, J. R., Marvin, A. P., Sivakumaran, M., Paton, J. C., Boulnois, G. J., Andrew, P. W., and Mitchell, T. J. 1995. The role of pneumolysin and autolysin in the pathology of pneumonia and septicemia in mice infected with a type 2 pneumococcus. J Infect Dis 172:119-123.
- Rubins, J. B., Charboneau, D., Paton, J. C., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., and Janoff, E. N. 1995. Dual function of pneumolysin in the early pathogenesis of murine pneumococcal pneumonia. J Clin Invest 95:142-150.
- 289. **Ogunniyi, A. D., Giammarinaro, P., and Paton, J. C.** 2002. *The genes encoding virulenceassociated proteins and the capsule of Streptococcus pneumoniae are upregulated and differentially expressed in vivo*. Microbiology **148**:2045-2053.
- 290. Oggioni, M. R., Trappetti, C., Kadioglu, A., Cassone, M., Iannelli, F., Ricci, S., Andrew, P. W., and Pozzi, G. 2006. Switch from planktonic to sessile life: a major event in pneumococcal pathogenesis. Mol Microbiol 61:1196-1210.
- 291. Ogunniyi, A. D., LeMessurier, K. S., Graham, R. M., Watt, J. M., Briles, D. E., Stroeher, U. H., and Paton, J. C. 2007. Contributions of pneumolysin, pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA), and PspC to pathogenicity of Streptococcus pneumoniae D39 in a mouse model. Infect Immun 75:1843-1851.
- Berry, A. M., Alexander, J. E., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., Hansman, D., and Paton, J. C. 1995. Effect of defined point mutations in the pneumolysin gene on the virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 63:1969-1974.
- 293. Alexander, J. E., Berry, A. M., Paton, J. C., Rubins, J. B., Andrew, P. W., and Mitchell, T. J. 1998. Amino acid changes affecting the activity of pneumolysin alter the behaviour of pneumococci in pneumonia. Microb Pathog 24:167-174.
- 294. Van Epps, D. E., and Andersen, B. R. 1974. *Streptolysin O inhibition of neutrophil chemotaxis and mobility: nonimmune phenomenon with species specificity*. Infect Immun 9:27-33.
- 295. McAllister, C. K., O'Donoghue, J. M., and Beaty, H. N. 1975. Experimental pneumococcal meningitis. II. Characterization and quantitation of the inflammatory process. J Infect Dis 132:355-360.
- 296. **Paton, J. C., and Ferrante, A.** 1983. *Inhibition of human polymorphonuclear leukocyte respiratory burst, bactericidal activity, and migration by pneumolysin*. Infect Immun **41**:1212-1216.
- 297. Ferrante, A., Rowan-Kelly, B., and Paton, J. C. 1984. Inhibition of in vitro human lymphocyte response by the pneumococcal toxin pneumolysin. Infect Immun 46:585-589.
- 298. Nandoskar, M., Ferrante, A., Bates, E. J., Hurst, N., and Paton, J. C. 1986. Inhibition of human monocyte respiratory burst, degranulation, phospholipid methylation and bactericidal activity by pneumolysin. Immunology **59:**515-520.

F - BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 299. Saukkonen, K., Sande, S., Cioffe, C., Wolpe, S., Sherry, B., Cerami, A., and Tuomanen, E. 1990. The role of cytokines in the generation of inflammation and tissue damage in experimental gram-positive meningitis. J Exp Med 171:439-448.
- 300. Houldsworth, S., Andrew, P. W., and Mitchell, T. J. 1994. Pneumolysin stimulates production of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-1 beta by human mononuclear phagocytes. Infect Immun 62:1501-1503.
- 301. de los Toyos, J. R., Mendez, F. J., Aparicio, J. F., Vazquez, F., Del Mar Garcia Suarez, M., Fleites, A., Hardisson, C., Morgan, P. J., Andrew, P. W., and Mitchell, T. J. 1996. Functional analysis of pneumolysin by use of monoclonal antibodies. Infect Immun 64:480-484.
- 302. Benton, K. A., VanCott, J. L., and Briles, D. E. 1998. Role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in the host response of mice to bacteremia caused by pneumolysin-deficient Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 66:839-842.
- 303. **Wood, W. B.** 1941. Studies on the Mechanism of Recovery in Pneumococcal Pneumonia : I. The Action of Type Specific Antibody Upon the Pulmonary Lesion of Experimental Pneumonia. J Exp Med **73:**201-222.
- 304. Steinfort, C., Wilson, R., Mitchell, T., Feldman, C., Rutman, A., Todd, H., Sykes, D., Walker, J., Saunders, K., Andrew, P. W., and et al. 1989. *Effect of Streptococcus pneumoniae on human respiratory epithelium in vitro*. Infect Immun **57**:2006-2013.
- 305. Bingen, E., Lambert-Zechovsky, N., Mariani-Kurkdjian, P., Doit, C., Aujard, Y., Fournerie, F., and Mathieu, H. 1990. *Bacterial counts in cerebrospinal fluid of children with meningitis*. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis **9:**278-281.
- 306. Cochrane, C. G. 1991. Cellular injury by oxidants. Am J Med 91:23S-30S.
- 307. Rubins, J. B., Duane, P. G., Clawson, D., Charboneau, D., Young, J., and Niewoehner,
 D. E. 1993. Toxicity of pneumolysin to pulmonary alveolar epithelial cells. Infect Immun 61:1352-1358.
- 308. Hirst, R. A., Sikand, K. S., Rutman, A., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., and O'Callaghan, C. 2000. Relative roles of pneumolysin and hydrogen peroxide from Streptococcus pneumoniae in inhibition of ependymal ciliary beat frequency. Infect Immun 68:1557-1562.
- 309. Zysk, G., Schneider-Wald, B. K., Hwang, J. H., Bejo, L., Kim, K. S., Mitchell, T. J., Hakenbeck, R., and Heinz, H. P. 2001. Pneumolysin is the main inducer of cytotoxicity to brain microvascular endothelial cells caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 69:845-852.
- 310. Hirst, R. A., Gosai, B., Rutman, A., Andrew, P. W., and O'Callaghan, C. 2003. *Streptococcus pneumoniae damages the ciliated ependyma of the brain during meningitis*. Infect Immun **71:**6095-6100.
- 311. Hirst, R. A., Kadioglu, A., O'Callaghan, C., and Andrew, P. W. 2004. The role of pneumolysin in pneumococcal pneumonia and meningitis. Clin Exp Immunol **138**:195-201.

- 312. Braun, J. S., Hoffmann, O., Schickhaus, M., Freyer, D., Dagand, E., Bermpohl, D., Mitchell, T. J., Bechmann, I., and Weber, J. R. 2007. *Pneumolysin causes neuronal cell death through mitochondrial damage*. Infect Immun 75:4245-4254.
- 313. Garcia-Suarez Mdel, M., Florez, N., Astudillo, A., Vazquez, F., Villaverde, R., Fabrizio, K., Pirofski, L. A., and Mendez, F. J. 2007. The role of pneumolysin in mediating lung damage in a lethal pneumococcal pneumonia murine model. Respir Res 8:3.
- 314. Witzenrath, M., Gutbier, B., Owen, J. S., Schmeck, B., Mitchell, T. J., Mayer, K., Thomas, M. J., Ishii, S., Rosseau, S., Suttorp, N., and Schutte, H. 2007. *Role of platelet-activating factor in pneumolysin-induced acute lung injury*. Crit Care Med 35:1756-1762.
- 315. **Franco-Vidal, V., Beurg, M., Darrouzet, V., Bebear, J. P., Skinner, L. J., and Dulon, D.** 2008. *Zinc protection against pneumolysin toxicity on rat cochlear hair cells*. Audiol Neurootol **13:**65-70.
- 316. **Tsuprun, V., Cureoglu, S., Schachern, P. A., Ferrieri, P., Briles, D. E., Paparella, M. M.,** and Juhn, S. K. 2008. *Role of pneumococcal proteins in sensorineural hearing loss due to otitis media.* Otol Neurotol **29**:1056-1060.
- 317. Reiss, A., Braun, J. S., Jager, K., Freyer, D., Laube, G., Buhrer, C., Felderhoff-Muser, U., Stadelmann, C., Nizet, V., and Weber, J. R. 2011. *Bacterial pore-forming cytolysins induce neuronal damage in a rat model of neonatal meningitis*. J Infect Dis **203**:393-400.
- 318. Littmann, M., Albiger, B., Frentzen, A., Normark, S., Henriques-Normark, B., and Plant, L. 2009. Streptococcus pneumoniae evades human dendritic cell surveillance by pneumolysin expression. EMBO Mol Med 1:211-222.
- 319. Cruse, G., Fernandes, V. E., de Salort, J., Pankhania, D., Marinas, M. S., Brewin, H., Andrew, P. W., Bradding, P., and Kadioglu, A. 2010. Human lung mast cells mediate pneumococcal cell death in response to activation by pneumolysin. J Immunol 184:7108-7115.
- 320. Iliev, A. I., Djannatian, J. R., Nau, R., Mitchell, T. J., and Wouters, F. S. 2007. Cholesterol-dependent actin remodeling via RhoA and Rac1 activation by the Streptococcus pneumoniae toxin pneumolysin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:2897-2902.
- 321. Iliev, A. I., Djannatian, J. R., Opazo, F., Gerber, J., Nau, R., Mitchell, T. J., and Wouters, F. S. 2009. Rapid microtubule bundling and stabilization by the Streptococcus pneumoniae neurotoxin pneumolysin in a cholesterol-dependent, non-lytic and Src-kinase dependent manner inhibits intracellular trafficking. Mol Microbiol **71**:461-477.
- 322. **Paton, J. C., Rowan-Kelly, B., and Ferrante, A.** 1984. *Activation of human complement by the pneumococcal toxin pneumolysin.* Infect Immun **43:**1085-1087.
- 323. **Briles, D. E., Paton, J. C., Swiatlo, E., and Crain, M. J.** 2006, Chapter 24, Page 291-292, *Gram-positive pathogens, 2nd Edition,* V. A. Fischetti, R. P. Novick, J. J. Ferretti, D. A. Portnoy, and J. I. Rood. ASM Press, Washington, D. C.

- 324. Paton, J. C., Lock, R. A., Lee, C. J., Li, J. P., Berry, A. M., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., Hansman, D., and Boulnois, G. J. 1991. Purification and immunogenicity of genetically obtained pneumolysin toxoids and their conjugation to Streptococcus pneumoniae type 19F polysaccharide. Infect Immun 59:2297-2304.
- 325. Berry, A. M., Glare, E. M., Hansman, D., and Paton, J. C. 1989. *Presence of a small plasmid in clinical isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. FEMS Microbiol Lett **53:**275-278.
- 326. Alexander, J. E., Lock, R. A., Peeters, C. C., Poolman, J. T., Andrew, P. W., Mitchell, T. J., Hansman, D., and Paton, J. C. 1994. Immunization of mice with pneumolysin toxoid confers a significant degree of protection against at least nine serotypes of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun 62:5683-5688.
- 327. Berry, A. M., Ogunniyi, A. D., Miller, D. C., and Paton, J. C. 1999. Comparative virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae strains with insertion-duplication, point, and deletion mutations in the pneumolysin gene. Infect Immun 67:981-985.
- 328. Ogunniyi, A. D., Grabowicz, M., Briles, D. E., Cook, J., and Paton, J. C. 2007. Development of a vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease based on combinations of virulence proteins of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun **75:**350-357.
- 329. Lu, Y. J., Forte, S., Thompson, C. M., Anderson, P. W., and Malley, R. 2009. Protection against Pneumococcal colonization and fatal pneumonia by a trivalent conjugate of a fusion protein with the cell wall polysaccharide. Infect Immun 77:2076-2083.
- 330. Wu, K., Zhang, X., Shi, J., Li, N., Li, D., Luo, M., Cao, J., Yin, N., Wang, H., Xu, W., He, Y., and Yin, Y. 2010. Immunization with a combination of three pneumococcal proteins confers additive and broad protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae Infections in Mice. Infect Immun 78:1276-1283.
- 331. Oloo, E. O., Yethon, J. A., Ochs, M. M., Carpick, B., and Oomen, R. 2011. Structureguided antigen engineering yields pneumolysin mutants suitable for vaccination against pneumococcal disease. J Biol Chem 286:12133-12140
- 332. **Musher, D. M., Phan, H. M., and Baughn, R. E.** 2001. *Protection against bacteremic pneumococcal infection by antibody to pneumolysin.* J Infect Dis **183:**827-830.
- 333. **Huo, Z., Spencer, O., Miles, J., Johnson, J., Holliman, R., Sheldon, J., and Riches, P.** 2004. *Antibody response to pneumolysin and to pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide in healthy individuals and Streptococcus pneumoniae infected patients*. Vaccine **22:**1157-1161.
- 334. Kanclerski, K., Blomquist, S., Granstrom, M., and Mollby, R. 1988. Serum antibodies to pneumolysin in patients with pneumonia. J Clin Microbiol 26:96-100.
- 335. Jalonen, E., Paton, J. C., Koskela, M., Kerttula, Y., and Leinonen, M. 1989. Measurement of antibody responses to pneumolysin--a promising method for the presumptive aetiological diagnosis of pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect **19**:127-134.

- 336. Marks, M., Burns, T., Abadi, M., Seyoum, B., Thornton, J., Tuomanen, E., and Pirofski, L. A. 2007. Influence of neutropenia on the course of serotype 8 pneumococcal pneumonia in mice. Infect Immun 75:1586-1597.
- 337. Green, S. N., Sanders, M., Moore, Q. C., 3rd, Norcross, E. W., Monds, K. S., Caballero, A. R., McDaniel, L. S., Robinson, S. A., Onwubiko, C., O'Callaghan, R. J., and Marquart, M. E. 2008. Protection from Streptococcus pneumoniae keratitis by passive immunization with pneumolysin antiserum. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49:290-294.
- 338. Garcia-Suarez Mdel, M., Cima-Cabal, M. D., Florez, N., Garcia, P., Cernuda-Cernuda, R., Astudillo, A., Vazquez, F., De los Toyos, J. R., and Mendez, F. J. 2004. Protection against pneumococcal pneumonia in mice by monoclonal antibodies to pneumolysin. Infect Immun 72:4534-4540.
- 339. Hirst, R. A., Mohammed, B. J., Mitchell, T. J., Andrew, P. W., and O'Callaghan, C. 2004. Streptococcus pneumoniae-induced inhibition of rat ependymal cilia is attenuated by antipneumolysin antibody. Infect Immun 72:6694-6698.
- 340. Cockeran, R., Anderson, R., and Feldman, C. 2005. *Pneumolysin as a vaccine and drug target in the prevention and treatment of invasive pneumococcal disease*. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 53:189-198.
- 341. Kohler, G., and Milstein, C. 1975. *Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity*. Nature **256**:495-497.
- 342. Rathjen, D. A., and Geczy, C. L. 1986. Conditioned medium from macrophage cell lines supports the single-cell growth of hybridomas. Hybridoma 5:255-261.
- 343. **Ober, R. J., Radu, C. G., Ghetie, V., and Ward, E. S.** 2001. *Differences in promiscuity for antibody-FcRn interactions across species: implications for therapeutic antibodies.* Int Immunol **13:**1551-1559.
- 344. Morrison, S. L., Johnson, M. J., Herzenberg, L. A., and Oi, V. T. 1984. *Chimeric human antibody molecules: mouse antigen-binding domains with human constant region domains*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **81:**6851-6855.
- 345. Kang, A. S., Jones, T. M., and Burton, D. R. 1991. Antibody redesign by chain shuffling from random combinatorial immunoglobulin libraries. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:11120-11123.
- 346. Jespers, L. S., Roberts, A., Mahler, S. M., Winter, G., and Hoogenboom, H. R. 1994. *Guiding the selection of human antibodies from phage display repertoires to a single epitope of an antigen*. Biotechnology (N Y) **12:**899-903.
- 347. Wright, A., Shin, S. U., and Morrison, S. L. 1992. *Genetically engineered antibodies: progress and prospects*. Crit Rev Immunol **12**:125-168.
- 348. **Burnie, J. P., and Matthews, R. C.** 1998. *The renaissance of antibody therapy*. J Antimicrob Chemother **41**:319-322.

- 349. **Tomita, M., and Tsumoto, K.** 2011. *Hybridoma technologies for antibody production*. Immunotherapy **3:**371-380.
- 350. Vor dem Esche, U., Huber, M., Zgaga-Griesz, A., Grunow, R., Beyer, W., Hahn, U., and Bessler, W. G. 2010. *Passive vaccination with a human monoclonal antibody: Generation of antibodies and studies for efficacy in Bacillus anthracis infections*. Immunobiology. [Epub ahead of print]
- 351. Ishida, I., Tomizuka, K., Yoshida, H., Tahara, T., Takahashi, N., Ohguma, A., Tanaka, S., Umehashi, M., Maeda, H., Nozaki, C., Halk, E., and Lonberg, N. 2002. *Production of human monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies in TransChromo animals*. Cloning Stem Cells 4:91-102.
- 352. Lonberg, N. 2008. *Human monoclonal antibodies from transgenic mice*. Handb Exp Pharmacol 181:69-97.
- 353. **Pasqualini, R., and Arap, W.** 2004. *Hybridoma-free generation of monoclonal antibodies*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:257-259.
- 354. **Kurosawa, N., Yoshioka, M., and Isobe, M.** 2011. *Target-selective homologous recombination cloning for high-throughput generation of monoclonal antibodies from single plasma cells*. BMC Biotechnol **11**:39.
- 355. **Feldhaus, M. J., and Siegel, R. W.** 2004. *Yeast display of antibody fragments: a discovery and characterization platform.* J Immunol Methods **290:**69-80.
- 356. **Strohl, W. R.** 2009, Chapter 1, Page 4-43, *Therapeutic monoclonal antibodies : from bench to clinic*, Z. An. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford.
- 357. Walker, L. M., Bowley, D. R., and Burton, D. R. 2009. *Efficient recovery of high-affinity antibodies from a single-chain Fab yeast display library*. J Mol Biol **389:**365-375.
- 358. **Zhou, H., Wang, Y., Wang, W., Jia, J., Li, Y., Wang, Q., Wu, Y., and Tang, J.** 2009. *Generation of monoclonal antibodies against highly conserved antigens.* PLoS One **4**:e6087.
- 359. **Grimm, S., Yu, F., and Nygren, P. A.** 2011. *Ribosome Display Selection of a Murine IgG(1) Fab Binding Affibody Molecule Allowing Species Selective Recovery Of Monoclonal Antibodies.* Mol Biotechnol. [Epub ahead of pring]
- 360. **Pini, A., and Bracci, L.** 2000. *Phage display of antibody fragments*. Curr Protein Pept Sci **1:**155-169.
- 361. Jakobsen, C. G., Rasmussen, N., Laenkholm, A. V., and Ditzel, H. J. 2007. Phage display derived human monoclonal antibodies isolated by binding to the surface of live primary breast cancer cells recognize GRP78. Cancer Res 67:9507-9517.
- 362. **Thie, H., Meyer, T., Schirrmann, T., Hust, M., and Dubel, S.** 2008. *Phage display derived therapeutic antibodies*. Curr Pharm Biotechnol **9:**439-446.

- 363. **Haurum, J., and Bregenholt, S.** 2005. *Recombinant polyclonal antibodies: therapeutic antibody technologies come full circle*. IDrugs **8:**404-409.
- 364. **Hoogenboom, H. R.** 2005. *Selecting and screening recombinant antibody libraries*. Nat Biotechnol **23:**1105-1116.
- 365. Kim, S. J., Park, Y., and Hong, H. J. 2005. Antibody engineering for the development of therapeutic antibodies. Mol Cells 20:17-29.
- 366. Smith, J., Kontermann, R. E., Embleton, J., and Kumar, S. 2005. *Antibody phage display technologies with special reference to angiogenesis*. FASEB J **19:**331-341.
- 367. Miller, R. A., Oseroff, A. R., Stratte, P. T., and Levy, R. 1983. Monoclonal antibody therapeutic trials in seven patients with T-cell lymphoma. Blood 62:988-995.
- 368. Reichert, J. M., Rosensweig, C. J., Faden, L. B., and Dewitz, M. C. 2005. *Monoclonal antibody successes in the clinic*. Nat Biotechnol **23:**1073-1078.
- 369. Beerli, R. R., Bauer, M., Buser, R. B., Gwerder, M., Muntwiler, S., Maurer, P., Saudan, P., and Bachmann, M. F. 2008. Isolation of human monoclonal antibodies by mammalian cell display. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:14336-14341.
- 370. **Casadevall, A.** 1996. *Antibody-based therapies for emerging infectious diseases*. Emerg Infect Dis **2**:200-208.
- 371. Keller, M. A., and Stiehm, E. R. 2000. *Passive immunity in prevention and treatment of infectious diseases*. Clin Microbiol Rev 13:602-614.
- 372. **Casadevall, A.** 2002. *Passive antibody administration (immediate immunity) as a specific defense against biological weapons.* Emerg Infect Dis **8:**833-841.
- 373. Nagy, E., Giefing, C., and von Gabain, A. 2008. *Anti-infective antibodies: a novel tool to prevent and treat nosocomial diseases*. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther **6**:21-30.
- 374. **Giefing, C., Nagy, E., and von Gabain, A.** 2009. *The antigenome: from protein subunit vaccines to antibody treatments of bacterial infections?* Adv Exp Med Biol **655**:90-117.
- 375. Weisman, L. E., Cruess, D. F., and Fischer, G. W. 1994. Opsonic activity of commercially available standard intravenous immunoglobulin preparations. Pediatr Infect Dis J 13:1122-1125.
- 376. **Slade, H. B.** 1994. *Human Immunoglobulins for intravenous use and hepatitis C viral transmission*. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol **1:**613-619.
- 377. **Casadevall, A.** 1999. *Passive antibody therapies: progress and continuing challenges*. Clin Immunol **93:**5-15.
- 378. Weiner, C., Pan, Q., Hurtig, M., Boren, T., Bostwick, E., and Hammarstrom, L. 1999. Passive immunity against human pathogens using bovine antibodies. Clin Exp Immunol 116:193-205.

F - BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 379. **French, D. L., Laskov, R., and Scharff, M. D.** 1989. *The role of somatic hypermutation in the generation of antibody diversity*. Science **244**:1152-1157.
- 380. Waldmann, T. A. 2003. Immunotherapy: past, present and future. Nat Med 9:269-277.
- 381. **Via, M. C.** 2004. *New Directions in Monoclonal Antibodies: Technologies, Markets, Competition.* Cambridge Healthtech Advisors. http://www.chadvisors.com. [Online]
- 382. Prete, M., Perosa, F., Favoino, E., and Dammacco, F. 2005. Biological therapy with monoclonal antibodies: a novel treatment approach to autoimmune disease. Clin Exp Med 5:141-160.
- 383. Sanz, L., Cuesta, A. M., Compte, M., and Alvarez-Vallina, L. 2005. *Antibody engineering: facing new challenges in cancer therapy*. Acta Pharmacol Sin **26:**641-648.
- 384. **Shoenfeld, Y., and Toubi, E.** 2005. *Protective autoantibodies: role in homeostasis, clinical importance, and therapeutic potential*. Arthritis Rheum **52:**2599-2606.
- 385. **Stern, M., and Herrmann, R.** 2005. *Overview of monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy: present and promise*. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol **54:**11-29.
- 386. **Zhao, Y., Russ, M., Morgan, C., Muller, S., and Kohler, H.** 2005. *Therapeutic applications of superantibodies*. Drug Discov Today **10:**1231-1236.
- 387. Carter, P. J. 2006. Potent antibody therapeutics by design. Nat Rev Immunol 6:343-357.
- 388. **Birnie, G. D.** 1988. *The HL60 cell line: a model system for studying human myeloid cell differentiation*. Br J Cancer Suppl **9:4**1-45.
- 389. Min, H., and Cowman, M. K. 1986. Combined alcian blue and silver staining of glycosaminoglycans in polyacrylamide gels: application to electrophoretic analysis of molecular weight distribution. Anal Biochem 155:275-285.
- 390. Moller, H. J., Heinegard, D., and Poulsen, J. H. 1993. Combined alcian blue and silver staining of subnanogram quantities of proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans in sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gels. Anal Biochem 209:169-175.
- 391. Nealon, T. J., and Mattingly, S. J. 1985. *Kinetic and chemical analyses of the biologic significance of lipoteichoic acids in mediating adherence of serotype III group B streptococci.* Infect Immun 50:107-115.
- 392. **Hoffman, L.** 2010, posting date. *Hoffman Group Standard Procedure for Hemolysis Assay*. http://www.bioeng.washington.edu/home/SOP/H/hemolysisassay.pdf, [Online.]
- 393. Kirkham, L. A., Kerr, A. R., Douce, G. R., Paterson, G. K., Dilts, D. A., Liu, D. F., and Mitchell, T. J. 2006. Construction and immunological characterization of a novel nontoxic protective pneumolysin mutant for use in future pneumococcal vaccines. Infect Immun 74:586-593.

- 394. Maurer, J. J., and Mattingly, S. J. 1991. Molecular analysis of lipoteichoic acid from *Streptococcus agalactiae*. J Bacteriol **173:**487-494.
- 395. Han, S. H., Kim, J. H., Martin, M., Michalek, S. M., and Nahm, M. H. 2003. *Pneumococcal lipoteichoic acid (LTA) is not as potent as staphylococcal LTA in stimulating Tolllike receptor 2.* Infect Immun **71:**5541-5548.
- 396. Orihuela, C. J., Gao, G., McGee, M., Yu, J., Francis, K. P., and Tuomanen, E. 2003. *Organ-specific models of Streptococcus pneumoniae disease*. Scand J Infect Dis **35**:647-652.
- 397. Wirth-Dzięciołowska, E., Karaszewska, J., Sadowski, T., Pyśniak, K., and Gajewska, M. 2009. Selected blood serum biochemical indicators in twelve inbred strains of laboratory mice. Animal Science Papers and Reports 27:159-167.
- 398. Ruchala, P., Navab, M., Jung, C. L., Hama-Levy, S., Micewicz, E. D., Luong, H., Reyles, J. E., Sharma, S., Waring, A. J., Fogelman, A. M., and Lehrer, R. I. 2010. Oxpholipin 11D: an anti-inflammatory peptide that binds cholesterol and oxidized phospholipids. PLoS One 5:e10181.
- 399. Briles, D. E., Nahm, M., Schroer, K., Davie, J., Baker, P., Kearney, J., and Barletta, R. 1981. Antiphosphocholine antibodies found in normal mouse serum are protective against intravenous infection with type 3 streptococcus pneumoniae. J Exp Med **153:**694-705.
- 400. Briles, D. E., Forman, C., Horowitz, J. C., Volanakis, J. E., Benjamin, W. H., Jr., McDaniel, L. S., Eldridge, J., and Brooks, J. 1989. Antipneumococcal effects of C-reactive protein and monoclonal antibodies to pneumococcal cell wall and capsular antigens. Infect Immun 57:1457-1464.
- 401. Trolle, S., Chachaty, E., Kassis-Chikhani, N., Wang, C., Fattal, E., Couvreur, P., Diamond, B., Alonso, J., and Andremont, A. 2000. Intranasal immunization with proteinlinked phosphorylcholine protects mice against a lethal intranasal challenge with streptococcus pneumoniae. Vaccine 18:2991-2998.
- 402. McDaniel, L. S., Waltman, W. D., 2nd, Gray, B., and Briles, D. E. 1987. A protective monoclonal antibody that reacts with a novel antigen of pneumococcal teichoic acid. Microb Pathog 3:249-260.
- 403. Wallick, S., Claflin, J. L., and Briles, D. E. 1983. *Resistance to Streptococcus pneumoniae is induced by a phosphocholine-protein conjugate*. J Immunol **130**:2871-2875.
- 404. **Nielsen, S. V., Sorensen, U. B., and Henrichsen, J.** 1993. *Antibodies against pneumococcal C-polysaccharide are not protective*. Microb Pathog **14:**299-305.
- 405. **Musher, D. M., Watson, D. A., and Baughn, R. E.** 1990. Does naturally acquired IgG antibody to cell wall polysaccharide protect human subjects against pneumococcal infection? J Infect Dis **161:**736-740.
- 406. Szu, S. C., Schneerson, R., and Robbins, J. B. 1986. Rabbit antibodies to the cell wall polysaccharide of Streptococcus pneumoniae fail to protect mice from lethal challenge with encapsulated pneumococci. Infect Immun 54:448-455.

- 407. Briles, D. E., Tart, R. C., Swiatlo, E., Dillard, J. P., Smith, P., Benton, K. A., Ralph, B. A., Brooks-Walter, A., Crain, M. J., Hollingshead, S. K., and McDaniel, L. S. 1998. *Pneumococcal diversity: considerations for new vaccine strategies with emphasis on pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA)*. Clin Microbiol Rev **11:**645-657.
- 408. **Burns, T., Abadi, M., and Pirofski, L. A.** 2005. Modulation of the lung inflammatory response to serotype 8 pneumococcal infection by a human immunoglobulin m monoclonal antibody to serotype 8 capsular polysaccharide. Infect Immun **73:**4530-4538.
- 409. Fabrizio, K., Groner, A., Boes, M., and Pirofski, L. A. 2007. A human monoclonal immunoglobulin M reduces bacteremia and inflammation in a mouse model of systemic pneumococcal infection. Clin Vaccine Immunol 14:382-390.
- 410. Tian, H., Groner, A., Boes, M., and Pirofski, L. A. 2007. Pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide vaccine-mediated protection against serotype 3 Streptococcus pneumoniae in immunodeficient mice. Infect Immun 75:1643-1650.
- 411. **Tian, H., Weber, S., Thorkildson, P., Kozel, T. R., and Pirofski, L. A.** 2009. Efficacy of opsonic and nonopsonic serotype 3 pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide-specific monoclonal antibodies against intranasal challenge with Streptococcus pneumoniae in mice. Infect Immun **77:**1502-1513.
- 412. Subramaniam, K. S., Datta, K., Marks, M. S., and Pirofski, L. A. 2010. Improved survival of mice deficient in secretory immunoglobulin M following systemic infection with Cryptococcus neoformans. Infect Immun 78:441-452.
- 413. **MedImmune** 2011, posting date. Synagis^(R) Palivizumab Prescribing Information. MedImmune LLC. http://www.medimmune.com/pdf/products/synagis_pi.pdf, [Online.]

G - INDEX OF FIGURES AND TABLES

1 TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The Morphology of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	. 10
Figure 2: Pneumococcal Deaths in Children	11
Figure 3: Nasal Colonization by <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	13
Figure 4: Statistical Surveillance of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	14
Figure 5: Advertisement for a Pneumococcal Serum Therapy in 1933	17
Figure 6: Important Pneumococcal Virulence Factors	. 18
Figure 7: Schematic Drawing of the Gram-Positive Cell Wall Depicting WTA and LTA	19
Figure 8: The Structural Model for Pneumococcal LTA	20
Figure 9: The Several Roles of WTA and LTA in Gram-Positive Bacteria	21
Figure 10: The Interactions of WTA and LTA with the Eukaryotic Host	22
Figure 11: Protein Structure of PspA.	23
Figure 12: The Families and Clades of PspA	24
Figure 13: The Structure of PLY	27
Figure 14: Schematic of the Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display Technology	32
Figure 15: Schematic Representation of the Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay	. 51
Figure 16: Amino Acid Sequences of Recombinant PspA_FL_T4 (A) and PspA_FL_WU2 (B)	52
Figure 17: Recombinant Constructs of PspA (SP0117)	53
Figure 18: Amino Acid Sequences of Recombinant PLY and Constructs Thereof	54
Figure 19: Colony PCR	55
Figure 20: Plasmid Purification and Double-Restriction Digest	55
Figure 21: Example for a Small Scale Expression - PspA_B_T4	56
Figure 22: Monitoring of the IMAC-Purification	. 56
Figure 23: Quality Control Post Dialysis	57
Figure 24: Results of the Titer-Screening of Hyperimmune Sera	58
Figure 25: Dose Titration for the <i>i.v.</i> and <i>i.p.</i> Challenge with <i>S. pneumoniae</i>	60
Figure 26: ELISA-Read-Outs of the HIC-Optimization with GAS-LTA	61
Figure 27: Chromatogram of a HIC-Run	62
Figure 28: Standard Calibration for the Phosphomolybdenum-Blue Reaction	63
Figure 29: Result for the Phosphomolybdenum-Blue Reaction of Pneumococcal LTA	63

Figure 30: ELISA-Based Screening of HIC-Fractions of Pneumococcal LTA
Figure 31: PAGE-Separation (A) and Silver Staining Approach (B) for GAS-LTA
Figure 32: Results for the Peptide ELISA
Figure 33: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the
<i>S. pneumoniae</i> Strain PJ1324 (6B) 69
Figure 34: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the
S. pneumoniae Strain D3970
Figure 35: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.n. Challenge with the
<i>S. pneumoniae</i> Strain A66.171
Figure 36: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PspA Antibodies Against i.v. Challenge with the
<i>S. pneumoniae</i> Strains TIGR4 and WU272
Figure 37: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the
S. pneumoniae Strain PJ1324 (6B)74
Figure 38: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.p. Challenge with the
S. pneumoniae Strain D3975
Figure 39: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.n. Challenge with the
S. pneumoniae Strain A66.176
Figure 40: In vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies Against i.v. Challenge with the
<i>S. pneumoniae</i> Strains TIGR4 and WU277
Figure 41: Results for the IL-6 ELISA
Figure 42: Statistical Comparison of Immunized Groups vs. PBS Control Group
Figure 43: Determination of the Hemolytic Unit
Figure 44: Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay using Commercial mAbs
Figure 45: Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay using Hyperimmune-Sera
Figure 46: Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay using Purified IgGs
Figure 47: Initial Setup of the TLR4-Reporter Assay
Figure 48: TLR4-Reporter Assay using Purified IgGs and the Commercial mAb 1F11 86
Figure 49: Binding Inhibition of PLY and PLD to HL-60 Cells using the mAb 1F11
Figure 50: Signal Blocking of PLY and PLD Coupled to Amine-Modified FluoSpheres [®]
Figure 51: Human Serum-Titer Screening for Target Antigens

2 LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Examples of the Most Promising Vaccination Approaches Based on PspA	. 26
Table 2: S. pneumoniae Strains used in this Study	. 36
Table 3: Gradient for IMAC-Purification of Recombinant Proteins	41
Table 4: Overview of All Proteins Purified in Recombinant Form.	. 57
Table 5: Results for the Surface Staining of Live S. pneumoniae using HI-Sera (CGI/LST3742)	. 68

G – Index of Figures and Tables

3 TABLE OF SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES

Supplementary Figure 1: Sequence Alignments of the B-Region of PspAA-4
Supplementary Figure 2: Sequence Alignments of the Pro-Rich Region of PspA (aa 1–180)A-5
Supplementary Figure 3: Sequence Alignments of the Pro-Rich Region of PspA (aa 180-335). A-5
Supplementary Figure 4: EC50-Values for the Titer-Screening of all PLY-Groups
Supplementary Figure 5: EC50-Values for the Titer-Screening of all PspA-GroupsA-14
Supplementary Figure 6: Statistical Comparison of Hyperimmune Serum TitersA-14

4 LIST OF SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES

Supplementary Table 1: Overview of all Primers Used	A-4
Supplementary Table 2: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 1 to	5)A-6
Supplementary Table 3: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 6 to	10)A-7
Supplementary Table 4: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 11 t	o 15)A-8
Supplementary Table 5: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 16 t	o 20)A-9
Supplementary Table 6: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 21 t	o 25). A-10
Supplementary Table 7: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 26 t	o 30). A-11
Supplementary Table 8: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 31 t	o 35). A-12
Supplementary Table 9: Immunization Scheme for CGI/LST3742 and LST3885	A-13
Supplementary Table 10: Overview of All Dose-Titrations with S. pneumoniae Strains	A-15
Supplementary Table 11: Overview of All in vivo Efficacy Experiments with HI-Sera	A-15
Supplementary Table 12: Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) Test for the in vivo Efficacy of	Polyclonal
Anti-PspA Antibodies	A-16
Supplementary Table 13: Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) Test for the in vivo Efficacy of	Polyclonal
Anti-PLY Antibodies	A-16
Supplementary Table 14: Results for the IL-6 ELISA	A-17
Supplementary Table 15: Results for the IL-6 ELISA and Correlation to Subsequent	Challenge
Survival	A-18

H - APPENDICES

A-1 TABLE OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	antibody
ABTS	2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CD(14)	cluster of differentiation (14)
cfu	colony forming unit
dH ₂ O	distilled/ultrapure water
DMEM-medium	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline
DTT	dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
Fab	antigen-binding fragment of an antibody
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorting
Fc	crystallizable fragment of an antibody
FCS	fetal calf serum
FL	full-length
GAS	group A streptococcus, Streptococcus pyogenes
gDNA	genomic DNA
HBSS	Hank's Buffered Salt Solution
HEK293 cells	human embryonic kidney 293 cells
HI (-serum)	hyperimmune (-serum)
HIC	hydrophobic interaction chromatography
His-tag	histidine-tag
HL-60 cell(s)	human promyelocytic leukemia cell(s)
hPBMC(s)	human peripheral blood mononuclear cell(s)
HPH	high-pressure homogenization
hRBC(s)	human red blood cell(s)
HRP	horse-reddish peroxidase

HU	hemolytic unit
IFN-γ	interferon-γ
Ig (G)	immunoglobulin (G)
IL (-6)	interleukin (-6)
IMAC	immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography
i.n.	intranasal
i.p.	intraperitoneal
IPTG	isopropyl β-D-thiogalacto-pyranoside
i.v.	intravenous
LB-medium	Luria-Bertani medium
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LTA	lipoteichoic acid
mAb	monoclonal antibody
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MWCO	molecular weight cut-off
MyD88	myeloid differentiation primary response gene (88)
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
OD	optical density
o/n	over night
ОРК	opsonophagocytic killing
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PAMP	pathogen associated molecular pattern
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PBS-T	phosphate buffered saline with 0.1 % Tween [™] -20
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PLY	pneumolysin
PMNL(s)	polymorphonuclear leukocyte(s)
PR (-region)	proline rich (-region)
PspA	pneumococcal surface protein A
RPMI 1640-medium	Rosswell Park Memorial Institute 1640-medium
RT	room temperature
<i>S.C.</i>	subcutaneous

H – Appendices

scFV	single-chain variable fragment
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
TAE-buffer	Tris-acetate-EDTA buffer
Taq polymerase	polymerase from Thermus aquaticus
Th1/2/17	T-helper cell type 1, 2 or 17
THB	Todd Hewitt Broth
THY	Todd Hewitt Broth with 0.5 % yeast extract
TLR	toll like receptor
WTA	wall teichoic acid

A-2 PRIMER SEQUENCES

Primer ID	Specification	5'-Sequence-3'	Orientation
102	pET 16b T7 promoter, in MCS	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGG	S
103	pET 16b T7 terminator, in MCS	GCTAGTTATTGCTCAGCGG	AS
210-8769	Ply_wt/pet28b+	ATATATCCATGGCAAATAAAGCAGTAAATGACTTTATACTAG	S
210-8770	Ply_wt/pet28b+	ATATATCTCGAGGTCATTTTCTACCTTATCTTCTACCTGAGGATAG	AS
210-8771	Ply_mut/pet28b+	CATACTGCATTCTTGGGACATTATTGAC	S
210-8772	Ply_mut/pet28b+	GTCAATAATGTCCCAAGAATGCAGTATG	AS
210-8773	PspA_B_T4	ATATATCCATGGCTTTAGCAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	S
210-8774	PspA_B_T4	ATATATCTCGAGTTCTTCTTCATCTCCATCAGGGCC	AS
210-8775	PspA_B_WU2	ATATATCCATGGCTCTCAAAGAGATTGATGAGTCTGAATCAG	S
210-8776	PspA_B_WU2	ATATATCTCGAGTTCTGGCTCATTAACTGCTTTCTTAAGG	AS
210-8779	PspA_FL_T4	ATATATCCATGGAAGAATCTCCACAAGTTGTCGAAAAATC	S
210-8780	PspA_FL_T4	ATATATCTCGAGAACCCATTCACCATTGGCATTGAC	AS
210-8781	PspA_FL_WU2	ATATATCCATGGAAGAATCTCCCGTAGCTAGTCAGTCTAAAGC	S
210-8782	PspA_FL_WU2	ATATATCTCGAGAACCCATTCACCGTTTTCATTGAC	AS

Supplementary Table 1: Overview of all Primers Used

N.B.: S = sense; AS = anti-sense

A-3 PROTEIN SEQUENCE ALIGNMENTS OF PspA FROM SEVERAL PNEUMOCOCCAL STRAINS



Supplementary Figure 1: Sequence Alignments of the B-Region of PspA. The alignments were calculated using all protein-sequence information published for PspA from different S. pneumoniae strains by the NCBI, which are represented by the cladogram to the left of the alignments. The B-regions of PspA from TIGR4 (upper green box) and WU2 (lower green box) are indicated within the red boxes. (Sequence alignments by Wolfgang Schüler, Intercell AG)


Supplementary Figure 2: Sequence Alignments of the Pro-Rich Region of PspA (aa 1–180). The alignments were calculated using all protein-sequence information published for PspA from different S. pneumoniae strains by the NCBI, which are represented by the cladogram to the left of the alignments. The proline-rich regions of PspA from TIGR4 (upper green box) and WU2 (lower green box) are indicated. (Sequence alignments by Wolfgang Schüler, Intercell AG)



Supplementary Figure 3: Sequence Alignments of the Pro-Rich Region of PspA (aa 180-335). The alignments were calculated using all protein-sequence information published for PspA from different S. pneumoniae strains by the NCBI, which are represented by the cladogram to the left of the alignments. The proline-rich regions of PspA from TIGR4 (upper green box) and WU2 (lower green box) are indicated. The red box highlights the non-proline block within the proline-rich region of PspA from WU2. (Sequence alignments by Wolfgang Schüler, Intercell AG)

A-4 SERUM-SCREENINGS OF HUMAN BLOOD DONORS

ELISA-Results for all Donors Screened:

The tables in this section (Supplementary Table 2 to

Supplementary Table 8) represent the results (OD₄₀₅) obtained for all human donor sera screened in duplicates for the stated antigens.

0	1 1	$T 11 \wedge T 1_1$	C 11 TT	C T''	· ·	(D) 1 (0)	1 -
S111	11110111011170117	1 1 7 1 1 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	tov tuo H11111 a11	S01411111_ 11+014	SC#0011110	110100 ψ_{-} Λ^{\vee}	1 70 51
Jul	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	10010 2. Results	101 1116 111111111	Serum-ruer	SUPERINY		I U J
	F		J		- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(/

		Donor	-N° 1	Donor	-N° 2	Donor	-N° 3	Donor-N° 4		Donor	-N° 5
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev
	200	0.514	0.013	1.108	0.034	0.421	0.067	0.962	0.023	0.924	0.001
	1000	0.145	0.002	0.850	0.108	0.110	0.005	0.350	0.018	0.357	0.012
Ply_wt	5000	0.038	0.013	0.327	0.071	0.025	0.004	0.110	0.019	0.090	0.002
	25000	0.005	0.001	0.086	0.018	0.002	0.000	0.031	0.008	0.015	0.004
	200	0.800	0.008	1.196	0.035	0.720	0.078	1.101	0.002	1.114	0.004
DI (1000	0.235	0.006	1.116	0.019	0.214	0.026	0.537	0.003	0.588	0.017
Ply_mut	5000	0.052	0.003	0.557	0.073	0.044	0.004	0.132	0.001	0.147	0.004
	25000	0.008	0.004	0.208	0.052	0.007	0.002	0.029	0.003	0.027	0.000
	200	0.486	0.083	1.004	0.037	0.653	0.062	0.772	0.026	0.796	0.027
Dom A P T4	1000	0.123	0.013	0.279	0.068	0.131	0.018	0.202	0.001	0.204	0.015
rspA_b_14	5000	0.017	0.001	0.031	0.008	0.018	0.002	0.036	0.000	0.035	0.002
	25000	-0.004	0.005	0.000	0.009	-0.006	0.002	0.004	0.003	-0.003	0.001
	200	0.624	0.039	0.889	0.065	0.999	0.040	0.936	0.011	1.031	0.009
Don A R MILLO	1000	0.135	0.006	0.266	0.045	0.322	0.051	0.281	0.006	0.355	0.004
rspA_b_woz	5000	0.020	0.000	0.053	0.006	0.062	0.018	0.050	0.000	0.063	0.002
	25000	-0.003	0.003	0.009	0.001	0.002	0.005	0.008	0.004	0.005	0.001
	200	0.867	0.081	1.111	0.114	0.942	0.013	1.135	0.109	0.980	0.000
Don A Dro Dart B T4	1000	0.234	0.011	0.367	0.069	0.273	0.023	0.673	0.032	0.313	0.019
rspA_rio+ratib_14	5000	0.042	0.001	0.068	0.016	0.051	0.008	0.174	0.018	0.062	0.004
	25000	0.006	0.003	0.009	0.004	0.005	0.003	0.032	0.001	0.007	0.000
	200	0.992	0.009	1.202	0.034	0.819	0.073	1.269	0.014	1.092	0.021
Pro+PartB WID	1000	0.275	0.013	0.505	0.125	0.201	0.011	0.639	0.023	0.507	0.036
	5000	0.050	0.005	0.108	0.037	0.208	0.013	0.193	0.007	0.246	0.036
	25000	0.032	0.037	0.020	0.002	0.136	0.019	0.050	0.047	0.153	0.013
	200	0.888	0.026	1.012	0.033	0.833	0.038	1.165	0.013	0.900	0.058
Pen A Pro TA	1000	0.225	0.006	0.320	0.050	0.214	0.010	0.644	0.025	0.253	0.021
1 5017_110_14	5000	0.050	0.005	0.063	0.008	0.044	0.006	0.167	0.013	0.056	0.008
	25000	0.005	0.004	0.015	0.004	0.003	0.001	0.043	0.004	0.004	0.001
	200	1.009	0.062	1.223	0.119	0.754	0.107	1.285	0.003	1.149	0.033
PanA Pro WILI2	1000	0.343	0.073	0.598	0.042	0.344	0.010	0.590	0.016	0.640	0.042
1 apr1_110_002	5000	0.200	0.060	0.205	0.035	0.213	0.006	0.298	0.003	0.254	0.045
	25000	0.107	0.139	0.019	0.005	0.172	0.009	0.020	0.003	0.095	0.079

Color-Code

OD ₄₀₅	
>1	
0.5-1	
<0.5	

		Donor	Donor-N° 6		Donor-N° 7		Donor-N° 8		Donor-N° 9		N° 10
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev
	200	0.676	0.002	0.538	0.001	0.512	0.071	0.962	0.020	0.487	0.051
Dlas aut	1000	0.215	0.021	0.183	0.018	0.146	0.027	0.404	0.005	0.137	0.022
Ply_wt	5000	0.047	0.002	0.057	0.003	0.021	0.014	0.127	0.035	0.027	0.002
	25000	0.010	0.001	0.012	0.001	0.016	0.004	0.019	0.001	0.002	0.002
	200	1.048	0.007	0.777	0.006	0.951	0.072	1.162	0.030	0.759	0.049
Dly, mut	1000	0.457	0.015	0.263	0.007	0.323	0.058	0.841	0.028	0.226	0.030
Fiy_mut	5000	0.101	0.013	0.065	0.001	0.065	0.009	0.242	0.005	0.047	0.006
	25000	0.023	0.000	0.012	0.000	0.019	0.002	0.053	0.001	0.009	0.001
	200	0.356	0.012	0.941	0.002	0.316	0.056	0.178	0.020	0.984	0.069
Dom A P T4	1000	0.056	0.004	0.269	0.008	0.055	0.007	0.025	0.000	0.271	0.043
rspA_D_14	5000	-0.001	0.001	0.047	0.001	0.004	0.001	-0.003	0.001	0.048	0.011
	25000	-0.006	0.000	0.000	0.001	-0.004	0.001	-0.011	0.000	0.004	0.004
	200	0.964	0.016	1.136	0.019	0.454	0.084	0.969	0.043	0.228	0.033
	1000	0.292	0.005	0.582	0.018	0.078	0.016	0.271	0.001	0.042	0.008
rspA_b_vv02	5000	0.060	0.012	0.127	0.003	0.005	0.003	0.046	0.001	0.001	0.004
	25000	0.007	0.000	0.020	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.001	-0.002	0.004
	200	0.843	0.004	1.085	0.012	1.058	0.054	0.928	0.001	0.902	0.045
Don A Dro Dont B T4	1000	0.230	0.010	0.408	0.002	0.406	0.056	0.256	0.002	0.245	0.031
rspA_rro+rartb_14	5000	0.042	0.004	0.085	0.001	0.084	0.014	0.043	0.001	0.051	0.003
	25000	0.007	0.001	0.012	0.001	0.020	0.006	0.003	0.000	0.254	0.308
	200	1.176	0.044	1.135	0.040	0.748	0.114	1.116	0.035	1.001	0.036
Dro Dort B W/ID	1000	0.463	0.024	0.767	0.040	0.278	0.014	0.553	0.007	0.363	0.012
	5000	0.143	0.032	0.308	0.018	0.154	0.012	0.210	0.037	0.144	0.006
	25000	0.044	0.003	0.162	0.023	0.010	0.001	0.151	0.002	0.007	0.006
	200	0.861	0.009	1.121	0.004	0.978	0.079	0.951	0.016	0.793	0.076
Dom A Dro. T4	1000	0.238	0.005	0.387	0.001	0.267	0.045	0.243	0.001	0.193	0.030
rspA_rt0_14	5000	0.054	0.011	0.097	0.003	0.050	0.004	0.066	0.028	0.042	0.002
	25000	0.013	0.005	0.017	0.004	0.013	0.008	0.005	0.002	0.008	0.000
	200	1.178	0.004	1.167	0.039	0.669	0.097	1.081	0.002	0.995	0.042
Dan A Dra M/LIO	1000	0.505	0.028	0.972	0.115	0.295	0.018	0.533	0.056	0.377	0.069
rapA_pro_w02	5000	0.265	0.006	0.358	0.010	0.203	0.040	0.224	0.009	0.186	0.097
	25000	0.021	0.001	0.165	0.009	0.009	0.004	0.138	0.008	0.007	0.002

Supplementary Table 3: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 6 to 10)

OD ₄₀₅
>1
0.5-1
<0.5

		Donor-	N° 11	Donor-	N° 12	Donor-	N° 13	Donor-N° 14		Donor-	N° 15
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev
	200	0.784	0.024	1.263	0.042	0.945	0.035	1.129	0.002	1.139	0.026
Dire root	1000	0.225	0.021	1.117	0.016	0.356	0.002	0.731	0.138	0.937	0.014
riy_wi	5000	0.066	0.010	0.522	0.006	0.090	0.001	0.200	0.028	0.337	0.002
	25000	0.009	0.004	0.127	0.005	0.032	0.002	0.038	0.005	0.095	0.008
	200	1.043	0.007	1.175	0.028	0.897	0.030	1.070	0.003	1.164	0.021
Ply mut	1000	0.420	0.016	1.089	0.004	0.337	0.011	0.553	0.004	0.911	0.042
I Iy_iiiut	5000	0.097	0.000	0.523	0.028	0.078	0.004	0.142	0.004	0.364	0.001
	25000	0.019	0.004	0.124	0.006	0.021	0.002	0.027	0.003	0.097	0.000
	200	1.023	0.008	0.778	0.037	0.810	0.006	1.140	0.006	0.218	0.012
Dom A R T4	1000	0.257	0.013	0.178	0.008	0.235	0.022	0.669	0.019	0.065	0.001
rspA_D_14	5000	0.053	0.001	0.033	0.013	0.055	0.033	0.193	0.039	0.007	0.001
	25000	0.003	0.002	-0.011	0.004	0.005	0.019	0.045	0.016	-0.012	0.001
	200	0.880	0.074	1.147	0.055	0.915	0.045	1.027	0.006	0.515	0.023
	1000	0.237	0.015	0.660	0.041	0.280	0.011	0.353	0.018	0.136	0.013
rspA_D_W02	5000	0.067	0.016	0.228	0.052	0.057	0.003	0.139	0.094	0.033	0.016
	25000	0.003	0.005	0.077	0.032	0.022	0.013	0.011	0.003	0.024	0.029
	200	1.207	0.011	1.252	0.012	1.201	0.153	1.191	0.003	1.007	0.013
Pen A Pro+PartB T4	1000	0.654	0.048	1.245	0.170	0.568	0.139	0.889	0.003	0.462	0.018
1 SPA_110+1 attb_14	5000	0.145	0.023	0.686	0.178	0.174	0.112	0.291	0.018	0.144	0.016
	25000	0.035	0.019	0.289	0.210	0.087	0.078	0.097	0.058	0.088	0.025
	200	1.220	0.011	1.166	0.017	1.279	0.144	1.131	0.004	0.794	0.039
Pro+PartB WI12	1000	0.808	0.047	1.040	0.006	0.571	0.151	0.506	0.026	0.224	0.013
	5000	0.194	0.026	0.340	0.001	0.095	0.016	0.119	0.017	0.042	0.001
	25000	0.043	0.002	0.225	0.030	0.021	0.005	0.029	0.004	0.009	0.001
	200	1.163	0.017	1.190	0.107	0.864	0.063	1.130	0.029	0.819	0.018
PenA Pro TA	1000	0.589	0.036	1.043	0.117	0.252	0.001	0.753	0.017	0.254	0.016
1 SPA_1 10_14	5000	0.137	0.015	0.485	0.054	0.046	0.002	0.232	0.007	0.056	0.006
	25000	0.032	0.004	0.130	0.024	0.033	0.018	0.053	0.001	0.021	0.001
	200	1.179	0.057	1.233	0.007	0.998	0.018	1.049	0.011	0.724	0.019
Pan A Pro MILIO	1000	0.813	0.030	0.904	0.021	0.345	0.021	0.400	0.028	0.196	0.007
1 apr_110_002	5000	0.260	0.071	0.247	0.016	0.081	0.001	0.110	0.014	0.046	0.003
	25000	0.114	0.098	0.052	0.005	0.021	0.003	0.021	0.005	0.017	0.006

Supplementary Table 4: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 11 to 15)

OD ₄₀₅
>1
0.5-1
<0.5

		Donor-	N° 16	Donor-	N° 17	Donor-	N° 18	Donor-N° 19		Donor-	N° 20
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev
	200	1.020	0.009	1.209	0.012	1.019	0.003	1.136	0.042	0.963	0.076
Dlas aut	1000	0.419	0.030	1.073	0.018	0.554	0.003	0.717	0.033	0.426	0.059
Ply_wt	5000	0.110	0.001	0.497	0.002	0.159	0.003	0.224	0.018	0.118	0.002
	25000	0.020	0.002	0.127	0.002	0.034	0.001	0.069	0.001	0.024	0.000
	200	1.055	0.003	1.184	0.013	1.069	0.015	1.118	0.073	1.125	0.049
Dly, mut	1000	0.506	0.027	1.037	0.006	0.551	0.004	0.655	0.049	0.432	0.004
riy_mut	5000	0.126	0.001	0.242	0.330	0.142	0.003	0.188	0.016	0.102	0.003
	25000	0.024	0.001	0.064	0.076	0.030	0.001	0.051	0.009	0.019	0.005
	200	0.849	0.002	0.083	0.004	0.508	0.027	0.734	0.027	0.307	0.003
Don A R T4	1000	0.207	0.008	0.019	0.005	0.112	0.001	0.220	0.016	0.066	0.003
rspA_D_14	5000	0.034	0.010	-0.016	0.001	0.021	0.013	0.056	0.006	0.007	0.004
	25000	0.006	0.014	-0.021	0.000	-0.005	0.012	0.028	0.010	0.000	0.019
	200	0.846	0.010	0.462	0.019	0.961	0.016	0.775	0.011	0.610	0.005
	1000	0.248	0.008	0.139	0.009	0.297	0.016	0.255	0.013	0.146	0.004
rspA_b_vv02	5000	0.058	0.001	0.023	0.001	0.072	0.005	0.056	0.000	0.036	0.006
	25000	0.027	0.004	0.002	0.002	0.024	0.011	0.013	0.003	0.008	0.002
	200	0.898	0.019	1.074	0.006	1.030	0.206	1.111	0.047	1.179	0.005
Don A Dro Dont B T4	1000	0.454	0.274	0.463	0.006	0.648	0.001	0.560	0.131	0.635	0.017
rspA_rio+raitb_14	5000	0.067	0.017	0.120	0.008	0.121	0.093	0.146	0.029	0.171	0.023
	25000	0.011	0.010	0.026	0.004	0.025	0.029	0.040	0.024	0.051	0.008
	200	0.808	0.013	0.999	0.008	1.198	0.006	1.210	0.007	1.141	0.020
Dro+Dart B W/I 12	1000	0.143	0.006	0.368	0.005	0.680	0.028	0.906	0.011	0.428	0.030
	5000	0.028	0.002	0.093	0.025	0.155	0.010	0.260	0.001	0.083	0.015
	25000	0.001	0.006	0.031	0.004	0.041	0.006	0.069	0.003	0.014	0.002
	200	0.757	0.022	1.019	0.053	1.130	0.004	1.120	0.039	0.993	0.014
Dom A Dro. T4	1000	0.191	0.012	0.369	0.008	0.521	0.025	0.496	0.030	0.295	0.003
rspA_rto_14	5000	0.079	0.034	0.077	0.001	0.134	0.011	0.113	0.008	0.062	0.001
	25000	0.017	0.012	0.024	0.006	0.036	0.006	0.024	0.002	0.017	0.011
	200	0.746	0.018	0.907	0.013	1.134	0.025	1.182	0.002	0.950	0.025
Pan A Pro MILLO	1000	0.155	0.001	0.298	0.006	0.512	0.031	0.721	0.005	0.227	0.011
rapA_rro_w02	5000	0.033	0.004	0.077	0.021	0.119	0.012	0.231	0.176	0.041	0.001
	25000	0.004	0.003	0.066	0.057	0.023	0.001	0.134	0.170	0.006	0.001

Supplementary Table 5: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 16 to 20)

OD ₄₀₅
>1
0.5-1
<0.5

		Donor-	N° 21	Donor-	N° 22	Donor-	N° 23	Donor-N° 24		Donor-	N° 25
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev	average	stdev
	200	1.149	0.021	0.782	0.256	0.844	0.039	0.627	0.238	1.139	0.025
Div wit	1000	0.736	0.014	0.392	0.029	0.339	0.004	0.279	0.002	0.728	0.011
r iy_wt	5000	0.233	0.012	0.124	0.010	0.090	0.001	0.082	0.004	0.221	0.005
	25000	0.058	0.009	0.044	0.008	0.018	0.001	0.027	0.000	0.042	0.004
	200	1.149	0.018	0.911	0.002	0.965	0.020	0.885	0.035	1.169	0.002
Ply mut	1000	0.735	0.001	0.372	0.066	0.361	0.021	0.328	0.003	0.710	0.004
I Iy_IIIdt	5000	0.223	0.022	0.111	0.030	0.112	0.013	0.089	0.001	0.231	0.006
	25000	0.057	0.006	0.028	0.008	0.016	0.004	0.023	0.001	0.043	0.004
	200	0.586	0.030	0.659	0.057	0.602	0.031	0.690	0.238	0.487	0.005
PenA B T4	1000	0.174	0.006	0.250	0.011	0.240	0.022	0.342	0.002	0.161	0.008
1 SPA_D_14	5000	0.042	0.006	0.086	0.008	0.075	0.020	0.145	0.004	0.047	0.008
	25000	0.012	0.005	0.040	0.008	0.010	0.002	0.089	0.000	0.038	0.047
	200	0.820	0.008	1.027	0.076	0.561	0.032	0.146	0.006	0.246	0.018
Pen A B WILL?	1000	0.249	0.011	0.434	0.032	0.164	0.007	0.049	0.011	0.066	0.002
I SPA_D_WOZ	5000	0.055	0.004	0.101	0.005	0.036	0.005	0.017	0.019	0.010	0.001
	25000	0.011	0.008	0.023	0.004	0.005	0.001	-0.005	0.004	0.007	0.014
	200	1.292	0.004	1.208	0.032	0.902	0.021	0.823	0.006	1.156	0.040
Pen A Pro+PartB T4	1000	1.093	0.040	0.670	0.015	0.400	0.004	0.309	0.003	0.707	0.009
1 SPA_110+1 attb_14	5000	0.436	0.017	0.227	0.004	0.146	0.004	0.130	0.004	0.228	0.001
	25000	0.152	0.001	0.104	0.003	0.083	0.004	0.086	0.008	0.100	0.001
	200	1.195	0.021	1.088	0.016	0.645	0.037	0.776	0.023	1.097	0.004
Pro+PartB WI12	1000	0.802	0.050	0.417	0.006	0.165	0.004	0.225	0.000	0.560	0.021
	5000	0.230	0.006	0.085	0.002	0.037	0.001	0.042	0.004	0.134	0.004
	25000	0.046	0.004	0.015	0.004	-0.001	0.004	-0.003	0.002	0.016	0.003
	200	1.158	0.036	0.812	0.326	0.549	0.044	0.544	0.045	0.923	0.006
PenA Pro TA	1000	0.833	0.026	0.415	0.016	0.192	0.003	0.142	0.001	0.430	0.010
1 SPA_1 10_14	5000	0.272	0.001	0.096	0.001	0.048	0.001	0.031	0.002	0.111	0.004
	25000	0.063	0.008	0.024	0.001	0.010	0.001	0.007	0.000	0.021	0.001
	200	1.058	0.055	1.079	0.029	0.397	0.003	0.786	0.013	0.689	0.004
Pan A Pro WILL	1000	0.711	0.030	0.469	0.004	0.201	0.000	0.220	0.004	0.384	0.001
1 apA_110_w02	5000	0.199	0.003	0.089	0.004	0.034	0.001	0.035	0.004	0.086	0.004
	25000	0.035	0.006	0.010	0.003	-0.009	0.001	-0.006	0.000	0.007	0.001

Supplementary Table 6: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 21 to 25)

OD ₄₀₅
>1
0.5-1
<0.5

		Donor-	N° 26	Donor-	N° 27	Donor-	N° 28	Donor-	N° 29	Donor-	N° 30
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev								
	200	0.791	0.011	1.197	0.018	1.208	0.025	1.104	0.006	1.095	0.013
Dire root	1000	0.291	0.003	0.890	0.022	1.076	0.011	0.588	0.006	0.498	0.016
riy_wt	5000	0.081	0.006	0.281	0.001	0.520	0.025	0.164	0.008	0.161	0.006
	25000	0.026	0.011	0.059	0.004	0.135	0.008	0.028	0.002	0.036	0.000
	200	0.806	0.003	1.185	0.021	1.195	0.008	1.136	0.004	1.105	0.018
Dly, mut	1000	0.285	0.001	0.868	0.023	1.080	0.018	0.627	0.023	0.545	0.016
riy_mut	5000	0.086	0.010	0.281	0.003	0.567	0.041	0.187	0.016	0.152	0.002
	25000	0.011	0.004	0.060	0.007	0.145	0.006	0.036	0.001	0.030	0.001
	200	0.907	0.012	0.798	0.054	0.678	0.019	0.599	0.033	0.734	0.027
Don A R T4	1000	0.272	0.008	0.290	0.004	0.173	0.002	0.198	0.002	0.220	0.016
rspA_D_14	5000	0.204	0.192	0.082	0.010	0.043	0.009	0.051	0.002	0.056	0.006
	25000	0.012	0.005	0.019	0.006	0.001	0.000	0.015	0.017	0.028	0.010
	200	0.670	0.000	0.528	0.019	0.775	0.008	0.890	0.024	0.560	0.008
	1000	0.242	0.031	0.152	0.013	0.221	0.014	0.286	0.006	0.148	0.013
rspA_b_vv02	5000	0.059	0.012	0.029	0.002	0.057	0.007	0.064	0.007	0.040	0.010
	25000	0.015	0.006	0.011	0.016	0.014	0.001	0.012	0.001	0.011	0.005
	200	1.117	0.011	0.948	0.009	0.954	0.023	1.214	0.018	0.955	0.023
Pen A Pro+PartB T4	1000	0.455	0.001	0.393	0.011	0.332	0.006	0.837	0.004	0.352	0.006
rspA_rio+raitb_14	5000	0.151	0.003	0.151	0.010	0.120	0.006	0.247	0.004	0.127	0.006
	25000	0.075	0.001	0.077	0.005	0.066	0.002	0.092	0.006	0.068	0.001
	200	0.837	0.021	0.822	0.027	0.820	0.000	1.168	0.005	0.907	0.023
ProtPartB WIID	1000	0.240	0.000	0.234	0.007	0.183	0.001	0.804	0.034	0.267	0.014
	5000	0.047	0.008	0.043	0.003	0.026	0.003	0.235	0.010	0.060	0.020
	25000	-0.005	0.002	-0.005	0.004	-0.010	0.001	0.041	0.006	-0.002	0.004
	200	0.702	0.006	0.379	0.001	0.668	0.001	1.010	0.004	0.829	0.003
Don A Dro T4	1000	0.187	0.008	0.134	0.004	0.172	0.016	0.570	0.021	0.256	0.012
rspA_r10_14	5000	0.037	0.001	0.032	0.004	0.029	0.000	0.148	0.008	0.055	0.002
	25000	0.009	0.001	0.005	0.000	0.006	0.000	0.030	0.003	0.013	0.000
	200	0.673	0.004	0.388	0.001	0.746	0.033	0.919	0.007	0.836	0.010
Pan A Pro MILLO	1000	0.162	0.004	0.208	0.001	0.182	0.001	0.803	0.027	0.285	0.010
rapA_rro_w02	5000	0.041	0.020	0.053	0.005	0.021	0.003	0.245	0.016	0.071	0.001
	25000	-0.010	0.000	-0.004	0.001	-0.009	0.001	0.055	0.003	-0.005	0.002

Supplementary Table 7: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 26 to 30)

OD ₄₀₅
>1
0.5-1
<0.5

		Donor-	N° 31	Donor-	N° 32	Donor-	N° 33	Donor-	N° 34	Donor-	N° 35
Antigen	Dilution	average	stdev								
	200	1.168	0.030	1.217	0.013	1.202	0.060	0.876	0.053	1.112	0.105
Dire root	1000	0.836	0.047	1.019	0.017	0.748	0.005	0.318	0.022	0.634	0.023
riy_wi	5000	0.306	0.005	0.398	0.018	0.233	0.017	0.096	0.006	0.186	0.011
	25000	0.063	0.003	0.114	0.010	0.058	0.008	0.023	0.007	0.048	0.006
	200	1.178	0.006	1.238	0.064	1.250	0.022	0.977	0.071	1.067	0.054
Ply mut	1000	0.870	0.016	1.105	0.062	0.929	0.033	0.395	0.013	0.845	0.011
I Iy_iiiut	5000	0.306	0.005	0.503	0.009	0.289	0.012	0.119	0.018	0.264	0.018
	25000	0.067	0.001	0.130	0.004	0.076	0.008	0.016	0.002	0.075	0.030
	200	1.072	0.033	0.445	0.045	0.982	0.028	0.427	0.001	0.543	0.009
PenA B T/	1000	0.519	0.040	0.152	0.007	0.320	0.009	0.178	0.021	0.129	0.002
1 SPA_D_14	5000	0.234	0.091	0.047	0.011	0.066	0.000	0.073	0.021	0.023	0.000
	25000	0.037	0.023	0.006	0.007	0.012	0.000	0.003	0.001	0.003	0.000
	200	0.280	0.003	0.765	0.025	0.875	0.022	0.258	0.001	0.447	0.008
PenA B WILL?	1000	0.073	0.004	0.308	0.025	0.262	0.004	0.055	0.002	0.115	0.004
I SPA_D_WOZ	5000	0.043	0.033	0.073	0.004	0.059	0.021	0.016	0.004	0.008	0.002
	25000	0.009	0.000	0.019	0.006	0.004	0.005	0.005	0.013	-0.011	0.001
	200	1.149	0.025	1.173	0.069	1.230	0.053	0.980	0.035	1.125	0.090
Pen A Pro+PartB T4	1000	0.731	0.020	0.734	0.035	1.014	0.005	0.453	0.007	0.552	0.004
15pA_110+1 attb_14	5000	0.244	0.011	0.251	0.005	0.368	0.001	0.155	0.001	0.173	0.001
	25000	0.087	0.001	0.095	0.004	0.128	0.001	0.071	0.000	0.079	0.002
	200	0.988	0.012	1.190	0.080	1.186	0.083	1.134	0.025	1.091	0.032
Pro+PartB_WU2	1000	0.399	0.008	0.756	0.076	0.985	0.023	1.123	0.025	0.439	0.021
11011 artb_002	5000	0.084	0.005	0.207	0.024	0.318	0.024	0.665	0.054	0.091	0.011
	25000	0.009	0.008	0.046	0.011	0.076	0.008	0.186	0.013	0.025	0.008
	200	0.653	0.035	1.179	0.017	1.215	0.033	0.954	0.057	0.964	0.036
PenA Pro TA	1000	0.323	0.004	0.708	0.008	0.902	0.041	0.365	0.000	0.376	0.018
1 3 2 1 10 14	5000	0.082	0.001	0.192	0.006	0.277	0.032	0.095	0.007	0.065	0.004
	25000	0.018	0.001	0.026	0.000	0.046	0.007	0.001	0.002	-0.004	0.002
	200	0.550	0.028	1.189	0.030	1.160	0.028	1.151	0.051	1.017	0.041
Pan A Pro WILI2	1000	0.358	0.006	0.749	0.026	0.863	0.087	1.135	0.027	0.362	0.019
1 apA_110_002	5000	0.105	0.004	0.193	0.006	0.228	0.038	0.698	0.151	0.062	0.005
	25000	0.014	0.011	0.035	0.005	0.043	0.010	0.116	0.006	0.000	0.001

Supplementary Table 8: Results for the Human Serum-Titer Screening (Donor-N° 31 to 35)

OD ₄₀₅
>1
0.5-1
<0.5

H – Appendices

A-5 TITER-SCREENINGS OF MOUSE HYPERIMMUNE SERA

Immunization	Group-N°	Antigen	Amount of Antigen per Injection [µg/mouse]	Adjuvant	N° of Surviving Mice
	1	PLY	10	CFA/IFA	5
	2	PLY	10	Alum	5
	3	PLY	50	CFA/IFA	5
	4	PLY	50	Alum	5
	5	PLD	50	Alum	5
CCI/I ST3742	6	PspA_B_WU2	50	Alum	2
CGI/L515/42	7	PspA_Pro_WU2	50	Alum	5
	8	PspA_Pro+PartB_WU2	50	Alum	5
	9	PspA_FL_T4	50	Alum	5
	10	PspA_B_T4	50	Alum	5
	11	PspA_Pro_T4	50	Alum	5
	12	PspA_Pro+PartB_T4	50	Alum	5
	1	PLYAD4	50	Alum	5
	2	PLD	50	Alum	5
	3	PspA_B_WU2	50	Alum	5
	4	PspA_Pro_WU2	50	Alum	3
LST3885	5	PspA_Pro+PartB_WU2	50	Alum	4
	6	PspA_FL_T4	50	Alum	5
	7	PspA_B_T4	50	Alum	5
	8	PspA_Pro_T4	50	Alum	5
	9	PspA_Pro+PartB_T4	50	Alum	4

Supplementary Table 9: Immunization Scheme for CGI/LST3742 and LST3885



Supplementary Figure 4: EC50-Values for the Titer-Screening of all PLY-Groups. The results were statistically evaluated vs. pre-immune serum using a t-test (2-tailed, type 2) and the obtained values for p<0.001 (***), p<0.01 (**) and p<0.05 (*) are depicted.



Supplementary Figure 5: EC50-Values for the Titer-Screening of all PspA-Groups. The results were statistically evaluated vs. pre-immune serum using a t-test (2-tailed, type 2) and the obtained values for p<0.001 (***), p<0.01 (**) and p<0.05 (*) are depicted.



Supplementary Figure 6: Statistical Comparison of Hyperimmune Serum Titers. The antibody-titers obtained by immunizing mice with the same constructs are compared for the experiments CGI/LST3742 and LST3885 by means of a t-test (2-tailed, type 2) and the obtained values for p<0.001 (***), p<0.01 (**) and p<0.05 (*) are depicted.

H – Appendices

A-6 IN VIVO VIRULENCE OF DIFFERENT S. PNEUMONIAE STRAINS

			Starting Bact [cfu	erial Count 1]
Experiment-N°	<i>S. pneumoniae</i> Strain	Route of Application	Expected	Real
LST3869	D39	i.p.	1.00×10^{6}	1.01x10 ⁶
LST3898	PJ1324 (6B)	i.v.	1.00×10^{6}	8.14×10^{5}
LST3898	TIGR4	i.v.	1.00×10^{6}	1.58×10^{6}
LST3898	D39	i.v.	1.00×10^{5}	7.24×10^4
LST3898	WU2	i.v.	1.00×10^{6}	1.63x10 ⁶

Supplementary Table 10: Overview of All Dose-Titrations with S. pneumoniae Strains

A-7 SUMMARIZED DATA OF THE IN VIVO EFFICACY TESTING OF POLYCLONAL ANTIBODIES

Experimental Setup

Supplementary Table 11: Overview of All in vivo Efficacy Experiments with HI-Sera

			Starting Bact [cfu	erial Count 1]
Experiment-N°	<i>S. pneumoniae</i> Strain	Route of Application	Expected	Real
LST3869	PJ1324 (6B)	i.p.	1.0×10^4	3.0×10^4
LST3872	PJ1324 (6B)	i.p.	1.0×10^4	1.06×10^4
LST3886	D39	i.p.	1.0×10^{1}	9.02x10 ⁰
LST3897	A66.1	i.n.	5.0x10 ⁵	4.2x10 ⁵
LST3909	A66.1	i.n.	5.0x10 ⁵	4.0x10 ⁵
LST3910	TIGR4	<i>i.v.</i>	5.0x10 ³	6.0x10 ³
LST3911	WU2	<i>i.v.</i>	5.0x10 ⁵	8.8x10 ⁵

Statistical Evaluation of Challenge Survival (Mantel-Cox)

The tables in this section represent the calculated, statistical p-values (Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test, using SE) in the course of challenge survival of each group tested against the mock-immunized PBS control-group used in each experiment. All statistical calculations were carried out using GraphPad Prism[®], Version 5.01.

Supplementary	Table 12: Lo	og-Rank (1	Mantel-Cox)	Test for	the in vi	ivo Efficacy	of Polyclonal 1	Anti-PspA
Antibodies								

Immunization with	Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) Test, p-value								
Serum <i>vs.</i>		vs. PBS Group							
	LST3869	LST3872	LST3886	LST3897	LST3909	LST3910	LST3911		
mouse pre-immune (neg. cntrl.)	0.6262	0.3173	1.0000	1.0000	0.5485	0.5258	0.5308		
PspA (rabbit) (pos. cntrl.)	0.0017	0.0023	n.d.	0.0016	0.0023	0.7955	0.0126		
PspA_FL_T4	0.0017	0.0023	0.3173	1.0000	0.5127	0.5571	0.5308		
PspA_B_T4	0.0017	0.0023	1.0000	0.2207	0.8527	0.4477	0.9141		
PspA_Pro+PartB_T4	0.0017	0.0023	0.3173	0.3532	0.0978	0.1729	0.1336		
PspA_Pro_T4	0.2289	0.0023	0.3173	0.0016	0.2055	0.4473	0.6015		
PspA_B_WU2	0.1151	0.0993	1.0000	0.0659	0.0023	0.1597	0.9141		
PspA_Pro+PartB_WU2	0.2666	0.0993	0.1336	0.1762	0.1573	0.2845	0.0126		
PspA_Pro_WU2	0.1151	0.3518	1.0000	0.3532	0.0179	0.3255	0.0126		

n.d.. ... serum was not used in this experiment

Supplementary Table 13: Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) Test for the in vivo Efficacy of Polyclonal Anti-PLY Antibodies

Immunization with	Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) Test, p-value								
Serum vs.	vs. PBS Group								
	LST3869	LST3872	LST3886	LST3897	LST3909	LST3910	LST3911		
mouse pre-immune (neg. cntrl.)	0.6262	0.3173	1.0000	1.0000	0.5485	0.5258	0.5308		
PspA (rabbit) (pos. cntrl.)	0.0017	0.0023	n.d.	0.0016	0.0023	0.7955	0.0126		
mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz)	n.d.	0.0179	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
PLY (CGI/LST3742/N°1)	n.d.	0.0993	1.0000	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
PLY (CGI/LST3742/N°2)	n.d.	0.0442	1.0000	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
PLY (CGI/LST3742/N°3)	0.7914	0.0442	1.0000	0.3532	n.d.	n.d.	n.d .		
PLY (CGI/LST3742/N°4)	n.d.	0.0978	0.3173	n.d.	0.5127	0.2975	0.3707		
PLD (CGI/LST3742/N°5)	0.0917	0.0528	1.0000	0.2207	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
PLYΔD4 (LST3885-N°1)	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	0.0719	0.3518	0.0889	0.0968		
PLD (LST3885-N°2)	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	0.8527	0.1729	0.1996		

n.d.... serum was not used in this experiment

A-8 DATA READ-OUTS OF THE IL-6 ELISA

The following tables (Supplementary Table 14 and Supplementary Table 15) represent the results of the IL-6 ELISA carried out in triplicates for determining differences in the cytokine response of naïve mice (pre) compared to mock-immunized mice and mice immunized with different hyperimmune-sera (d1). The quantification was facilitated by a standard-calibration using mouse IL-6 in different concentrations (data not shown).

	Туре	Average	Concentration	Standard
Immunization	of	Absorbance	of IL-6	Deviation
	Serum	[λ=450 nm]	[pg/ml]	[pg/ml]
PBC	pre	0.000	-86.12	-69.61
105	d1	2.058	11265.22	188.77
PspA_FL_T4;	pre	0.000	-84.28	-71.87
CGI/LST7342-N°9	d1	0.000	-86.12	-72.29
m Ab 1E11	pre	-0.002	-95.31	-73.42
mAD IFII	d1	0.565	3028.92	-16.65
PLY;	pre	0.001	-82.44	-70.88
CGI/LST7342-N°1	d1	1.422	7760.33	40.77
PLY;	pre	0.002	-71.41	-70.88
CGI/LST7342-N°1	d1	1.036	5629.08	14.57
PLY;	pre	0.001	-78.76	-70.88
CGI/LST7342-N°3	d1	1.070	5816.65	5.50
PLY;	pre	-0.001	-91.64	-67.89
CGI/LST7342-N°4	d1	1.948	10660.23	-55.69
PLD;	pre	-0.001	-89.80	-73.42
CGI/LST7342-N°5	d1	0.823	4455.89	-46.14

Supplementary Table 14: Results for the IL-6 ELISA

Supplementary Table 15: Results for the IL-6 ELISA and Correlation to Subsequent Challenge Survival. The computed fold-changes including the statistical comparisons carried out for the groups are illustrated.

			t-Test		t-Test	
	Level of	Fold-	p-Value	Fold-	p-Value	Challenge
Immunization with	IL-6	Increase	for Fold-	Decrease	for Fold-	Survival
minitunization with	(24 h	vs. Pre-	Increase	vs. PBS-	Decrease	(Day 15)
	[pg/ml]	Serum	vs. Pre-	Group	vs. PBS-	[%]
			Serum		Group	
PBS	11265.22	130.8	3.7E-04			0
PspA_FL_T4; CGI/LST3742-N°9	-86.1191	1.0	2.1E-01	130.8	3.9E-04	100
mAb 1F11 (SantaCruz)	3028.924	31.8	2.5E-04	3.7	8.7E-04	40
PLY; CGI/LST3742-N°1	7760.332	94.1	1.5E-04	1.5	2.8E-03	40
PLY; CGI/LST3742-N°2	5629.084	78.8	1.7E-04	2.0	2.7E-03	0
PLY, CGI/LST3742-N°3	5816.648	73.9	1.3E-04	1.9	2.5E-03	20
PLY; CGI/LST3742-N°4	10660.23	116.3	3.3E-06	1.1	1.1E-01	20
PLD; CGI/LST3742-N°5	4455.886	49.6	2.7E-05	2.5	1.2E-03	40

SUPPLEMENTAL

Abstract

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a common human pathogen that causes a variety of lifethreatening invasive diseases such as pneumonia, bacteremia and meningitis. Despite the availability of licensed vaccines and antibiotic treatments, morbidity and mortality attributed to this bacterium remain significant in developing and developed countries. Due to increasing antibiotic resistance and limited efficacy of existing vaccines in at-risk populations, there is a need for new treatment strategies such as passive immunotherapy using human monoclonal antibiodies (mAbs).

In this study, three conserved antigens of *S. pneumoniae* – lipoteichoic acid (LTA), pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) and pneumolysin (PLY) – were characterized for their suitability as targets for a mAb-based anti-infective therapy.

Although isolation and purification procedures could be optimized for LTA from *Streptococcus pyogenes*, native LTA could not be extracted from *S. pneumoniae* in sufficient quantity and quality, thus limiting more in-depth studies of this antigen.

Recombinant full-length PspA and PLY as well as domains thereof were expressed, purified and subsequently proven to be highly immunogenic in naïve C3H/HeN mice. These antisera were characterized in-depth *in vitro*: in surface staining and in ELISA, antibodies were shown to recognize PspA in a clade-specific manner. Polyclonal antibodies against Family 1 PspA also reacted with other Proline-rich cell-surface proteins – presumably PspC – but not with Family 2 PspA.

Consequently these antisera were tested *in vivo* by passive transfer and subsequent lethal challenge with different *S. pneumoniae* strains in mice. The results correlated with surface staining data: anti-PspA hyperimmune sera were only effective against pneumococci expressing homologous PspA but not against those with a heterologous variant. Anti-PLY sera were not fully protective although conferring prolonged survival. Interestingly the observed protection correlated with the level of inflammatory IL-6, induced in mice.

Two *in vitro* assays exploiting the function of PLY were set up to allow a detailed characterization of selected antibodies: a *Hemolysis-Inhibition Assay* and an *hTLR4-Reporter Assay*. PLY-specific murine polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies reduced the hemolytic activity of PLY on erythrocytes and interfered with the activation of TLR4 through PLY.

Since human mAbs against PLY will be generated from B-cells based on the *"Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display"* technology, healthy human donors were identified based on their antibody titers in ELISA. In addition PMBC staining conditions that are required for the selection of antigen-specific memory B cells were optimized.

In conclusion, a deeper insight into the mode of action of PspA- and PLY-specific antibodies could be gained with this work and analytical methods that are required for the selection and validation of human mAbs were developed. This way a basis for the development of a mAb-based therapy for the prevention and treatment of life-threatening pneumococcal diseases was established.

Keywords: Streptococcus pneumoniae, monoclonal antibodies, LTA, PLY, PspA

Kurzfassung

Streptococcus pneumoniae ist ein weitverbreiteter Erreger verschiedenster lebensbedrohlicher Krankheiten wie Pneumonien, Bakteriämien oder Meningitis. Obgleich lizensierte Impfstoffe und Antibiotika zur Verfügung stehen, bleibt die Morbidität und Mortalität, nicht nur in Entwicklungsländern, sondern auch in Industrieländern auf einem hohen Niveau. Aufgrund zunehmender Antibiotikaresistenzen und der suboptimalen Wirksamkeit verfügbarer Impfstoffe in Risikogruppen, steigt der Bedarf für neue Therapien, wie beispielsweise einer passiven Immunisierung mit monoklonalen Antikörpern.

In dieser Arbeit wurden drei konservierte Antigene von *S. pneumoniae* – Lipoteichonsäure (LTA), pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) und Pneumolysin (PLY) – auf ihre Eignung als Zielmoleküle für die Entwicklung einer anti-infektiösen Antikörper-Therapie hin untersucht.

Obwohl die Isolierung und Reinigung nativer LTA für den Erreger *Streptococcus pyogenes* erfolgreich optimiert wurde, konnte LTA nicht in ausreichender Menge und Reinheit aus *S. pneumoniae* gewonnen und somit keine weiterführenden Studien mit diesem Antigen durchgeführt werden.

Verschiedenste Konstrukte von PspA und PLY wurden rekombinant exprimiert, gereinigt und nachfolgend deren immunogene Wirkung in naïven C3H/HeN Mäusen demonstriert. Die gewonnenen Antiseren wurden in Folge genauestens *in vitro* analysiert. Oberflächenfärbungen lebender Pneumokokken zeigten, dass PspA spezifische Antikörper nicht alle PspA-Varianten detektieren konnten, sondern nur solche des selben PspA-Typs. Polyklonale Antikörper gegen Typ 1 PspA reagierten auch mit anderen Prolin-reichen Oberflächenproteinen, vermutlich PspC, jedoch nicht mit PspA Typ 2.

Des weiteren wurden die generierten Antiseren in zuvor etablierten Mausmodellen durch passiven Transfer und nachfolgeneder letaler Infektion mit verschiedenen *S. pneumoniae* Stämmen auf ihre Wirksamkeit getestet. Die Ergebnisse korrelierten mit den Daten der Oberflächenfärbung: Anti-PspA Hyperimmunseren induzierten eine Protektion gegen Pneumokokken mit homologen jedoch nicht heterologen PspA. Anti-PLY Seren hingegen konnten keine vollständig protektive Wirkung erzielen, bewirkten jedoch eine erhöhte Überlebensrate. Die beobachtete Protektion korrelierte mit der Stärke der durch die Infektion induzierte inflammatorischen IL-6 Reaktion in den Tieren.

- C -

KURZFASSUNG

Im Hinblick auf die Wirkungsweise von PLY wurden zwei *in vitro* Analysen zur Antikörper-Charakterisierung entwickelt: ein Hämolyse-Inhibitions Assay und ein hTLR4-Reporter Assay. Pneumolysin spezifische murine poly- und monoklonale Antikörper bewirkten eine Reduktion der hämolytischen Aktivität von PLY auf Erythrozyten und interferierten auch mit der Aktivierung von TLR4 durch PLY.

Humane monoklonale Antikörper sollen in weiterer Folge aus humanen B-Zellen basierend auf der *"Sindbis Virus Based Mammalian Cell Surface Display"* Technologie generiert werden. Zu diesem Zweck wurden gesunde Spender aufgrund ihres Antigen-spezifischen Titers im ELISA identifiziert. Zudem wurden die für die B-Zell-Selektion notwendigen PBMC-Färbetechniken optimiert.

Zusammenfassend demonstriert diese Arbeit einen vertiefenden Einblick in die Wirkungsweise von PspA und PLY-spezifischen Antikörpern sowie die Entwicklung von für die Selektion und Validierung humaner monoklonaler Antikörper notwendigen Analyseverfahren. Somit konnte die Grundlage für eine Antikörper-basierende Therapie zur Prävention und Behandlung von lebensbedrohlichen Pneumokokkeninfektionen geschaffen werden.

Schlagwörter: Steptococcus pneumoniae, monoklonale Antikörper, LTA, PLY, PspA

Curriculum Vitae

Personal Information					
Name:	Lukas Stulik				
Place and Date of Birth:	3100 St. Pölten Austria, 5 th of February 1988				
Address:	Sandleitengasse 17/1/5, 1160 Vienna, Austria				
E-Mail:	lukas.stulik@gmail.com				
Nationality:	Austria				

Education	
since Oct-2008	Master Studies at the University of Vienna in "Biological Chemistry"
Sep-2007 to Jun-2008	Bachelor Studies at the Dublin Institute of Technology in <i>"Physical and Life Sciences, Chemical Sciences"</i> ; Graduation with Distinction
Sep-2002 to Jun-2007	College of Chemistry, Specializing in <i>"Biochemistry, Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering"</i> ; Reifeprüfung-Certificate and VET-Diploma awarded with Distinction
Sep-1998 to Jun-2002	Bundesgymnasium und Bundesrealgymnasium St. Pölten, Department of Life Sciences (Secondary School)
Sep-1994 to Jun-1998	Franz Jonas Volksschule St. Pölten (Elementary School)

Working Experience		
01-Apr-2010 to 31-Mar-2011:	Master Thesis at Intercell AG <i>"Development of human monoclonal antibodies against conserved antigens from Streptococcus pneumoniae"</i> Supervision: O. UnivProf. Dr. Alexander von Gabain and DI Dr. Carmen Giefing-Kröll	
01-Mar-2010 to 26-Mar-2010:	 University of Vienna <i>"The Cloning for Studying the Translocation of Glut4 in mdx Mouse Myoblasts, Protein Expression Profiling of Ubiquitin, Glut4, PKC-δ and pPKC-δ and Histopathologic Evaluation of Fiber Types in Dystrophic Mice"</i> Supervision: O. UnivProf. Dr. Gerhard Wiche and Mag. Marianne Raith 	

CURRICULUM VITAE

07-Dec-2009 to 21-Dec-2009	Medical University of Vienna, Clinical Institute of Medical and
	Chemical Laboratory Diagnostics (CIMCL)
	"A Shotgun-MS-Approach for the Analysis of Coronary and Peripheral
	Human Plasma Samples of Very Late Stent Induced Thrombosis"
	Supervision: Mag. Dr. Markus Kubicek
01 1.1 2000 (-	Intercell AG, Department for Serology and Immune Assays
	"Functional Activity of Antibodies against Streptococcus pneumoniae
01-Ju1-2009 to	Antigens – Influence of Capsule Thickness on the Efficiency of Opsonization
31-Aug-2009	and Phagocytic Killing"
	Supervision: Dr. Sanja Selak
	Bachelor Thesis at the Dublin Institute of Technology and FOCAS-
21 May 2009 to	Institute
31-Mar-2008 to	"Evaluation of Small Molecule Interactions with DNA using
02-May-2008	Spectrophotometric Techniques"
	Supervision: Dr. Sarah L. Rawe
	Medical University of Vienna, Clinical Institute of Medical and
	Chemical Laboratory Diagnostics (CIMCL)
03-Jul-2006 to	"The Identification of Complement-Regulated Proteins via Biochemical
18-May-2007	Identification-Methods like 2D Gel-Electrophoresis and Metabolic Labelling"
-	Supervision: Mag. Dr. Markus Kubicek and
	DI Dr. Bibiana Meixner
	Donau Chemie AG
01-Aug-2005 to 31-Aug-2005	"Optimization of the Catalytic Capacity and Absorbtion-Efficiency of
	Activated Charcoal"
	Supervision: DI Dr. Rainer Wiesböck and
	Dipl-Chem. Dr. Krunoslav Vojinovic

Awards and Honors		
since 2010	Member of the Austrian "Students4Excellence"-Network	
2009	<i>"Leistungsstipendium"</i> -University of Vienna (Studienförderungsgesetz der Universität Wien, 05.10.2009-23.10.2009)	
2009	"Top-Stipendium" of the Government of Lower Austria	
2008	"Brian O'Keeffe Award" for Exceptional & Best Overall Performance in	
	BSc Physical and Life Sciences (Chemistry) 2008	
2008	"Henkel Ireland Ltd. Award" for Best Overall Performance in BSc	
	Physical and Life Sciences (Chemistry) 2008	
2008	"Sigma-Aldirch (Ireland) Award" for Exceptional & Best Project	
	Performance in Final Year of the BSc Physical and Life Sciences	
	(Chemistry) 2008	
2001	Participant at the "Summer-Academy for the Advancement of (Highly)	
	Skilled Students", granted by the Government of Lower Austria	